Portland State University PDXScholar

Dissertations and Theses

Dissertations and Theses

5-16-2024

Immigration Policy Evaluation for Technology Professionals Immigrants in the United States

Angel Contreras Cruz Portland State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/open_access_etds

Part of the American Studies Commons, Engineering Commons, and the Public Administration Commons

Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Contreras Cruz, Angel, "Immigration Policy Evaluation for Technology Professionals Immigrants in the United States" (2024). *Dissertations and Theses*. Paper 6627. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.3759

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of PDXScholar. Please contact us if we can make this document more accessible: pdxscholar@pdx.edu.

Immigration Policy Evaluation for Technology Professionals Immigrants in the United

States

by

Angel Contreras Cruz

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Technology Management

Dissertation Committee: Tugrul U. Daim, Chair Birol Yesilada Dilek Cetindamar Kozanoglu Edwin Garces

Portland State University 2024

•

© 2024 Angel Contreras Cruz

ABSTRACT

The U.S. Immigration System is complex for technology professionals seeking to relocate to the United States for employment or education. The United States relies on its employment-based immigration to attract and select the best talent to fill the shortage of skilled jobs. Technology professionals, a stream of highly skilled immigrants, tend to contribute and be more beneficial to the U.S. economy, which is one of the principles of U.S. immigration policies. Although U.S. immigration policies are constantly updating, policymakers, experts, and scholars suggest that the United States needs significant immigration reform to solve current issues, such as improving technological capabilities to process applications, backlog, paths for permanent residence, numerical limits per visa category, and others.

Therefore, this research aims to develop a Hierarchical Decision Model (HDM) to evaluate U.S. immigration policies for technology professionals. Moreover, this research can guide policymakers to fix current U.S. immigration issues. The research process of this dissertation is organized as follows: (1) a systematic literature review was conducted to identify gaps, research questions, objectives, and an initial four-level HDM. The second level of the model includes five criteria: Technological, Regulatory Landscape, Economic, Political Interpretation & Proposals, and Social. The third level includes twenty-one subcriteria, and the fourth level includes five alternatives: Permanent Residence and visas H-1B, O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L-1. (2) 60 experts working in some vein in U.S. immigration policies participated in this study to validate the HDM criteria, sub-criteria, and alternatives and quantify the HDM criteria, sub-criteria, and alternatives using a pairwise comparison technique to provide their judgment. The last sections of this dissertation include (1) a sensitivity analysis to demonstrate the HDM's flexibility and (2) policy guide recommendations for decision-makers based on the HDM results.

DEDICATION

"A book, like a journey, begins with joy and ends with melancholy."

- Jose Vasconcelos

In the loving memory of my dad, Miguel Contreras Flores, thank you for always loving me and guiding me.

To my always-remembered friend Roland Richard, thank you for all the cherished memories.

This research is dedicated to my beloved wife, Karen, and daughters, Vania and Genesis, for their unconditional love and countless hours of support during this journey. I could not have done this without you beautiful ladies.

This research is also dedicated to my family in Mexico, my mom, Teresa Cruz Nuñez, and my siblings, Laura, Norma, Miguel, and Luis, to my family in Portland, Mario, Mariana, Berenice, and nieces and nephews, and to my friends and peers in Mexico and the United States.

Lastly, it is dedicated to all international students in the United States and skilled immigrants in the world.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research is the result of teamwork collaboration. Several talented people supported me before and during my doctoral studies. I could not have succeeded without your support. I cannot express more than thanks and gratitude towards all of you.

I am grateful to my wife, Karen Galicia Arroyo, and daughters, Vania Galicia and Genesis Galicia, for their love and support that endured several hours of family time, missed vacations, and many activities so I could find the time to finish my dissertation. I love you with all my heart and soul. I did it!

I thank my dissertation committee for their support, encouragement, and ideas to conduct this study. First, I want to highlight my academic advisor and mentor, Dr. Tugrul Daim. Without your continuous guidance, help, and support, I could not have done it. The level of commitment that you demonstrate to me is remarkable. You do not only support me academically but also professionally. I could obtain scholarships, financial assistance, and employment because of you. You will always have my tremendous respect and admiration.

Second, I want to thank Dr. Dilek Cetindamar for allowing me to collaborate on one of your research projects that later became my dissertation topic. Your help and support were always outstanding. Third, I want to express my gratitude to Dr. Birol Yesilada. Your knowledge and expertise brought new light and guidance to my research. Lastly, I want to express my most sincere appreciation for my dear fiend Dr. Edwin Garces. Your knowledge and experience helped me throughout the whole dissertation journey.

I want to thank all the organizations and people who allowed me to collaborate with them through my Ph.D. journey. I would start with the Oregon Apply Sustainability Experience Program - Jenny Engels, Lisa Cox, and Sarah Kolesar. I had a life-changing professional experience with the OASE program. Second, Oregon Soap Company – Patrick Gogola and Gregg Arnell. Third, Tofurky – Chris Dennett. Thanks for your guidance and for teaching me human-centered design. Four, PICMET – Dr. Dundar Kocaoglu and Dr. Tim Anderson. Thanks for trusting in me to help with the 2022 and 2023 conferences. Fourth, Pollution Prevention Resource Center and all environmental colleagues – Ed Gonzales, Michelle Gaither, Ara Vickers, Brittney Wendell, Diana Restrepo, and Gregg Hayward. Lastly, U.S. EPA Safer Choice program, Clive Davis, Mariana Felix-Kim, Taylor Dunivin, Aerin Kirk, Melissa Hopkinson, and Nicole Scharko. Safer Choice is a big part of my academic career. A special recognition goes to my panel of experts, a group of talented people who shared their experience and knowledge and helped me validate and quantify this study. Thank you all for making this possible.

As an ETM student and Teaching Assistant, I met incredible people. Thanks for all the good memories, and luck with your upcoming projects. You have a friend here. I want to thank the ETM Chair, Dr. Timothy Anderson, and all ETM faculty, mainly with those I collaborated as a teaching assistance, staff, classmates, and friends (Dr. Sultan Alghamdi, Tan Le, Dahm Hongchai, Caroline Mudavadi, John Matthew Breault Plummer). I enjoyed my time as a student because I acquired new knowledge, which will be helpful in my career. To my family and friends in Mexico, thanks for your continued support.

I thank Dr. Rafael Reyes Morales and Dr. Jack Corbett, who initially trusted me to pursue higher education in the United States. I thank Dr. Güemes-Castorena and Dr. Armando Elizondo Noriega from Tec de Monterrey, and Dr. Eduardo Ahumada-Tello and Dr. Reyna Virginia Quintero from UABC for their invitations to speak with your students. I also thank all my ESL teachers and friends, Douglas Wickum and Mauro Vazquez, for their continuous support. A special recognition to (1) all the amazing coauthors with whom I published several journal and conference papers and (2) the talented professional friends who proofread my dissertation (Brittney W., Arturo C., Jenny E., Michelle G., Ara V., Kelly C., Mehdi Z., Soundarya B., John, P., and Gregg H.).

Lastly, I express my gratitude to all the organizations that provided financial support that helped me to focus on my education. First, the Mexican National Council for Humanities, Science, and Technology (CONAHCYT) for being a scholarship recipient from 2021- 2024. Second, Portland State University for selecting me as a recipient of the Maseeh College of Engineering & Computer Science Scholarship 2020-2021, International Cultural Service Program Scholarship at Portland State University 2021-2022 and 2022 - 2023, Dundar F. Kocaoglu Endowed ETM Fellowship 2021-2022 and 2023-2024, and International Student Retention Scholarship 2023 – 2024. Third, Oregon Apply Sustainability Experience for selecting me for the OASE Fellowship 2021. Lastly, the Hispanic Metro Chamber of Commerce for selecting me for their scholarship cohort 2023 – 2024.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	xiv
LIST OF FIGURES	xviii
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Research Scope	3
Permanent Residence Card for Employment	5
H-1B Visa	6
O-1 Individuals with Extraordinary Ability or Achievement Visa	9
L1- Intracompany Transferee Visa	10
F-1 STEM Optional Practical Training Visa	11
1.2. Research Motivation	12
1.3 Problem Statement	13
1.4 Overview of the Structure of the Dissertation	17
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	20
2.1 International Migration	20
2.2 Brain Drain	21
2.3 Benefits of Technology Professional Immigration in Host Countries	23
2.4 High-Skilled Immigration Policies Around the World	24
Point-Based Immigration Policies Around the World	25

2.5 High-Skilled Immigrants and Technological Innovation	29
2.6 Multi-Criteria Decision-Making Methodologies	29
Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution	30
Preference Ranking Organization Method for Enrichment Evaluation	31
Analytic Hierarchy Process	32
Analytic Network Process	33
Elimination and Choice Expressing Reality	34
Multi-Attribute Utility Theory	35
2.7 Gap Analysis	38
CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH OBJECTIVES, QUESTIONS, AND	48
METHODOLOGY	
3.1 Research Objectives	48
3.2 Research Questions	49
Research Gaps	50
3.3 Research Methodology	52
3.3.1 Hierarchical Decision Modeling (HDM)	52
Disagreement Test	55
Inconsistency Test	56
Data Collection	57
Expert Identification and Panel Selection	58
CHAPTER 4. DEVELOPMENT OF THE RESEARCH MODEL	67
4.1 Expert Panel Formation	67

4.2 Conceptual Hierarchical Decision Model	71
4.2.1 Mission Level	72
4.2.2 Criteria Level	74
4.2.3. Sub-Criteria Level	75
4.2.4. Alternative Level	78
4.3 Data Collection	79
CHAPTER 5. RESULTS OF MODEL VALIDATION	81
5.1 Criteria Validation	81
5.1.1 Criteria Level	81
5. 2 Sub-criteria Validation	82
5.2.1 Technological Sub-Criteria	82
5.2.2 Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria	83
5.2.3 Economic Sub-Criteria	84
5.2.4 Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria	85
5.2.5 Social Sub-Criteria	86
CHAPTER 6: RESULTS OF MODEL QUANTIFICATION	90
6.1 Criteria Level Quantification	90
6.2 Sub-Criteria Quantification	92
6.2.1 Technological Sub-criteria	93
6.2.2 Regulatory Landscape Sub-criteria	97
6.2.3 Economic Sub-criteria	98

-

6.2.4 Political Interpretation & Proposals - Sub-criteria
6.2.5 Social - Sub-criteria
6.3 Alternatives Quantification
6.3.1 Results of Alternatives with Improving Technological Capabilities Sub-
Criteria
6.3.2 Results of Alternatives with Digital Transformation of Application
Processes Sub-Criteria
6.3.3 Results of Alternatives with Increase National Security Features for Applicants Sub-Criteria
6.3.4 Results of Alternatives with Labor Conditions Sub-Criteria
6.3.5 Results of Alternatives with Fluctuation of Caps/Limits Sub-Criteria
6.3.6 Results of Alternatives with Adapt Industry Necessities Sub-Criteria
6.3.7 Results of Alternatives with Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status
Sub-Criteria
6.3.8 Results of Alternatives with Raising and Balance Immigration Levels
Sub-Criteria
6.3.9 Results of Alternatives with Fee Applications Sub-Criteria
6.3.10 Results of Alternatives with Competitive Wages Sub-Criteria
6.3.11 Results of Alternatives with Value of Contributions Sub-Criteria
6.3.12 Results of Alternatives with Actively Engagement Sub-Criteria
6.3.13 Results of Alternatives with Adjust Immigration Targets Based on
Economic Demands Sub-Criteria
6.3.14 Results of Alternatives with Making Immigration Selectivity More
Egalitarian Sub-Criteria
6.3.15 Results of Alternatives with Upgrade Type of Selection System Sub-
Criteria

6.3.16 Results of Alternatives with Backlog Reduction Sub-Criteria
6.3.17 Results of Alternatives with Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas Sub-
Criteria
6.3.18 Results of Alternatives with High-Quality Education Sub-Criteria
6.3.19 Results of Alternatives with High-Quality Training Sub-Criteria
6.3.20 Results of Alternatives with Increase Immigration Acceptance Sub-
Criteria
6.3.21 Results of Alternatives with Increase Immigration Welcoming,
Diversity, and Inclusion Sub-Criteria
6.4 Final Model Weights
6.4.1. Synthesis of Priorities
CHAPTER 7: ANALYSIS CASE DEVELOPMENT
7.1 Scenario Analysis
7.2 Post Hoc Model Results Evaluation
CHAPTER 8: RESEARCH CONCLUSIONS
8.1 Conclusions, Contributions, and Implications
Technological Criterion Updates
Regulatory Landscape Criterion Updates
Economic Criterion Updates
Political Interpretation and Proposals Criterion Criterion Updates
Social Criterion Criterion Updates
Alternatives Updates
Contributions from an Academic Perspective
Contributions from a Practical Perspective

8.2 Limitations of the Research	
8.3 Future Work	
REFERENCES	
Appendix A. Invitation to Participate as an Expert in Doctoral Dissertation	
Appendix B. Invitation Letter to Validate the Model Criteria	
Appendix C. Invitation Letter to Validate the Model Sub-Criteria	
Appendix D. Invitation Letter to Quantify the Model's Criteria	
Appendix E. Invitation Letter to Quantify the Model's Sub-Criteria	
Appendix F. Model Validation and Quantification Assessment Tools	
Appendix F1: Validation Tool for Criteria and Sub-Criteria Level	
Appendix F2: Quantification Tool for Criteria Level	
Appendix F3: Quantification Tool for Technological Sub-Criteria	
Appendix F4: Quantification Tool for Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria	
Appendix F5: Quantification Tool for Economic Sub-Criteria	
Appendix F6: Quantification Tool for Political Interpretation & Proposals	
Sub-Criteria	
Appendix F7: Quantification Tool for Social Sub-Criteria	
Appendix F8: Quantification Tool for Assessing Alternatives	
Appendix G: Model Validation Results	
Appendix G1: Validation of Criteria Level	
Appendix G2: Validation of Technological Sub-Criteria	
Appendix G3: Validation of Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria	
Appendix G4: Validation of Economic Sub-Criteria	

Appendix G5: Validation of Political Interpretation & Proposals Sub-	243
Criteria	
Appendix G6: Validation of Social Sub-Criteria	245
Appendix H: Pairwise Comparison Results	247
Appendix H1: Criteria Level Pairwise Comparisons	247
Appendix H2: Technological Sub-Criteria Pairwise Comparisons	248
Appendix H3: Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria Pairwise Comparisons -	249
Appendix H4: Economic Sub-Criteria Pairwise Comparisons	250
Appendix H5: Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria Pairwise	251
Comparisons	
Appendix H6: Social Sub-Criteria Pairwise Comparisons	252
Appendix I. Process to Create the Hierarchical Decision Model	253

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Permanent Residence Categories	5
Table 2. Comparison of Policy Visa / Cards for Technology Professional	27
Immigrants	
Table 3. Summary of Point-Based Immigration Policies in Developed Countries	28
Table 4. Strengths and Weaknesses of Multi-Criteria Decision Approaches	37
Table 5. Literature Review Gaps and Future Work	39
Table 6. Research Gaps from the Literature Review	49
Table 7. Keyword Search in Scopus	61
Table 8. Expert Identification Panel	62
Table 9. Organizations from Panel Identification	64
Table 10. Additional Organizations Panel Identification	65
Table 11. Summary of Expert Panels	69
Table 12. Expert Panels	69
Table 13. Sub-Criteria Description	76
Table 14. Alternative Description	79
Table 15. Activities and Time Commitment for Validation and Quantification	79
for the HDM Model	
Table 16. Criteria Validation – Experts' Responses	81
Table 17. Technological Sub- Criteria Validation – Experts' Responses	83
Table 18. Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria Validation – Experts' Responses	83
Table 19. Economic Sub-Criteria Validation – Experts' Responses	84
Table 20. Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria Validation –	85
Experts' Responses	
Table 21. Social Sub-Criteria Validation – Experts' Responses	86
Table 22. Criteria Level Quantification	91
Table 23. Technological Sub-Criteria Level Quantification	93
Table 24. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P3	95
Table 25. Analysis of Cluster "B" results from Panel P3	96
Table 26. Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria Level Quantification	97

Table 27. Economic Sub-Criteria Level Quantification	98
Table 28. Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria Level	100
Quantification	
Table 29. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P5	103
Table 30. Analysis of Cluster "B" results from Panel P5	103
Table 31. Analysis of Sub-Cluster "B.1 and B.2" results from Panel P5	104
Table 32. Social Sub-Criteria Level Quantification	105
Table 33. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Improving	106
Technological Capabilities Sub-criterion	
Table 34. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Digital	108
Transformation of Application Processes Sub-criterion	
Table 35. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Increase National	110
Security Features for Applicants Sub-criterion	
Table 36. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Labor Conditions	111
Sub-criterion	
Table 37. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Fluctuation of	113
Caps/Limits Sub-criterion	
Table 38. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Adapt Industry	114
Necessities Sub-criterion	
Table 39. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Ease Lawful	116
Permanent Residence Status Sub-criterion	
Table 40. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Raising and	118
Balance Immigration Levels Sub-criterion	
Table 41. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Fee Applications	119
Sub-criterion	
Table 42. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Competitive Wages	121
Sub-criterion	
Table 43. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Value of	122
Contributions Sub-criterion	

Table 44. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Actively
Engagement Sub-criterion
Table 45. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Adjust Immigration
Targets Based on Economic Demands Sub-criterion
Table 46. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Making
Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian Sub-criterion
Table 47. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Upgrade Type of
Selection System Sub-criterion
Table 48. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Backlog Reduction
Sub-criterion
Table 49. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P5
Table 50. Analysis of Cluster "B" results from Panel P5
Table 51. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Redistribution of
LPR Cards / Visas Sub-criterion
Table 52. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P5
Table 53. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P5
Table 54. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the High-Quality
Education Sub-criterion
Table 55. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the High-Quality
Training Sub-criterion
Table 56. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P6
Table 57. Analysis of Cluster "B" results from Panel P6
Table 58. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Increase
Immigration Acceptance Sub-criterion
Table 59. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P6
Table 60. Analysis of Cluster "B" results from Panel P6
Table 61. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Increase
Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion Sub-criterion
Table 62. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the HDM Mission
Table 63. Synthesis of Priorities

Table 64. Criteria Value Changes with Cluster Analysis	153
Table 65. Classification of Policy Tools	156
Table 66. Overall Importance of Alternatives with Respect to the Mission	158
Table 67. Description of Scenarios	161
Table 68. Sensitivity Analysis with Technological dominant Criterion	162
Table 69. Sensitivity Analysis with Regulatory Landscape dominant Criterion	162
Table 70. Sensitivity Analysis with Economic dominant Criterion	163
Table 71. Sensitivity Analysis with Political Interpretation & Proposals	164
dominant Criterion	
Table 72. Sensitivity Analysis with Social dominant Criterion	165
Table 73. Summary of Case Sensitive Analysis	165
Table 74. Summary of Case Sensitive Analysis – Weights	166
Table 75. Summary of Case Sensitive Analysis – Change of Ranks	167
Table 76. Post Hoc Model Validation	168

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Number of H1-B Applications 2021
Figure 2. Top 10 H-1B Sponsors and Average Salary 2021
Figure 3. Top 10 Industry Applications for H1-B Visas 2021
Figure 4. Overview of Immigration Policies in the United States 1920 - 2020
Figure 5. Research Process Inputs and Outputs
Figure 6. Graphical representation of TOPSIS
Figure 7. PROMETHEE Group Model
Figure 8. AHP Hierarchy Sample Model
Figure 9. ANP Sample Model
Figure 10. ELECTRE Sample Model
Figure 11. MAUT Model Sample
Figure 12. Research Process Flowchart
Figure 13. HDM Conceptual Framework
Figure 14. Social Network Map by Authors
Figure 15. Initial Hierarchical Decision Model
Figure 16. Criteria Validation Results
Figure 17. Technological Sub-Criteria Validation Results
Figure 18. Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria Validation Results
Figure 19. Economic Sub-Criteria Validation Results
Figure 20. Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria Validation Results
Figure 21. Social Sub-Criteria Validation Results
Figure 22. Final Hierarchical Decision Model
Figure 23. Relative Importance of Criteria
Figure 24. Relative Importance of Technological Sub-criteria
Figure 25 Tashnalagiaal Sub aritaria Clusters Deputs

Figure 25. Technological Sub-criteria Clusters – Results	95
Figure 26. Relative Importance of Regulatory Landscape Sub-criteria	98
Figure 27. Relative Importance of Economic Sub-criteria	99

Figure 28. Relative Importance of Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-
criteria
Figure 29. Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-criteria Clusters – Results -
Figure 30. Relative Importance of Social Sub-criteria
Figure 31. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Improving
Technological Capabilities Sub-criterion
Figure 32. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Digital
Transformation of Application Processes Sub-criterion
Figure 33. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Increase National
Security Features for Applicants Sub-criterion
Figure 34. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Labor Conditions
Sub-criterion
Figure 35. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Fluctuation of
Caps/Limits Sub-criterion
Figure 36. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Adapt Industry
Necessities Sub-criterion
Figure 37. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Ease Lawful
Permanent Residence Status Sub-criterion
Figure 38. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Raising and Balance
Immigration Levels
Figure 39. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Fee Applications Sub-
criterion
Figure 40. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Competitive Wages
Sub-criterion
Figure 41. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Value of
Contributions Sub-criterion
Figure 42. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Actively Engagement
Sub-criterion
Figure 43. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Adjust
Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demands Sub-criterion

Figure 44. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Making	128
Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian Sub-criterion	
Figure 45. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Upgrade Type of	129
Selection System Sub-criterion	
Figure 46. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Backlog Reduction	131
Sub-criterion	
Figure 47. Backlog Reduction Sub-criteria Clusters – Results	132
Figure 48. Relative Importance of Alternatives to Respect Redistribution of LPR	134
Cards / Visas Sub-criterion	
Figure 49. Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas Sub-criteria Clusters – Results	135
Figure 50. Relative Importance of Alternatives to Respect High-Quality	138
Education Sub-criterion	
Figure 51. Relative Importance of Alternatives to Respect High-Quality Training	139
Sub-criterion	
Figure 52. High-Quality Training Sub-criteria Clusters – Results	140
Figure 53. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Increase	143
Immigration Acceptance Sub-criterion	
Figure 54. Increase Immigration Acceptance Sub-criteria Clusters – Results	144
Figure 55. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Increase	146
Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion Sub-criterion	
Figure 56. Level 2 - Criteria Cluster – Results	152
Figure 57. HDM Weighted Model	155
Figure 58. Priority of Alternatives Respect to the HDM Sub-Criteria	159
Figure 59. Summary of Case sensitive Analysis – Weights	166
Figure 60. Case Sensitive Analysis – Change of Ranks	167

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

The first chapter of the dissertation provides the groundwork for this study. The research scope is defined, and the study's relevance is explained, along with why immigration policies should be evaluated during the research phase. This research focuses on technology professionals who are part of the broader stream of immigration, also called highly skilled immigration, in the United States. This study aims to evaluate the current issues of immigration policies that allow technology professional immigrants to study, work, or relocate in the United States. Since the contributions of technology-skilled immigrants help increase competitiveness and innovation in host countries, this topic has receipt greater attention from scholars.

International migration of technology professionals is a well-known phenomenon that has been studied from different perspectives, such as economics, political science social sciences, and innovation (Borjas, 1989; Cipolla, 1972; Hilaire-Pérez, 2008). There is no question that immigration is a topic that divides people's opinions. However, highly skilled immigrants tend to be more accepted by local residents than low-skilled immigrants mainly because of the positive outcomes they bring to the economy of host countries, such as reducing labor shortages and their economic and non-economic contributions (Hainmueller and Hiscox, 2010; OECD Secretariat, 2023). In a highly competitive labor market, technology professional immigrants often encounter numerous challenges shaped by immigration policies, labor market competition, lack of support of organizations, lack of professional networks, employment equity issues relative to the native population, and anti- immigrant concerns (Borjas, 2011; Syed, 2008; Weinar and Klekowski von Koppenfels, 2020a).

International immigration is a geographic relocation process that involves several, challenges for all immigrants, including technological professional, such as language barriers, recertification procedures, probability of success, and cultural adaptation (Hall et al., 2011; Weinar and Klekowski von Koppenfels, 2020b). Scholars suggest countries have fierce global competition for highly skilled talent. Thus, the main drivers of this phenomenon are (1) the increasing number of people willing to relocate (Constant, 2014), (2) the increasing education levels in developing countries (Connor and Ruiz, 2019; Ferrucci, 2020), and (3) the attractiveness of host countries (Stiftung, 2019).

Because of the rapid development of novel technologies, the required skills for technology professional immigrants are changing faster than ever (Stiftung, 2019). New policies and programs are developed and implemented worldwide to receive the increasing number of technology-skilled migrants (Tani, 2014). All these factors have created a complex labor marker for immigrants who must learn to navigate barriers, such as geographical, technological, political, and economic issues (Glaeser, 2013; Gould and Moav, 2016; Xu et al., 2016; Xu. 2017). For the most part, scholars agree that technology professional immigrants can positively benefit host countries by increasing innovation (Bahar et al., 2020; Turner, 2022), scientific knowledge (Breschi et al., 2017).

1.1 Research Scope

Lowell (2003) describes the United States as the "*world's largest skills magnet*." Hence, every year, millions of people seek to immigrate to the United States through employment or higher education. According to a report conducted by the Pew Research Center (2019), there are about 45 million immigrants living in the United States, up to 15 % of the U.S. population, which gives it the title of the country with the largest immigrant population worldwide (Abby Budiman, 2020; Batalova and Levesque, 2021). A report conducted by World Population Review estimates a 50.6 million immigrant population in the United States ranking first among the top countries (World Population Review, 2024).

The United States started to generate its first official immigration data during the 1850s U.S. Census. From 1850 to 1930, the foreign population in the United States grew sustainably from 2.2 million to 14.2 million (Gibson and Lennon, 1999). However, in the following years, there was a decline in the foreign population until it reached levels close to 10 million (1950s). This trend continued until the 1970s when immigrants reached 9.6 million (Gibson and Lennon, 1999). After this period, the United States's foreign population rapidly grew, reaching more than 40 million people (2010). Historically, immigrants have accounted for 10 to 15 % of the share of the U.S. population (Batalova and Levesque, 2021).

The general trends in U.S. immigration have changed over the years. In the last century, immigration was predominantly from Europe, while now the largest immigrant groups are from Latin America and Asia (Mexico 24%, India and China 6%, Philippines 5%, El Salvador, Vietnam, Cuba, and the Dominican Republic 3%, Guatemala, and Korea

2%) (Batalova and Levesque, 2021; Cohn, 2015). Budiman (2020) suggests that more of the immigrant population live legally in the United States (77%), including groups of low-skilled, skilled, and high-skilled individuals, while the rest live without the proper legal documentation. The immigration of high-skilled individuals receives better levels of acceptance from residents than the immigration of low-skilled individuals (Connor and Ruiz, 2019). According to the Pew Research Center (2015), countries such as Sweden, the UK, Canada, Germany, Australia, and the United States have higher public support for highly skilled immigrants.

Even though the U.S. Immigration System constantly updates its policy regimes, individuals pursuing work or higher education can emigrate following the U.S. immigration laws. Those skilled individuals valuable to the U.S. economy can qualify for entry, employment, or education visas to seek permanent or temporary residence (American Immigration Council, 2021). According to the literature review, the most suitable legal options for highly skilled workers to enter the United States are (1) Permanent Residence cards for employment, (2) H-1B visas, (3) O-1 visas for Individuals with Extraordinary Ability or Achievement, and (4) F-1 student visas. Even though a significant percentage of undocumented immigrants hold at least a bachelor's degree (Asia 64%, South America 20%, Northern Triangle of Central America 5%, and Mexico 4%), this stream of immigrants is out of the scope of this research (Passel and D'Vera, 2019). Usually, undocumented immigrants with a bachelor's degree become permanent residents through Family Preference Immigrant petitions or marriage with a U.S. citizen.

Permanent Residence Card for Employment

The U.S. government grants about one million permanent resident cards, also known as green cards, every year for individuals seeking entry to the United States for family, humanitarian, or employment reasons (Gelatt, 2020). About 65 percent of those green cards are for family applications (immediate relatives of U.S. citizens or family-sponsored), and 13 percent of those applications are for humanitarian reasons (refugees and asylum seekers). Lastly, 14 percent of the remaining applications are for employment (USCIS, 2020). The application process opens in October for individuals seeking employment in the United States. One of the options that immigrants have to become U.S. lawful permanent residents is through employment (USCIS, 2021). Because of each individual's skills, only specific individuals can qualify to become permanent residents (see Table 1). Then, solicitors of permanent resident cards might be eligible to apply for the EB-1 category for individuals with extraordinary abilities, the EB-2 for individuals with advanced degrees, or the EB-3 for skilled individuals (USCIS, 2021).

Category	Description	Evidence	Numerical limit per fiscal year
EB-1	Foreign nationals with extraordinary abilities include outstanding professors, researchers, executives, and managers of multinational companies. No offer of employment or labor certification is required.	 Foreign nationals should provide evidence of a one-time achievement (i.e., Pulitzer, Oscar, Olympic Medal) or three of the ten listed criteria: Membership in associations in the field Publications Judge the work of others Scientific or business-related contributions Authorship of scholarly articles Role in recognized organizations High salary in the field or commercial success 	40,040
EB-2	Include those foreign nationals with advanced	Foreign nationals must include supporting evidence of two of the six listed criteria:	40,040

Table 1. Permanent Residence Categories

	degrees or who	- Official academic record showing the degree,	
	graduated in sciences,	diploma, or certificate	
	arts, or business degrees.	- Ten years of full-time experience	
		- Evidence of high salary	
		- Recognition for the achievements and	
		contributions in the industry or field of	
		application	
	Skilled workers are	Skilled workers should demonstrate the	
EB-3	foreign nationals capable	following:	
	of performing skilled	- Two years of job experience, education, or	40.040
	labor requiring at least	training in labor certification	40,040
	two years of experience.	- U.S. baccalaureate or foreign equivalent	
		degree	

Source: USCIS, 2020

H-1B Visa

High-skilled immigrants looking for an employment route to work in the United States can pursue the H-1 B visa program (H-1B for specialty occupations and H-1B2 for researcher and development project workers). This program offers temporary visas for specialty occupations. Sponsoring companies must provide documentation to H-1B candidates, such as job offer letters and foreign labor certifications (USCIS, 2022a). Once the candidates are granted a visa, the employees must remain with their sponsoring employer to continue working in the United States. Sometimes, the H-1B holder can be accompanied by family members. The H-1B visa gives admitted employees into the United States three years of residency, which can be extended up to six years. The numerical limit of these visas is 65,000 applications each fiscal year (Semotiuk, 2023; USCIS, 2022a). An additional 20,000 visas are available to holders of a master's degree or advanced degree from U.S. universities.

Figure 1 shows the number of 2021 H-1B visa applications in the United States (USCIS, 2022a). Some states, such as California (78,141), Texas (44,604), New York

(33,485), Washington (28,217), and Georgia (14,015), lead the number of H1-B visa applications. Figure 1 is consistent with the regional trends suggested by Moretti's book "The New Geography of Jobs," where high-skilled workers tend to concentrate in metropolitan areas hosting technological hubs (Glaeser, 2013).



Figure 1. Number of H1-B Applications 2021 Source: self-elaborated with data retrieved from USCIS, 2022a

Figure 2 shows the 2021 leading companies and the average salary of employees requesting H-1B visas for foreign individuals. These companies are Cognizant Technology Solutions, Amazon, Tata Consulting Services, Google, Infosys, Ernest and Young, Deloitte, Microsoft, IBM, and Accenture (My Visa Jobs, 2022).



Figure 2.Top 10 H-1B Sponsors and Average Salary 2021

Source: self-elaborated with data retrieved from USCIS, 2022a

In the United States, there is a significant shortage of workers in specific occupations, particularly in information technology, management, and education sectors. Figure 3 shows the need for specialty occupations in the following jobs: software engineer, software developer, senior systems analyst, manager, senior software engineer, assistant professor, senior software developer, architect, software development engineer, and analyst (My Visa Jobs, 2022). These occupations will likely grow in the United States for future demand beyond 2030, especially jobs related to education, engineering, research, management, and business operations (Bakhshi et al., 2017; Bauer and Kunze, 2004). Other

engineering areas of interest in the U.S. labor market are biology, mathematics, physical sciences, and medicine (Cerna, and Chou, 2019).



Figure 3. Top 10 Industry Applications for H1-B Visas 2021 Source: self-elaborated with data retrieved from USCIS, 2022a

O-1 Individuals with Extraordinary Ability or Achievement Visa

The O-1 visa allows individuals with extraordinary abilities in science, art, athletics, education, and business to work in the United States (USCIS, 2022b). The nonimmigrant visa applicants must provide evidence of extraordinary achievements at the national or international level. Similar to the EB-1 permanent residence category, the O-1 visa attracts individuals working in the same professional fields. The main difference between these two options is that the O-1 visa provides temporary work authorization in the United States while the EB-1 gives permanent residence to applicants. Additionally, O-1 visa holders need sponsorship to become permanent residents.

The O-1A visa is the right fit for individuals with extraordinary abilities in sciences, education, or business (USCIS, 2022b). Along with employer sponsorship, O-1A applicants need to provide documentation of nationally or internationally recognized prizes or awards, membership in recognized organizations, publications, judging the work of others, academic or business contributions, and evidence of high salary in the field of application, among others (Code of Federal Regulation, 2022; USCIS Policy Manual, 2022). The O-1A visa holders must possess critical or high skills and recognized experience to perform a job for which U.S. workers require assistance. The period of stay for O-1A visa holders goes from one to three years, depending on the nature of the activity (USCIS, 2022b). Moreover, the O-1 visa has no numerical limit or cap per year.

L1- Intracompany Transferee Visa

The L1 visa allows intra-company transfers for executives and managers employed by international firms (USCIS, 2022a). This visa is classified into two categories: (1) L-1A for managers or executives and (2) L-1B for workers with unique skills. The L1 visa grants work authorization for up to seven years, primarily for Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) professionals. The intracompany transferee visa has no numerical cap as the H1-B visa. Therefore, some scholars suggest that this program only benefits large corporations, companies specializing in offshore outsourcing (Hira, 2023), specific occupations and nationalities (Kirkegaard, 2005), and also works as a tool to circumvent the U.S. immigration system (Moscato and Moscato, 2005). On the other side, foreign nationals working with this type of visa have restrictions on job mobility (Hunt and Bin, 2019) and tend to face precarity in earlier years of work authorization (Connor et al., 2013).

F-1 STEM Optional Practical Training Visa

The United States is one of the most popular destinations for those pursuing higher education. Ruiz (2014) describes the United States as "*the most outstanding global hub for academic training*." According to the Student and Exchange Visitor Program report, up to one million international students were enrolled at U.S. educational institutions (ICE, 2015). The F-1 visa permits foreign nationals to study at an accredited U.S. institution (ICE, 2015). Moreover, F-1 visa holders can obtain work authorization in the following categories: On-campus Employment, Curricular Practical Training (CPT), Optional Practical Training (OPT), STEM OPT Extension, Severe Economic Hardship, and International Organizations (USCIS, 2022b).

Almost all the above categories allow F-1 visa holders to work off-campus while pursuing their degrees. Optional Practical Training (OPT) and STEM OPT Extension enable students to work after graduation. Initially, the OPT program allowed all graduates seeking employment in the U.S. to work for up to one year. Later, in 2008, OPT regulations expanded the STEM work period by an additional 24-month extension (Miano, 2017). Upon graduation, it is estimated that at least half of international students seek employment to remain in the U.S. in areas related to science, technology, engineering, and mathematics fields (Ruiz and Budiman, 2018). The STEM OPT program has worked as a medium for applying for an H-1B work authorization visa (Ruiz, 2017). This program, however, has yet to be designated to replace full- or part-time U.S. workers (USCIS, 2022b).

Because of rapid technological advances, new jobs, such as cyber security analysts and artificial intelligence, are emerging and are expected to grow by 30 % in the next decade. Therefore, filling all these jobs will be challenging for the United States without international talent. There is a need to develop retention strategies for international talent, representing up to 70% of engineering university programs (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2023).

To conclude this section, the facts and statistics presented above about the current state of technology-professional immigrants in the United States set up the guidelines for this dissertation, which aims to guide policy decision-makers in addressing current U.S. immigration policy issues.

1.2. Research Motivation

Relocation for technology professionals / high-skilled individuals to the United States is a complex process with limited legal options available. The motivation for this research is to understand the complexity of navigating current U.S. immigration policies from an engineering management perspective. Therefore, this dissertation proposes a novel methodology to evaluate U.S. immigration policies since there is a lack of studies combining quantitative and qualitative studies.

Each year, thousands of highly educated foreigners seek to work in the United States (Connor and Ruiz, 2019). Although the U.S. Immigration System is complex, there are legal paths for skilled immigrants to work or study. One of the principles of U.S. immigration policies is the admission of immigrants with valuable skills to the economy (American Immigration Council, 2021). Thus, according to the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (2021), some of the legal paths for technology professionals/highly -skilled workers to come to the U.S. are through (1) Permanent Residence, (2) H-1B Visa for Specialty Occupations, (3), O-1 Visa for Individuals with Extraordinary Ability or Achievement, (4) F-1 visa, (5) L1 visa and others such as TN visa for Canadian and Mexican professionals, Specialty Occupation Workers from Australia, and H-1B1 Visa for Chileans/Singaporeans (USCIS, 2022a; USCIS, 2022b; USCIS, 2022c). Technology professional immigrants' contributions increase host countries' competitive advantage (Bernstein et al., 2018; Hanson et al., 2018; Hart and Acs, 2011; Hunt and Gauthier-Loiselle, 2010; Yeaple, 2018). Hence, this dissertation aims to conduct comprehensive research to evaluate U.S. immigration policies. In doing so, this study can identify the factors that attract, select, and retain technology professionals whose contributions will help the United States increase innovation and economic growth. Additionally, this study aims to understand their motivations for settling and integrating into the United States, contributing to the country's competitiveness as a leader in technological development in both the short and long term.

1.3 Problem Statement

Historically, U.S. immigration policies have focused on attracting and selecting immigrant populations rather than promoting their retention and settlement over the years (Cohn, 2015; Ewing, 2012). The scenario is similar for highly skilled immigrants, including technology professionals (see Figure 4). The last significant immigration change
in U.S. immigration policies was the Immigration Reform and Control Act. This general amnesty gave permanent residency to almost 1 million immigrants, primarily those in the agricultural sector (Briggs, 2006). Therefore, scholars and experts suggest that the U.S. immigration policy system is strained and needs a comprehensive reform to cope with current problems and also to ensure and increase competitiveness and innovation (Hunt and Gauthier-Loiselle, 2010; Kerr and Frederic, 2020; Kerr & Lincoln, 2010; Ortega and Peri, 2014; Papademetriou and Madeleine, 2011). These problems include but are not limited to, annual caps and a skyrocketed number of applications for work visas, backlogs for adjustment of status, longer times to process applications, difficulties in changing jobs for visa holders, and lack of job opportunities for graduate international students, among others (American Immigration Council, 2021; Chaurey et al., 2024; Gelatt, 2020; Kandel et al., 2022). For example, an estimate by Forward U.S. (2022) suggests that 100,000 international students would like to live permanently in the United States after graduation, helping to reduce the shortage of talent in STEM jobs and contributing to the U.S. economy. Consequently, the loss of talent directly affects the return on investment from higher education since the federal and local governments fund universities, particularly public universities (Jaafar et al., 2021).

Additionally, the loss of international talent affects U.S. innovation metrics such as the Global Innovation Index and the filling and granting of patents (WIPO, 2021). Although the United States is one of the leading countries in all these respects, during the last few years, some countries have been systematically catching up and have the potential to change the innovation ecosystem (Dutta et al. 2021). For instance, between 2010 and 2017, China was not among the top countries on the Global Innovation Index. However, in 2018, China appeared among the 20 leading countries, and now it is escalating rapidly over the top (2018 - 17th, 2019 and 2020 - 14th, 2021 - 12th). The United States can remain a global economic leader in generating new knowledge by updating immigration policies that ease the residence and work of technology professional immigrants (Rinne, 2012). In summary, highly skilled immigrants should demonstrate their extraordinary abilities to the U.S. government for an opportunity to live, work, and settle in the United States.



Figure 4. Overview of Immigration Policies in the United States 1920 – 2020 Source: self-created based on DEMIG Policy (2015)

1.4 Overview of the Structure of the Dissertation

The introduction includes a brief description of technology professional immigrants in the United States, highlighting the significance of this topic for the research objective. Each section of this dissertation adds context and significance to the study (see Fig. 5).

Section 2 provides the literature review, which covers the main topics associated with this research: international migration, brain drain, benefits of technology professional immigrants in host countries, an overview of high-skilled immigration and point-based policies around the world, and innovation of technology-skilled immigrants. A review of the most recognized multi-criteria decision-making (MCDM) methodologies is also conducted. Hierarchical Decision Modeling, an MCDM method, will be used as the primary approach for this study. This section ends up with a gap analysis, which leads to formulating the research questions, objectives, and research approach.

Section 3 describes and justifies the methodology chosen to carry out this study. A hierarchical decision model is proposed to assess the current immigration policy that allows technology professionals to work in the United States. This section explains a comprehensive research process overview, such as selecting expert panels, quantification measures, inconsistency, and disagreement thresholds. A case study and sensitivity analysis are presented to further the research.

Section 4 explains the development of the research model from validation to quantification of the model, criteria, sub-criteria, and alternatives. Section 5 defines the quantification of the model and the research instruments used to help collect expert judgment and quantify the values to build the intended model. A description of the results is also included in this section.

Section 6 describes the case study and sensitivity analysis to demonstrate the model's flexibility. Finally, Section 7 explains this study's research limitations and expected contributions.



Figure 5. Research Process Inputs and Outputs

Source: self-elaborated

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter examines how literature describes the various aspects of immigration policy assessment.

2.1 International Migration

One of the first attempts to understand migration theories is Ernst Georg Ravenstein's work dated 1885 (Lee, 1966). Ravenstein proposed eleven laws or rules, some of which merited further research, such as migration and distance, technology and migration, and growth of cities (Grigg, 1977). However, this proposal work was the starting point for developing migration theories (Grigg, 1977; Lee, 1966). Only some authors contributed after that to the body of migration knowledge. Several decades later, Thomas (1938) conducted migration research in Europe and the United States and concluded that young adults tend to migrate internally rather than externally. Bogue and Hagood (1953) proposed the theory of differential migration. Duncan (1940) studied the consequences of the mobility of the U.S. population living on farms. In 1960, Stouffer conducted a study proposing that the number of migrants from a specific place to a destination is directly proportional to the number of opportunities at the host destination (Wadycki, 1975). A few decades later, Massey et al. (1994) grounded the twenty-first-century theory of international migration. Before World War II, Western European countries were known for sending migrants to immigrant-receiving countries (Masley et al., 1993). After 1965, international immigration patterns began to swap. Countries from Asia, Africa, and Latin America increased exponentially the number of immigrants going to immigrant-receiving

countries, taking over Western European countries. In the meantime, these European countries began receiving international immigrants (Masley et al., 1993).

International labor migration has been described as "a new geography of centrality and marginality" because immigrants face wide economic gaps and employment issues in host countries compared to locals (Schaeffer, 1998). Contemporary migration flows are influenced by several factors, such as place of origin, place of destiny, socio-economical characteristics of host countries, diverse and multi-ethnic societies, political decisions, legal obstacles to obtaining employment, and obstacles to obtaining legal status (Lee, 1966; Masley et al., 1993).

International migration can be classified into three main categories: (1) legal immigration, (2) undocumented immigration, and (3) refugee immigration (Murphy, 2018). At the same time, international legal immigration is divided into professional, commercial, technical, and highly skilled individuals (Batalova, 2017; International Organization for Migration, 2004). Several scholars agree that high-skilled immigration, technology professional immigration included, provides endless benefits to host countries, such as economic growth, science development, technology and innovation, entrepreneurship, and others (Hajro et al., 2021; Hanson and Liu, 2018; Kozanoglu et al., 2021; Nathan, 2014; Orefice, 2010; Ozden et al., 2017). Therefore, the scope of this research focuses on the immigration of technology professionals in the United States.

2.2 Brain Drain

Incorporating the brain-drain concept into the migration literature comes from the UK and dates from the 1960s (Dumitru, 2012). This concept is highly associated with the

immigration of high-skilled individuals. Early studies focused on the increasing loss of skilled workers from Europe to the United States, explicitly referring to the emigration of British scientists to North America (Freitas et al., 2012). Several scholars suggest that sending skilled immigrants is an economic loss that negatively affects sending countries; meanwhile, receiving countries benefit from it positively (Dumitru, 2014; Lowell, 2003). From the sending countries' perspective, brain drain harms these nations due to losing their ability to increase technological advances (Dumitru, 2012; Srivastava, 2018). Brain drain also involves the loss of skilled intellectual and technical labor through the voluntary movement of individuals to more promising opportunities (Sahay, 2006). Dumitru (2012) argued that high-skilled immigrants should not compensate for the potential economic loss in their countries of origin since the flow of high-skilled immigration is voluntary. On the other side, scholars suggest that the positive effect of brain drain is reflected in both receiving and sending countries (Dumitru, 2014; Lowell, 2003; Sahay, 2006; Srivastava, 2018). Concepts such as brain gain, reverse brain drain, or migration talent suggest that the immigration of high-skilled individuals benefits host and sending countries. Johnson (1968) proposes that the free movement of individuals would increase world output and compensate for the loss of sending countries. However, scholars are less optimistic about this proposal.

According to Sahay (2006), "brain drain can be converted into a brain gain," lessening the loss of high-skilled individuals moving among countries. The main gains for sending countries can be reflected in remittances, the number of returning migrants, and migration networks. Remittances are direct or indirect money transfers from the host to the origin countries. Skilled individuals can send back remittances to source countries through knowledge acquired by working in host countries. Fackler et al. (2020) propose that knowledge remittances can reduce the negative impact of the brain drain on sending countries by eliminating the technological frontier, compensating for the loss of skilled individuals, and increasing innovation. White and Inku (2008) suggest that the high growth of high-skilled individuals in sending countries would increase the return of migrants. Additionally, returning migration can benefit sending countries by increasing patent activity and innovation (Choudhury, 2016; Kerr, 2008). Several scholars find that teams with international members positively affect cross-border knowledge flows and invention (Fackler et al., 2020; Foley and Kerr, 2013; Kerr and Kerr, 2015; Miguelez, 2016; Miguelez and Fink, 2013). Without hesitation, brain drain has both positive and negative effects on sending and receiving countries. Returning skilled individuals can take back new knowledge, experience, and a network of collaboration to continue developing positive outcomes, but this time in their countries of origin.

2.3 Benefits of Technology Professional Immigration in Host Countries

Every immigration movement involves an origin, a destination, and a set of obstacles (Lee, 1965). Suppose the immigration movement or relocation is at an international level. In that case, there are other factors to consider, such as distance, policies, the attractiveness of the host country, and salary, among others (Batalova, 2017; United Nations, 2013). Despite all these challenges, high-skilled immigrants overcome the difficulties they face to positively contribute to host countries (Hanson and Liu, 2018). High-skilled immigrants contribute to host countries through innovation, economics,

employment, entrepreneurship, and aging (Canello, 2016; Hawthorne, 2014; Kozanoglu et al., 2021; Libaers, 2007). Whetton and Cebulla (2017) conducted a study in Australia and suggested that immigration positively affects local demography. Agrawal et al. (2019) concluded that U.S. universities recruiting foreign-trained scientists are more likely to increase their productivity and knowledge diffusion. Cooke and Kemeny (2017) tested a hypothesis that strongly supports the idea that increasing immigration diversity among the leading U.S. metropolitan areas fosters creativity, innovation, and problem-solving capabilities. Bernstein et al. (2018) found that immigrant scientists in the United States are more productive than their local counterparts, measured by their number of patents, patent citations, and economic value. Moreover, immigrants account for only 16% of inventors, but they have generated up to 30% of U.S. innovation since 1976 (Bernstein et al., 2018). Also, entrepreneur immigrants in the United States account for up to 20% of the founders of high-tech ventures (Brown et al., 2019; Hart and Acs, 2011). These companies outdid their counterparts in 15 out of 16 dimensions of innovation (Brown et al., 2019). Crown et al. (2020) found a positive economic impact on immigrants who work after graduation from Australian universities. Considering all the potential benefits of high-skilled immigrants to host countries, exploring this topic in the United States will help expand the current body of knowledge.

2.4 High-Skilled Immigration Policies Around the World

Immigrants generally relocate to host countries where they expect the highest net gain (Massey et al., 1993; Massey et al., 1994). The neoclassical theory further explains the concept of the highest net gain, which states: *"flows of labor move from low-wage to*

high-wage countries, and capital (including human capital) moves in the opposite direction" (Massey et al., 1993; Todaro, 1969). Thus, immigration has two sides to the story. On one side, there are some traditional immigrant-receiving countries such as the United States, Canada, Germany, Great Britain, and Australia (Batalova and Lowell, 2007; Massey et al., 1993). Conversely, there are well-known immigrant-sending countries such as India, China, and Mexico (White and Inku, 2008). Therefore, flows of labor move from immigrant-sending countries to places such as the United States, Canada, Germany, Great Britain, and Australia. To relocate to the destination country, individuals need to comply with the regulations of the immigration system according to the host destination, following their motivations to do so. These motivations vary depending on factors such as country of origin, age, marital status, and gender. However, the most common factors for immigrating to another country are economic downturns in host countries, family reunification, humanitarian reasons, availability of jobs, economic gains, safety, access to better education, family reunification and attractiveness of host countries (Duncan and Waldorf, 2010; Geva-May, 2000; Goodman, 2018; Melo et al., 2014; Sahay, 2006).

Several countries have adopted a highly skilled point-based immigration system, such as Canada in 1967, Australia in 1989, New Zealand in 1991, and more recently, the U.K. in 2021 (Beaglehole, 2005; Kelley and Trebilcock, 1998; Miller, 1999; Walsh, 2021) while the United States relies on its employment-based immigration system to attract international talent (see Table 2).

Point-Based Immigration Policies Around the World

A point-based immigration policy system sets out the initial requirements that immigrants need to prove to work, study, or do any other economic activity in their host countries. This restricting type of immigration favors mainly young and skilled immigrants who can demonstrate financial stability (Tani, 2014). Despite its contributions, such increasing population growth in host countries (Kozanoglu et al., 2021), point-based systems cannot resolve labor shortages of skilled labor, especially in the short term, if host governments prioritize some visa categories (Tani, 2014). A point-based system scores a combination of different criteria such as age, education, language, and professional experience, whose origins come from Canada in 1967 (Yale-Loehr and Eason, 2020). Generally, the existing point-based immigration systems worldwide share similarities in assessing applicants, also known as high-skilled immigrants. The main similarities are education, age, language, and employment experience. Table 3 shows a summary of the different point-based immigration systems around the world. Nevertheless, some particularities vary from one host country to another. For instance, in the United Kingdom, the proposed salary for new applicants must be at least £20,480 yearly. Some countries, such as Canada, Australia, and New Zealand, provide additional points if the applicant's partner speaks English at the same level as the applicant. In Germany, companies use a fast-track procedure, or talent pool, to engage with skilled workers. Moreover, a factor in Canada called adaptability measures the likelihood of high-skilled immigrants settling in a new place. Scholars suggest this approach to immigration be more widely adopted worldwide, especially in the United States (Gelatt, 2020; Kandel, 2020; Roach and Skrentny, 2019; Yale-Loehr and Eason, 2020).

ole Grace period de after visa expiration	nent Up to 60 eH1-B consecutive newals calendar days	aO1-B Up to 60 anent consecutive nce calendar days	nent Up to 60 nce consecutive calendar days	nent Up to 60 nce consecutive calendar days	enship Not applicable
Possib upgra	Perman Residence yearly ren	H1-B visa visaPerm Residen	Perman Resider	Perman Residen	U.S. Citize
Duration of Status	3-year initial approval + one 3- year extension	>Up to 12 months post-completion OPT + 24-month STEM OPT extension	Up to 3-year initial approval + 1-year extensions	3-year initial approval + 2-year extensions up to a total of 7 years.	The candidate may be able to live permanently in the
Per-country ceiling /Queue	Yes	No	No	No	Up to 7% per country * / India (692,563)
Is a job offer needed?	Yes	No (for initial 12 months) /Yes (for STEM extension)	Yes	Yes	No (for self- petition) /Yes (for
Selection Approach	Employer system approach	Hybrid system approach / Employer system approach	Employer system approach	Employer system approach	Hybrid system approach / Emplover
Cap Limit	85,000	No	No	No	140,000
Immigrant intent	Dual intent	Non- immigrant	Dual intent	Dual intent	Intent
Type of visa / permanent residence card	HI-B visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	O1-B visa	L-1 visa	Permanent Residence card

Table 2. Comparison of Policy Visa / Cards for Technology Professional Immigrants

Source: self-elaborated based on literature review

Reference	(Australian Government, 2022)	(Migration, Austria, 2022)	(Government of Canada, 2022)	(The German Federal Government, 2022)	(Immigration Bureau of Japan, 2017)	(New Zealand Immigration, 2022)	(OECD, 2019)	(Government UK, 2022)
Minimum score	60/100	70/100	67/100	100 points	70/100	100 points	80/120	70/130
Penalties	NEF	NEF	NEF	NEF	NEF	NEF	Penalties for offenses and fines	Overwith an expired visa
Additional Points	Fluent in one of Australia's languages	Salary, managerial experience, awards	French or English languages, age	NEF	Salary, managerial work experience, international	Partner's applicant speaks English	Volunteering job, Korean degree, tax payments,	High salary
Age	18 to 39	18 to 40	18 to 35	NEF	NEF	18 to 55	>	NEF
Job Offer	>	>	>	Х	>	>	>	>
Funds	>	NEF	>	>	>	>	>	>
Work Experience	1 to 8 years	1 to 10 years	1 to 6 years	>	>	>	>	>
Language Testing	IELTS, TOEFL	German/ English A1 level	IELTS (English) TEF (Canada)	German B1 level	Japanese- Language Proficiency Test level N1	IELTS, TOEFL	Korean language ability	>
Education	B.S. or higher	B.S. or higher	B.S. or higher	Higher education	B.S. or higher	B.S. or higher	High-school or higher	Ph.D. or STEM Ph.D.
Scheme/ Program	General Skilled Migration program	Skilled Worker in a Shortage Profession	Federal Skilled Worker program	Skilled Immigration Act	Highly skilled professional visa	Skilled Migrant Visa	Points-based system (PBS) for highly skilled foreigners.	UK's points- based system
Country ind Start of Program	Australia (1979)	Austria (2011)	Canada (1967)	Germany (2016)	Japan (2012)	New Zealand (1991)	South Korea (2010)	United Kingdom

Table 3. Summary of Point-Based Immigration Policies in Developed Countries

Source: self-elaborated based on literature review, NEF = Not Evidence Found

2.5 High-Skilled Immigrants and Technological Innovation

The literature review suggests that several scholars agree on the positive contributions of high-skilled immigrants in host countries (Caviggioli et al., 2020; Kahn & MacGarvie, 2020; Laursen et al., 2020; Miguelez and Fink, 2013; Mosbah et al., 2018). The United States hosts the world's highest number of technological clusters, where the contribution of high-skilled and technology professional immigrants can boost fields such as economics, innovation, scientific publication, and patent activity (Dutta et al., 2021). Kerr and Frederic (2020) define fifteen consolidated technological hubs or tech-metro areas with the highest rates of venture capital investment, patents granted, technology professional workers, and industries with more considerable R&D investment. All these factors positively contribute to innovation. Carlino et al. (2012) suggest that innovation firms tend to cluster according to their research field. For instance, Seattle, Washington, hosts the software cluster, which includes companies such as Amazon and Microsoft. Moretti's study (2021) about high-tech clusters says the geographical concentration of these companies is not a coincidence, and this concentration has important implications for cities. The presence of a tech cluster has been demonstrated to be a driver of economics and innovation (Buera and Kaboski, 2012; Glaeser and Saiz, 2004; Moretti, 2021). Thus, combining all these factors makes tech clusters the perfect scenario for technology professional individuals to increase innovation and further technological progress.

2.6 Multi-Criteria Decision-Making Methodologies

In the field of multi-criteria decision-making (MCDM), several methodologies are widely used for product design, product development, and preventive or predictive maintenance, among others (Marugán & Garcia Marquez, 2017). These methodologies aim to reduce uncertainty by using logical functions and considering a whole set of factors to choose the best possible alternatives. Therefore, decision-makers and scholars have used these approaches for numerous decades now. A few examples of MCDM methodologies are Multi-Attribute Utility Theory (MAUT), Analytic Network Process (ANP), Measuring Attractiveness by a Categorical-Based Evaluation (MACBETH), Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP), Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution (TOPSIS), and Bayesian Network (BN) models (Cinar and Kayakutlu, 2010). In the following paragraphs, a brief review of these methodologies is provided.

Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution (TOPSIS)

TOPSIS is a multicriteria decision methodology developed by Yoon and Hwang (Ding et al., 2016). The principle of TOPSIS dictates that alternative solutions are selected based on the distance between them and the positive ideal solution (see Fig. 6), with the shortest distance being the nearest to the perfect solution and the farthest away being the less ideal solution (Rahim, 2018). TOPSIS compares alternatives versus criteria using a similar scale to the Likert measure. These values are normalized and then provide a rank of possible solutions. This approach offers recommendations to decision-makers to make the best possible final decision.



Figure 6. Graphical representation of TOPSIS Source: (Chauhan and Vaish, 2014)

Preference Ranking Organization Method for Enrichment Evaluation

PROMETHEE is a decision-making method for assessing alternatives concerning multiple criteria following a hierarchy (see Fig. 7). For assigning differences between alternatives in judgments, it uses two types of preference functions (Abdullah et al., 2019). PROMETHEE uses pairwise comparison to rank a finite set of criteria and alternatives (Bilsel et al. 2006). Additionally, this method can break down alternatives, as Brans et al. (1986) proposed. These authors suggest that PROMETHEE-I obtains partial ranking while PROMETHEE-II is used to complete ranking using at least six types of generalized functions (Abdullah et al., 2019).



Figure 7. PROMETHEE Group Model

Source: (Araújo and Alencar, 2015)

Analytic Hierarchy Process

In the 1980s, Thomas L. Saaty (1980), at the Wharton Business School, developed the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP), which is widely used in the field of Decision-Making (Kostagiolas, 2012; Ramanathan, 2004). AHP is used to rank a set of alternatives or to select the best possible solution by using pairwise comparisons to create a matrix of judgments (see Fig. 8) showing the preference between each pair of options for each attribute (Hopkins, 2001). AHP converts comparative judgment into numerical values. After normalizing these values, a set of priorities is created for an objective (Ramanathan, 2004). To validate the results, AHP established a judgment consistency test. According to experts, AHP is a user-friendly approach, flexible, and allows decision-makers to incorporate quantitative and qualitative criteria (Hopkins, 2001; Pecchia et al., 2020; Ramanathan, 2004; Rauscher & Reynolds, 2003).



Figure 8. AHP Hierarchy Sample Model

Source: (Saaty, 1980)

Analytic Network Process

Analytic Network Process (ANP) is a mathematical model developed by Thomas L. Saaty (Zare et al., 2018). ANP and AHP share similar steps, such as selecting criteria, sub-criteria, alternatives, and pairwise comparison to identify the model's weights. ANP differentiates from AHP because it does not follow a hierarchical relationship between elements (Golubic, 2009). Instead, ANP integrates all the interactions and relationships among decision-making levels (see Fig. 9), resulting in a network structure (De Bacquer et al., 2009). One of AHP's limitations is that it does not allow the assessment of the interrelationship among elements (Tran et al., 2004). However, experts suggest that ANP is a more robust network-based system approach to making wise decisions in uncertain environments (Rao, 2004).



Figure 9. ANP Sample Model

Source: (Thakkar, 2021)

Elimination and Choice Expressing Reality

ELECTRE is also considered one of the multi-criteria decision analysis methodologies (Figueira et al., 2013). Bernard Roy developed the ELECTRE approach in 1968 (Mary and Suganya, 2016). ELECTRE relies on its ability to recommend the most favorable alternatives to decision-makers by removing the least suitable ones. This methodology uses a panel of experts as a decision-making group to select the most proper solution to different scenarios (Akram et al., 2020). ELECTRE's main idea is to correctly utilize its outranking relations to rank a set of alternatives (see Fig. 10), which models the binary relations (Fei et al., 2019). The outranking relation counts on two main aspects: (1) concordance index and (2) discordance index (Mary and Suganya, 2016). The concordance index is validated by the panel of experts, where most of the criteria should favor the assertion. On the other side, the discordance index is held when none of the requirements

in the minority should oppose the assertion (Fei et al., 2019). After that, a credibility matrix is built to obtain a degree of trustworthiness. Finally, concordance and discordance values are prioritized by experts (Mary and Suganya, 2016).



Figure 10. ELECTRE Sample Model

Source: (Akram et al., 2020)

Multi-Attribute Utility Theory

Multi-Attribute Utility Theory (MAUT) is another approach in the field of Multi-Criteria Decision-Making methodologies. MAUT provides a framework for analyzing objective trade-offs to make wise decisions (Kailiponi, 2010). This approach identifies, characterizes, and compares the variables that affect a decision (see Fig. 11). Schumacher (1991) recommends ten steps of the MAUT approach as follows:

- 1) determine the viewpoint of the decision-makers,
- 2) identify the decision alternatives,

- 3) identify the attributes to be evaluated,
- 4) identify the factors to be used in evaluating the attributes,
- 5) establish a utility scale for scoring each factor,
- 6) transform the values for each factor to its utility scale,
- 7) determine weights for each attribute and factor,
- 8) calculate the total utility score for each decision alternative,
- determine which decision alternative has the most meaningful total score, and
- 10) perform a sensitivity analysis.

The MAUT values are combined with the higher-ranked weights and aggregated into a multi-attribute utility for each alternative. The alternative or alternatives with the highest multi-attribute utility are or are expected to be the most favorable option(s) (Jansen, 2011).



Figure 11. MAUT Model Sample

Source: (Jenkins and Keisler, 2022)

After reviewing several Multi-Criteria Decision-Making methodologies, Table 4 summarizes the strengths and weaknesses of each approach, as mentioned earlier.

Methodology	Strengths	Weaknesses
TOPSIS	 Ease of application (Linkert scale) Universality Consideration of the distance to an ideal solution 	 High subjectivity among experts A lower number of scientific publications
PROMETHEE	 User-friendly outranking Real-life planning problems method Completeness of ranking 	 Guidance to define weights to criteria Complexity when the number of criteria increases Possibility for constructing a decision tree
AHP	 Universality Hierarchical structure of decisions Reduction of subjectivity Inconsistency test 	 High labor input quantification A large amount of initial data Assessment scale
ANP	 Universality Ideal methodology to gain a deeper understanding of problems Inconsistency test 	 A large amount of initial data Software Verification of results Complex methodology
ELECTRE	 Concordance and discordance index Can handle both quantitative and qualitative data for outranking alternatives 	 Weakness of average ranking An additional threshold to rank the alternatives
MAUT	 Takes uncertainty into account Evaluate a large number of quantitative and qualitative factors Complex methodology Sensitivity analysis 	 Complex methodology Identification of the overall best performer It does not break down metrics.
HDM	 Universality Hierarchical structure of decisions Reduction of subjectivity Inconsistency test Disagreement test Sensitivity analysis 	 High labor input quantification A large amount of initial data Software

	Table 4. Strengths and	Weaknesses of	f Multi-Criteria	Decision A	pproaches
--	------------------------	---------------	------------------	------------	-----------

In general, all the Multi-Criteria Decision-Making methodologies share similarities. Those are, but are not limited to, pairwise comparison, creation of a panel of experts, decision-making structure, sensitivity analysis, and uncertainty reduction. Since other methodologies represent additional challenges to conducting this research, and after carefully analyzing all the pros and cons, hierarchical decision modeling will be used as the primary research approach for this study. Further explanation is provided in section 4, which justifies the selection of this methodology.

2.7 Gap Analysis

The literature review collects information from primary sources -chapter books, scientific articles, and other relevant sources- to demonstrate knowledge and comprehension of a specific topic. Then, it is mandatory to identify gaps in the literature that justify the research. Gap analysis is a methodology that managers and decision-makers use to compare the current state (starting point) with the desired future or outcome (Sridharan, 2022). Hamdani and Daim (2020) state that gap analysis helps to define a problem with the minimum number of requirements. One of the critical elements of gap analysis is the ease of identifying a series of actions to bridge the "gaps." Gap analysis is widely used in areas such as communication, finance, productivity, management, R&D, and others. By way of explanation, gap analysis possibilities are endless. Kim and Ji (2018) suggest that gap analysis consists of four steps:

- 1) identification of critical needs of the current state,
- 2) visualization of the desired future,
- 3) emphasizing the identified gaps that need to be fulfilled, and

4) a strategic plan to bridge the gaps.

Kannan et al. (2017) suggest using sources such as literature reviews, technical reports, and surveys to gather information. Additionally, gap analysis can use feature tools, including benchmarking, SWOT analysis, and brainstorming (Kannan et al., 2017).

Торіс	Title	Source and Region of Study	Gaps and Future Work	Reference
Business innovation	Catching up or lagging behind? The long-term business and innovation potential of subsidized start- ups out of unemployment	Research Policy - Germany	Skilled immigrants may benefit from additional support measures such as coaching, counseling, mentoring, or training during the pre- or early start-up phase. These measures can potentially enhance their business potential and contribute to their long-term development.	(Caliendo et al., 2020)
	Attitudes towards climate change migrants	Springer - Germany	Understand the outlooks towards climate change migrants and the conditions and standards under which people are prepared to welcome them. Additional research is required to demonstrate the extent to which the outcomes of this study can be duplicated in other locations.	(Helbling, 2020)
Climate change	How do host- migrant proximities shape attitudes toward internal climate	Global Environmental Change - Bangladesh	There is a lack of research on the communities that are likely to bear the effect of receiving large numbers of internal climate migrants in the next few decades if the forecasts of millions of people being forced to flee their homes and lands due to climate change come to fruition.	(Lujala et al., 2020)
	Climate Change, Inequality, and Human Migration	Journal of the European Economic Association - Worldwide	Future research will encourage policymakers and citizens to take proactive measures to alleviate the grim scenarios of widespread loss of skilled labor due to significant global warming.	(Burzyński et al., 2021)
Economic Benefits of High-Skilled Immigrants	The broader economic impacts of high-skilled migrants: a survey of the literature for receiving countries	IZA Journal of Migration - Worldwide	The literature on the broader effects of high- skilled immigration is of great importance, but is not yet well-established. There are considerable gaps in knowledge, even within the United States. In order to advance the field, future research should prioritize studying the economic effects of skilled individuals.	(Nathan, 2014)
	High-Skilled Migration and Agglomeration	Harvard Library - United States	Additional research is necessary to fully comprehend the role of high-skilled immigration in the economic growth and development of both the origin and host countries, particularly as creators and transmitters of knowledge. Therefore, improving the integration of high-skilled	(Kerr et al., 2017b)

Table 5. Literature Review Gaps and Future Work

			migration and productivity data at the firm and sector levels is imperative.	
	Cities, immigrant diversity, and complex problem-solving	Research Policy - United States	The relationship between wages and immigrant diversity can be further studied to understand how diversity can boost productivity by introducing heuristic heterogeneity.	(Cooke and Kemeny, 2017)
Economic Benefits of High-Skilled Immigrants	Skilled Migration from China, India, and Mexico to the United States	Norteamérica Journal - United States	In the future, immigration of highly skilled individuals may act as a form of subsidy or contribution to the receiving countries, leading to the continuation of existing historical imbalances, particularly in countries like China, India, and Mexico.	(Aragonés and Salgado, 2019)
	Do low-skilled workers gain from high-tech employment growth? High technology multipliers, employment, and wages in Britain	Research Policy - United Kingdom	Low-skilled residents benefit from innovative, high-tech industries. However, there is limited evidence to support this claim.	(Lee and Clarke, 2019)
	The Employment- Based Immigration Backlog	Congressional Research Service - United States	Proposing a switch from the current system that depends on employer sponsorship to a merit-based system that would evaluate and accept aspiring immigrants according to their labor market attributes and anticipated contributions to the U.S. economy.	(Kandel, 2020)
	Immigration Policy Levers for U.S. Innovation and Startups	Harvard Business School - United States	The current US immigration structure challenges the growth of US invention and entrepreneurship through immigrant contributions. This is mainly due to numerical caps at crucial transition points, particularly the size of the H-1B program and the country caps on the rate at which employment-based green cards are awarded. Additionally, the United States does not have a startup visa similar to those introduced by many peer countries in the past decade.	(Kerr et al., 2020)
	Recruiting for the Future: A Realistic Road to a Points-Tested Visa Program in the United States	Cornell Law Faculty Publications - United States	Enacting a separate law that allows 50,000 more skilled, trained, and educated foreign workers to come to the United States through a clear and open selection process would be a positive move in changing the perception of immigration within the country.	(Yale-Loehr and Eason, 2020)
Imigration policy upgrade	(Un)settled sojourners in cities: the scalar and temporal dimensions of migrant precarity	Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies - United States	All categories of temporary migrants, including highly skilled ones, can experience precarity despite being typically perceived as protected and secure. This emphasizes that the status of temporary migrants is constantly characterized by ambiguity and uncertainty.	(Chacko and Price, 2020)
	Getting The Best Of Us: Multinational Corporate Networks And The Diffusion Of Skill-Selective	Publicly Accessible Penn Dissertations - United States	IT multinational corporations support immigration policies that aim to promote the enrollment of international students.	(Born, 2019)

	Immigration Policies			
	Majority of U.S. Public Supports High- Skilled Immigration	Pew Research Center - United States	The proportion of immigrants in the US who have completed some college education has increased from 17% in 1970 to 47% in 2010. This upward trend in education among immigrants may continue in the future. Therefore, members of the US Congress have proposed a new immigration policy that prioritizes highly educated migrants through a merit-based system.	(Connor and Ruiz, 2019)
Immigration policy upgrade	Why foreign STEM PhDs are unlikely to work for US technology startups	PNAS - United States	Understanding the potential impact of visa policies on the employment prospects of foreign Ph.D. graduates seeking employment in technology startups. A significant disparity exists between the employment outcomes of foreign and US STEM Ph.D. holders who have earned their degrees from US universities, particularly in the startup industry. Specifically, foreign STEM Ph.D. holders who require visa sponsorship are only half as likely as their US counterparts to secure employment in technology startups as their first job in the industry.	(Roach and Skrentny, 2019)
	Employment and Earnings of International Science and Engineering Graduates of U.S. Universities: A Comparative Perspective	Journal of International Students - United States	It is recommended that the government provide a clearer and more feasible pathway to immigration to ensure the recruitment and retention of skilled foreign workers in the fields of science and engineering. Additional research needs to be conducted to determine whether employers prefer foreign-born graduates with higher credentials over American-born graduates with lower levels of education.	(Campbell et al., 2018)
	High-Skilled Migration and Global Innovation	Stanford Institute for Economic Policy Research - United States	It is suggested to conduct further research using empirical data to accurately determine the effects of high-skilled immigrants on the growth and knowledge diffusion in both host and home countries.	(Xu, 2016)
	Skilled Immigration, Innovation, and the Wages of Native-Born Americans	Journal of Economy and Society - United States	Future research area to examine how publications conducted in specific fields contribute to technological advancements and innovations.	(Islam et al., 2017)
Impact of High-Skilled Immigrants on Innovation	Foreign-Born graduates and innovation: Evidence from an Australian skilled visa program	Australia	Although there has been research on the influence of foreign-born workers in promoting innovation, there is still a significant gap in the literature that evaluates the contribution of foreign-born graduates to innovation. In the future, using datasets that connect employees with their employers could offer novel perspectives on the	(Crown et al., 2020)

			involvement of foreign-born graduates in fostering innovation at the firm level.	
	Highly skilled migrants and technological diversification in the US and Europe	Technological Forecasting & Social Change - US and Europe	The existing literature should focus more on examining the precise impact of the international mobility of inventors on the technological diversification of innovation output. This is because it is a significant factor in driving regional economic growth and contributing to the emergence of new technologies.	(Caviggioli et al., 2020)
Impact of High-Skilled Immigrants on Innovation	Inventor migration and knowledge flows: A two-way communication channel?	Research Policy - United States	The number of inventors who immigrate to different countries impacts the diffusion of knowledge across borders through patent citations. Although this type of research is not novel, there is still a lack of worldwide empirical data.	(Miguelez and Noumedem, 2020)
	Knowledge remittances: Does emigration foster innovation?	Research Policy - Germany	Efforts to share knowledge can help reduce the adverse effects of immigration; additional research is necessary to clarify the nature and formation of these knowledge flows.	(Fackler et al., 2020)
	Migrant inventors and the technological advantage of nations	Research Policy - United States	The literature lacks sufficient evidence on immigrants and innovation, particularly on how immigrants contribute to the transfer of knowledge across borders.	(Bahar et al., 2020)
	Migration, innovation, and technological diversion: German patenting after the collapse of the Soviet Union	Research Policy - Germany	The proportion of highly skilled immigrants involved in innovation is increasing in both Europe and the US. However, it is still unclear whether they have the ability to enhance innovation rates, which is a topic of ongoing debate.	(Ferrucci, 2020)
	Mounting corporate innovation performance: The effects of high- skilled migrant hires and integration capacity	Research Policy - Dutch region	Knowledge about the influence of high- skilled immigrants on firm-level innovation output is still limited, particularly regarding the factors that moderate this relationship. Future research could address the investments made by firms in integrating high-skilled immigrants into the innovation process.	(Laursen et al., 2020)
	STEM migration, research, and innovation	Research Policy - Europe and the United States	Understanding how people moving between countries impacts innovation patterns is important, which encourages further research on this subject. In the future, researchers can explore novel ways to track the movement of individuals across different countries. Social media platforms like LinkedIn can provide valuable insights into career histories, enabling researchers to map and measure movements, roles, and experiences between countries and enhance the comprehension of brain circulation.	(Breschi et al., 2020)

	The impact of permanent residency delays for STEM PhDs: Who leaves and why	Research Policy - United States	Designing a policy that considers the need for skilled workers while distributing permanent residency visas would lead to superior innovation outcomes for the US compared to a policy that sets quotas based on country of origin.	(Kahn and MacGarvie, 2020)
	Does scientist immigration harm US science? An examination of the knowledge spillover channel	Research Policy - United States	Further research is required to comprehend the process of assimilating foreign-trained scientists into knowledge networks in the United States, along with the development of policies that facilitate and encourage this integration by society.	(Agrawal et al., 2019)
	Transition Of International STEM Students to the US Labor Market: The Role of Visa Policy	Economic Inquiry - United States	Future work will further knowledge on how alterations made to work permission programs for student visas impact the behavior of international and domestic students. Such research could explore how these changes affect innovation activities and other relevant outcomes.	(Demirci, 2019)
	A data-driven computational model on the effects of immigration policies	PNAS - Worldwide	Future research on computational models may determine the impact of policy changes and explain how different scenarios are (more liberal or more restrictive).	(Simon, 2018)
Quantitative models	High-Skilled Migration in Times of Global Economic Crisis	Worldwide	Further research is needed to understand bilateral migrant flows, categorized by skill level.	(Czaika and Parsons, 2016)
	Why and how international students choose Mainland China as a higher education study abroad destination	Springer - China	Determining the intentions of international students is crucial to understand whether they plan to pursue further education, secure long- term employment, or return to their home countries after finishing their international study programs.	(Jiani, 2017)
Relocation of High- Skilled Immigrants	High-Skilled Immigration and the Comparative Advantage of Foreign-Born Workers across US Occupations	University of Chicago Press - United States	Future studies about job search networks specific to ethnic groups of high-skilled immigrants in the US.	(Hanson and Liu, 2018)
- -	Mobility of Highly Skilled Individuals and Local Innovation Activity	University Library of Munich - Europe	Future research on the work of companies and the movement of skilled personnel it is recommended to determine effectiveness of immigration policies.	(Drivas et al., 2018)
	Moving for Prosperity: Global Migration and Labor Markets	World Bank - Worldwide	Converting economic gains into practical benefits for both the source and destination countries can be achieved through political mechanisms.	(World Bank, 2018)

	1	1		
	"Us versus them": Sensemaking and identity processes in skilled migrants' experiences of occupational downgrading'	Journal of World Business - United Kingdom	Future studies can help to understand how cities affect people's way of processing information. Migration is often linked to cities, and some cities are more welcoming to migrants than others. Therefore, it might be relevant to explore how living in different cities influences individuals' understanding of their career paths.	(Fernando and Patriotta, 2020)
	Highly Skilled Migration: Between Settlement and Mobility	IMISCOE Research Series, Springer - Worldwide	Conducting extensive qualitative and quantitative research on the structures that promote international mobility outside the immigration process.	(Weinar, 2020 b)
	Migrants in the High-Tech and Engineering Sectors: An Emerging Research Area	IEEE Conference on Systems, Process, and Control - United States	The United States is losing its competitive edge in attracting STEM professionals as other destinations become more attractive. This competition between countries is intensifying, causing the US to fall behind in the race.	(Mosbah et al., 2018)
	Mobile practices and the production of professionals on the move: Filipino highly skilled migrants in Singapore	Geoforum - Singapore	Further studies can investigate the aspects of mobile practices such as age, gender, and ethnicity in different groups.	(Liao, 2019)
	Cities, immigrant diversity, and complex problem-solving	Research Policy - United States	Future research can help to understand whether the presence of immigrants in the job market leads to intensified competition, which could result in longer working hours, affecting wages and labor fairness.	(Cooke and Kemeny, 2017)
Salary inequality	Immigrant Earnings Assimilation in the United States: A Panel Analysis	Journal of Labor Economics - United States	Further research is needed to determine whether deferred entry into the job market and non-random employment contribute to unbalanced income comparisons between other groups of immigrants and native-born individuals and comprehend the experience of immigrant workers in the United States.	(Rho and Sanders, 2021)
	I don't care about the city: the role of connections in job-related mobility decisions of skilled professionals	Regional Studies, Regional Science - Europe	Future studies in immigration policy-making are needed to emphasize the associations between employers and institutions that demand and attract skilled professionals.	(Tippel et al., 2017)
Talent attraction and	The Innovation Activities of Multinational Enterprises and the Demand for Skilled-Worker, Nonimmigrant Visas	University of Chicago Press - United States	Future work can identify the duties for relocating foreign individuals, with a particular emphasis on companies with significant research and development involvement.	(Yeaple, 2018)

retention of high-skilled immigrants	Merica's high- skilled immigration system—barriers to recruiting and retaining global talent in the U.S.	FWD - United States	Future studies to measure and ensure that the United States is attracting suitable workers for all industries that require them, who can perform both current and future job roles.	(FWD, 2019)
	Mitigating High- Skill Brain Drain in Low-Growth Economies: An Examination of Existing Brain- Drain Threats in New Mexico and Strategy and Policy Alternative to Address Them	Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology - United States	Discussions about the brain drain challenge in low-growth economies can be initiated by policymakers, technologists, and economic development professionals.	(Cowan et al., 2019)
	Coming to America: work visas, international diversity, and organizational attractiveness among highly skilled Asian immigrants	The International Journal of Human Resource Management - United States	There is a lack of studies in the field of management that focuses on immigration- related concerns regarding organizational attraction and recruitment. Future research can explore the association between the factors affecting the attraction of foreign- born job seekers towards organizations.	(Lambert et al., 2019)
Talent attraction and retention of high-skilled immigrants	Where science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) graduates move	Population, Space, and Place - United States	Future research should explore the attractivity and retentivity of high-skilled immigrants.	(Wright and Ellis, 2019)
	Should the U.S. Adopt a Merit- Based Immigration System?	SHRM.org - United States	Fields such as high-skilled jobs require long- term channels to retain workers, while the potential of immigrant entrepreneurs is often ignored.	(Gelatt, 2020)
	How do OECD countries compare in their attractiveness for talented migrants?	Migration Policy Debates OECD - Worldwide	Disaggregating talent mobility by dimension can offer policymakers distinct and novel insights into their ability to attract foreign talent. Such analyses should be considered to gain new information about their performance in this topic.	(Stiftung, 2019)
	Skilled migration and innovation in European industries	Europe	Further investigation is required to comprehend the ground-breaking influence of specific measures implemented to draw in foreign-skilled individuals. Moreover, it is crucial to examine the influence of these measures on the mobility of skilled workers.	(Fassio et al., 2019)

Becoming 'the Internationals'— how Place Shapes the Sense of Belonging and Group Formation of High-Skilled Migrants	Journal of International Migration and Integration - United Kingdom	Study the relationship between relocation and the politics of belonging. Access and social status determine the politics of belonging, which influences personal experiences and the capacity to establish a sense of belonging. Cities and corporations adopt a competitive approach to attract skilled workers, but they frequently overlook the importance of the politics of belonging and how neglecting	(Plöger and Kubiak, 2018)
Unraveling the Dynamics of Immigrant Engineers' Full- Utilization in Australia	IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management - Australia	them can impede their objectives. The issue of underutilizing skilled immigrants is a worldwide problem that requires policymakers to pay attention to post-arrival policies.	(Kozanoglu et al., 2021)

Source: self-created based on literature review

Table 5 shows the literature review organized by themes, which help to identify the research gaps, and then the set of criteria and sub-criteria to develop a multi-criteria decision-making model. Each article provides a different perspective on how to address current immigration policy issues depending on the method or country subject to be studied. Several scholars have studied highly skilled immigration from an economic perspective, exploring the contributions of this stream of immigration. Several agree that high-skilled immigration contributes to U.S. economic growth (Caviggioli et al., 2020; Kerr et al., 2017; Nathan, 2014; World Bank, 2018). However, and to the best of the author's knowledge, there is still a lack of comprehensive, qualitative, and quantitative studies to address current issues of immigration policies that allow technology professionals to come, settle, and flourish in the United States (Kahn and MacGarvie, 2020; Miguelez and Temgoua; 2020; Mosbah et al., 2018; Weinar, 2020). Addressing these gaps will shed new light on the field of immigration policies.

This research aims to fill three research gaps identified during the literature review. These gaps are described as follows: 1. The impact of technology professional immigrants on innovation, patenting, diffusion, and generation of scientific and technical knowledge and their contributions to the United States is a topic that needs to receive more attention. The priority to better understand this topic is simply conducting more research (Bahar et al., 2020; Breschi et al., 2020; Ferrucci, 2020; Islam et al., 2017; Kerr et al., 2017a; Miguelez and Noumedem, 2020; Nathan, 2014; Parey et al., 2017; Xu, 2016).

2. U.S. immigration policies are out of step with the needs of today's innovative firms. Even though companies and employees have achieved innovation, entrepreneurship, and economic growth in the United States, improving these opportunities will enable the United States to remain a worldwide economic leader (USCIS, 2022a). Additional studies are needed to expand the body of knowledge (Born, 2019; Chacko and Price, 2021; Connor and Ruiz, 2019; Kandel, 2020; Kerr et al., 2017b; Kerr and Frederic, 2020; Yale-Loehr and Eason; 2020; Yeaple, 2018).

3. There is a lack of studies using Multi-Criteria Decision-Making methodologies to assess immigration policies (Czaika and Parsons, 2016; Nathan, 2014; Simon et al., 2018).

CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH OBJECTIVES, QUESTIONS, AND METHODOLOGY

The purpose of this chapter is to outline the framework for analyzing research gaps.

3.1 Research Objectives

In the previous chapter, research gaps in immigration policies for technology professionals were identified from the literature. There is a need to evaluate U.S. immigration policies comprehensively by following the principles of a multicriteria decision-making approach. According to scholars, the proposed research topic has not received enough attention (Bahar et al., 2020; Born, 2019; Breschi et al., 2020; Chacko and Price, 2021; Connor and Ruiz, 2019; Islam et al., 2017; Kandel, 2020; Kerr and Frederic, 2020; Kerr et al., 2017a; Kerr et al., 2017b; Miguelez and Noumedem, 2020; Parey et al., 2017; Xu, 2016; Yale-Loehr and Eason; 2020; Yeaple, 2018). After identifying the gaps found in the literature review, it is essential to set up the objectives of this study.

Since research results are ultimately meant to be applied, it is critical to understand how this research can be most effectively used. Therefore, the general objective of this research is to develop a score model based on a comprehensive approach to address current U.S. immigration policy issues. Decision makers will use the score model to identify current U.S. immigration issues related to technology professionals and how these issues can be solved. Thus, the goals of this study are:

- 1. Identify the factors that boost the innovation of technology-professional immigrants in the United States.
- 2. Identify the factors to develop immigration policies and,

3. Suggestions to resolve complexities and inefficiencies in U.S. immigration policies.

By doing that, the general objective can be achieved, which is to propose a hierarchical decision model to evaluate immigration policies for technology professionals to boost economic growth and innovation and wellbeing of technology professionals.

3.2 Research Questions

The identified research gaps lead to the proposal of the following: (1) the research objective and (2) the research questions (see Table 6).

Research Gap	Research Objective	Research Questions	Approach
Gap 1: Lack of studies integrating factors related to technology professional immigrants in the United States. Instead, current studies focused on the economic benefits of technology professionals to host countries. Gap 2: Lack of studies on immigration policy-based assessments	Evaluation of Immigration Legal Paths for Technology Professionals in the United States using a comprehensive decision-making model	RQ1: What are the criteria for evaluating the effectiveness of immigration policies in increasing the attraction and retention of technology professionals? RQ2: Which policy instrument does have the highest effect on accelerating the attraction and retention of technology professional immigration?	Hierarchical Decision Model
Gap 3: Lack of comprehensive multi-criteria decision-making models on technology professional immigration		RQ3: What are the levels and weights of criteria and sub- criteria associated with the attraction and retention of technology professional immigration?	

	Table 6.	Research	Gaps	from	the	Literature	Review
--	----------	----------	------	------	-----	------------	--------
Research Gaps

Based on *High-Skilled Immigration* studies and considering the benefits in host countries and the current political scenario in the United States, the gaps identified in the literature are as follows:

Gap 1 - Lack of studies integrating factors related to technology professional immigrants in the United States. Instead, current studies focused on the economic benefits of technology professionals to host countries. There need to be more studies about contributions to the innovation of technology professional immigrants in the United States. The literature emphasizes that the immigration of technology professionals to host countries has recently gained scholars' attention since this highly skilled population increases innovation and economic growth. Additionally, this topic has been studied more broadly from the perspectives of economics and society. Therefore, this study intends to fill this gap by integrating several factors such as technological, regulatory landscape, economic, political, and social (Bahar et al., 2020; Breschi et al., 2020; Ferruci, 2020; Islam et al., 2017; Kerr et al., 2017a; Miguelez and Noumedem, 2020; Nathan, 2014; Parey et al., 2017; Xu, 2016;).

Gap 2- Lack of studies on immigration policy-based assessments. The U.S. immigration policies are constantly changing, affecting the attraction and retention of technology professional immigrants. Scholars agree that U.S. policies are out of line with the necessities of tech companies. Although visa caps are continually upgrading, the shortage of skilled workers in the U.S. affects innovative firms' operations. Thus, there is a need for a study that proposes a methodology to assess current U.S. immigration policies

to boost the legal paths technology professional individuals have to immigrate to the United States (Born, 2019; Chacko and Price, 2021; Connor and Ruiz, 2019; Kandel, 2020; Kerr and Frederic, 2020; Kerr et al., 2017b; Yale-Loehr and Eason; 2020; Yeaple, 2018).

Gap 3 - Lack of studies using multi-criteria decision-making approaches. There is a lack of comprehensive multi-criteria decision-making models that evaluate immigration policies in the United States. This study aims to fill this gap by proposing a novel hierarchical decision model for policymakers who seek to create or upgrade immigration policies in the United States. This approach will develop a quantitative model, which will be later tested with case studies (Czaika and Parsons, 2016; Nathan, 2014; Simon et al., 2018).

Then, this study follows a research process that includes seven phases, further explained in the next sections (see Figure 12).



Figure 12. Research Process

Source: self- elaboration

3.3 Research Methodology

The main objective of this dissertation is to evaluate immigration policies and the factors that impact technology professional immigration to boost innovation in the United States. The alternatives that skilled individuals have to come to the United States are limited since these legal paths are employment-based. Therefore, to provide a comprehensive assessment, this study should use an approach that considers a whole set of perspectives. According to the proposed conceptual model, the relationship and interaction between the different levels influence the primary research objective. By conducting a systematic literature review, 21 attributes across five perspectives were identified and were used to build the research model. Hence, the hierarchical decision model (HDM) is selected as the approach to fulfill the objective of this research.

3.3.1 Hierarchical Decision Modeling (HDM)

HDM is a multi-criteria decision-making (MCDM) approach developed by Dundar F. Kocaoglu (Iskin and Daim, 2016). HDM is widely used in the field of MCDM methodologies. HDM helps with decision-making by breaking down complex problems into smaller sub-problems (see Fig. 13) and providing several decision alternatives (Iskin and Daim, 2016). The decision-making process is complex, and when multiple criteria take part, the process is even more complicated. Using tools, techniques, or methods to select the best possible solution is essential to making wiser decisions for technology managers and decision-makers (Osorio and Orejuela, 2008). Decision-making problems that engage several stakeholders can be managed using HDM, which provides essential information and reduces uncertainty for the decision-making group. Thus, the Hierarchical Decision Model (HDM) is a methodology used to analyze strategic decisions in a hierarchical structure (Shaygan and Daim, 2019). The HDM is a mathematical method created to evaluate alternatives when considering multi-criteria. Properly selecting the group of experts is crucial in assessing and validating the HDM. Therefore, the main objective of HDM is to formulate a consensus among the group of experts. The process begins with setting an objective. Then, the alternatives are evaluated by expert judgment, which is converted into numerical values by using pairwise comparisons. Finally, the most suitable option is chosen by incorporating qualitative and quantitative elements (Daim et al., 2018 b). Additionally, HDM can be used in a wide range of applications such as renewable energy (Sheikh, 2013), energy efficiency (Iskin, 2014), technology adoption (Hogaboam, 2018), project evaluation (Garces, 2020; Giadedi, 2020), technology assessment (Alshareef, 2017; Khalifa, 2019), policy adoption (Abotah, 2014), technological innovation (Chan, 2013), and technology transfer (Lavoie, 2019).



Figure 13. HDM Conceptual Framework

Source: Shaygan and Daim (2019)

HDM is built using pairwise comparison analysis. This method analyzes multiple means in pairs to determine if these values have considerable differences (Salkind, 2010). Pairwise comparison represents the number of decisions required from the experts. Equation 1 is used to calculate the pairwise comparison values:

$$PWC = \frac{n(n-1)}{2}$$
 where $n > 0$ Equation 1

PWC: Pairwise comparison n: Number of decision elements

Each comparison uses matrix analysis or linear algebra to examine the difference between a pair of mean values. Then, the pairwise comparison rates and ranks alternatives based on decision-making criteria. Since each criterion is assigned a numerical weight, the level of importance is based on its quantitative weight. Later, the pairwise comparison results are used to create the hierarchical decision model. Kocaoglu (2016) describes the HDM methodology as follows:

1. Completion of the pairwise comparison matrix: Two alternatives are evaluated simultaneously regarding their relative importance. The weights of each pair of criteria are derived from pairwise comparisons and split a 100 value between the options. As a result, HDM needs to make comparisons among objectives (level 1), criteria (level 2), sub-criteria (level 3), and alternatives (level 4).

2. Calculating the criteria weights. The weights of each pair of criteria are calculated in terms of the mean values. Each criterion has a final objective of achieving a value between 0 and 1.

3. Assessment of the consistency matrix. A final score for each alternative is given based on the results from the matrix. Therefore, the HDM shall target the values of disagreement (0.1) and inconsistency (0.1). These values support robustness and should be included in the final model (Daim et al., 2018 b).

As mentioned earlier, several Multi-Criteria Decision-Making methodologies have common elements, such as the use of pairwise comparison, the participation of experts in the research process, the decision-making framework, and anticipated changes in the future. The central important aspect is reducing uncertainty among decision-makers. Using other Multi-Criteria Decision-Making methodologies is a pragmatic approach that avoids further challenges for this research, such as learning new software and getting familiar with the methodology guidelines.

Disagreement Test

The intraclass correlation coefficient obtains the HDM disagreement value among expert judgments. This coefficient describes the degree to which the total number of experts agree on the relative importance of n subjects (Phan, 2013; Phan, and Kocaoglu, 2014). Equation 2 is used to calculate the coefficient of intraclass correlation:

$$r_{ic} = \frac{MS_{BS} - MS_{res}}{MS_{BS} + (k-1)MS_{res} + k/n(MS_{BJ} - MS_{res})} Equation 2$$

55

ric: Coefficient of intraclass correlation

MSBJ: Mean square between experts,

MSBS: Mean square between decision elements,

MSres: Mean square residual,

k: Number of experts,

n: Number of decision elements,

The coefficient of intraclass correlation should be between 0 and 1. If the coefficient is close to 0, there is absolute agreement among experts. On the other side, the closer the coefficient is to 1, the higher the level of disagreement is (Phan, 2013). In short, acceptable disagreement has a value of 0.1 or less (Estep, 2017). According to Estep (2017), if the disagreement value is unacceptable, the researcher needs to do a follow-up to solve this issue. The disagreement can be explained because the experts did not understand/follow instructions correctly or did not complete/do the pairwise comparisons correctly. The researcher must identify the root cause of the disagreement and fix it to move forward with the study.

Inconsistency Test

Inconsistency can be defined as the disagreement between one or more individual evaluations (Estep, 2017). Inconsistency values are calculated through the Root Sum of the Variance using Equation 3:

$$RSV = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (ri - rij)^2}$$
 Equation 3

RSV: Root Sum of the Variance

 \overline{r} i: mean relative value of the ith element for that expert

rij: relative value of the ith element in the jth orientation for an expertn: Number of decision elements,

For the Hierarchical Decision Model (HDM), inconsistency values are fundamental to validate expert judgment quantification and are calculated using a variance-based approach (Abbas, 2016). Cleland and Kocaoglu recommend an inconsistency value below a limit of 0.10 to consider the inconsistency value reliable (Cleland and Kocaoglu, 1981). Since the HDM software calculates the individual inconsistency value of each expert, it considers two inconsistency measures: (1) ordinal inconsistency and (2) cardinal inconsistency. Ordinal inconsistency is calculated in order of preference, while cardinal inconsistency is calculated based on the relative degree of preference (Abbas, 2016). If inconsistency values violate the test value (below 0.10), it can be more challenging to fix. After processing the data, the researcher must evaluate the inconsistent values generated from expert judgment. If one or more values exceed 0.10, the expert (s) must resubmit their judgment quantification. The researcher should kindly explain the inconsistency threshold to the expert (s) and invite them to resubmit their judgment. If the expert (s) do not complete the pairwise comparisons correctly, it will result in creating inconsistency values above the threshold (<0.10).

Data Collection

The data used in this research will be collected according to the HDM process (Garces, 2020; Lavoie, 2019; Phan, 2013). Therefore, the HDM creation process is described as follows: (1) literature review data collection, (2) development of the initial

HDM, (3) validation and quantification of the HDM, (4) analysis of the results, and (5) discussion and conclusion of findings. In the last stage, a final literature review is suggested to compare the findings with similar academic publications. Additionally, policymakers and experts can use the model to recommend immigration policy updates.

Expert Identification and Panel Selection

Experts suggest that Multi-Criteria Decision-Making methods deal with three types of problems: (1) choice, (2) ranking, and (3) sorting (Arandarenko et al., 2020). Considering expert choice as one of the main problems, forming the panel of experts represents a challenge since their judgment will be critical to the research objective. The panel of experts will evaluate a set of criteria, sub-criteria, and alternatives according to their area of expertise. For this reason, selecting experts is a critical task that will ensure the research's success. Therefore, Social Network Analysis technique is used for panel selection (Garces, 2020). Additionally, experts will be invited to participate in this research at the suggestion of the dissertation committee and professional LinkedIn contacts.

Further issues forming an expert panel are willingness to participate, response delay, and time commitment. Participation as an expert is entirely voluntary. There is no obligation to complete the whole set of activities. The experts can participate in one or more activities during the validation or quantification phase. The researcher plays a crucial role in engaging all the experts to increase expert participation. Although experts positively express interest in participating, their activities can overlap the research dates. It would take more work for experts to complete the activities on time. Every research project should include a literature review that begins with identifying relevant keywords (Tranfield et al., 2003). Then, identifying experts is the next activity, which will involve selecting the most current literature on the research topic "Immigration Policy Evaluation for Technology Professionals." In the initial research phase, bibliometrics is used for several purposes, such as for ideas, projects, data gathering, and documentation, which are closely interconnected (Andersen, 2018). Thus, a Bibliometric Social Network Analysis (SNA) is used to identify the most relevant literature and expert identification. SNA is used to develop a two-mode network and analyze elements from any field or area of study (Gibson et al., 2018; Jones, 2016;). Bibliometrics, also known as scientometrics, quantitatively evaluates scientific publications and searches for the number of articles, journals, published articles, and citations (Jones, 2016). Also, it helps to create citation statistics every time one author cites another in their research publications (Andersen, 2018). These methods are used for patent analysis, mining, and citation analysis (Behkami and Daim, 2012; Daim et al., 2018 a).

Several academic databases can be used to search for scientific papers or citations. These databases include Web of Knowledge, Scopus, Google Scholar, and Web of Sciences (Toom, 2018). Data from Scopus is retrieved since it is one of the two largest database libraries for technology intelligence analysis and helps provide disciplinary classification methods (Calof et al., 2022; Dwivedi et al., 2023; Roca, 2022). The Scopus data is used to perform a SNA (see Figure. 14) using the powerful software VOSviewer, version 1.6.18 (Van Eck and Waltman, 2010) to create a beginner-friendly map based on bibliographic data (Roca, 2022). The SNA can recreate a map based on bibliographic data using circles or frame representation. This map suggests two main assertions: (1) networks of co-authorship relations between researchers and (2) networks of co-occurrence relations between keywords obtained from frequency and centrality (Van Eck and Waltman, 2014).



Figure 14. Social Network Map by Authors

Source: self-elaborated using VOSviewer

The SNA process is described as follows:

1) Search for keywords on the Scopus database "High-skilled," "Migrants,"

"US," "innovation," "STEM," and "Employment."

2) Search for results under Scopus and Web of Sciences.

- Select the items that fit the research, such as "authors," "organizations,"
 "countries," and so on.
- 4) Export the results into a CVS file to analyze later using the software.
- 5) Open the VOS Viewer software.
- 6) Read data from database files (Scopus).
- 7) Choose data.
- 8) Select Co-Authorship / Unit of analysis: Authors.
- Criteria: Minimum number of documents (2 publications) 156 authors identified.
- 10) Save the results.

The keyword search shows 934 documents from 2012 to 2022, including at least one keyword in the paper's title, abstract, or keyword section (see Table 7).

Results	Keywords
Scopus	[TITLE-ABS-KEY (high-skilled) AND TITLE-ABS-KEY (immigrants
Time Span: 2012-2022	OR stem OR US OR innovation OR employment)]
Scholarly data	

Table 7. Keyword Search in Scopus

Among other details, the keyword search shows author names, subject areas, document types, source titles, publication stage, keywords, affiliations, countries or territories, source types, and languages. This information helps identify trends, lead publishers, country of origin, and author identification. The SNA identified this topic's prominent authors based on the number of articles and citations in Scopus (see Table 8). Additional criteria to include authors are: (1) having at least a minimum number of papers >two and (2) a minimum number of citations >50. However, this criterion does not apply to all experts.

Panel Expert Affiliation		Type of Work	Sector	
	Expert 1	Pew Research Center	Director	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 2	U.S. Department of Homeland Security	Managerial	Government
	Expert 3	Miller Mayer, LLP	Lawyer	Industry
	Expert 4	U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Service	Managerial	Government
	Expert 5	U.S. Department of Homeland Security	Managerial	Government
Taskaslasiasl	Expert 6	University of South Florida	Professor	Academia
i ecnnological	Expert 7	Cato Institute	Director	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 8	U.S. Department of Homeland Security	Managerial	Government
	Expert 9	Pew Research Center	Researcher	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 10	Migration Policy Institute	Managerial	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 11	U.S. Department of Homeland Security	Managerial	Government
	Expert 12	Pew Research Center	Director	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 13	Cornell Law School	Professor	Academia
	Expert 14	ASML	Human Resources	Industry
	Expert 15	University of Notre Dame	Professor	Academia
Regulatory	Expert 16	Princeton School of Public and International Affairs	Professor	Academia
Lanuscape	Expert 17	Intel	Director	Industry
	Expert 18	Cornell Law School	Professor	Academia
	Expert 19	University of California, San Diego	Professor	Academia
	Expert 20	Donau-Universitat Krems, Austria.	Professor	Academia

Table 8.	Expert	Identification	Panel
----------	--------	----------------	-------

	Expert 21	Migration Policy	Director	Non-governmental
		Institute		organization
	Expert 22	University of Michigan	Professor	Academia
	Expert 23	Harvard Business School	Professor	Academia
	Expert 24	Lam Research	Human Resources	Industry
	Expert 25	Harvard Kennedy School	Professor	Academia
	Expert 26	University of California, Berkeley	Professor	Academia
	Expert 27	Université de Bordeaux	Researcher	Academia
	Expert 28	Hewlett Packard	Managerial	Industry
	Expert 29	SHPE	Director	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 30	ITESM	Professor	Academia
Economic	Expert 31	Harvard Business School	Professor	Academia
	Expert 32	The University of Oxford, Centre on Migration, Oxford, United Kingdom	Professor	Academia
	Expert 33	The University of Oxford, Centre on Migration, Oxford, United Kingdom	Professor	Academia
	Expert 34	Migration Policy Institute	Director	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 35	Institute for Economic Research	Researcher	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 36	Institute of Labor Economics	Researcher	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 37	Harvard Kennedy School	Professor	Academia
	Expert 38	Intel	Managerial	Industry
	Expert 39	Boston University	Researcher	Academia
Social	Expert 40	OECD	Analyst	Non-governmental organization
Social	Expert 41	Morgan State University	Professor	Academia
	Expert 42	Institute of Labor Economics	Researcher	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 43	Center for Research and Analysis of Migration	Researcher	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 44	George Washington University	Professor	Academia

	Expert 45	Institute of Economic and Social Research	Researcher	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 46	OECD	Researcher	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 47	World Development	Professor	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 48	National Foundation for American Policy	Director	Non-governmental organization
Guidelines (before validation)	Expert 49	Pew Research Center	Researcher	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 50	Migration Policy Institute	Analyst	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 51	Webber Law Firm	Attorney	Industry
	Expert 52	Business Immigration Attorney	Attorney	Industry
	Expert 53	MIT Sloan School of Management	Professor	Academia
	Expert 54	National Foundation for American Policy	Researcher	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 55	Berry Appleman & Leiden	Lawyer	Industry
	Expert 56	Congressional Office	Managerial	Government
	Expert 57	Pew Research Center	Researcher	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 58	Congressional Office	Managerial	Government
	Expert 59	National Foundation for American Policy	Lawyer	Non-governmental organization
	Expert 60	National Bureau of Economic Research	Researcher	Non-governmental organization

The Social Network Analysis also suggests a list of potential organizations where the researcher can seek additional resources (see Tables 9 and 10). The main criteria used to rank the organizations is the number of citations.

Table 9. Organizations from Panel Identification

#	Organization	Country	Documents	Citations	Total Link Strength
1	University of Oxford	United Kingdom	5	342	10
2	University of Michigan	United States	1	264	0

3	Macarthur Foundation	United States	2	208	4
4	World Bank	United States	4	190	8
5	Department of Policy Studies	United States	1	170	2
6	University of California, Davis	United States	5	152	8
7	Department of Geography	United States	2	135	2
8	National Bureau of Economic Research	United States	1	129	2
9	Berkeley roundtable	United States	1	127	3
10	Scheller College of Business, Georgia	United States	1	127	3
11	NBER	United States	3	113	27
12	Institute of Labor Economics	Germany	14	225	17
13	Cesifo	Germany	5	32	19
14	London School of Economics	United Kingdom	3	64	6
15	University of Sidney	Australia	3	43	1
16	Migration and Globalization	Austria	3	30	1
17	World Intellectual Property	Switzerland	3	5	1

Additional organizations to look for collaborations are shown in the following table.

#	Organization	Country
19	Congressional Research Service	United States
20	National Science Foundation	United States
21	American Immigration Council	United States
22	FWD	United States
23	Pew Research Center	United States
24	Department of State	United States
25	U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services	United States
26	Office of Congress	United States

27	Department of Homeland Security	United States
28	Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development	France
29	United Nations	United States
30	Macarthur Foundation	United States
31	Department of Policy Studies	United States
32	Department of Geography	United States
32	Scheller College of Business, Georgia	United States

The panel of experts will be designed, but not limited by, using the results of the Social Network Analysis. Additionally, other resources to invite experts will be (1) researcher personal connections, (2) committee recommendations, and (3) LinkedIn experts.

CHAPTER 4. DEVELOPMENT OF THE RESEARCH MODEL

This chapter describes the criteria for the selection of experts and panel formation. Additionally, there is an explanation of the research process, including validation of the initial model, expert judgment quantification, and a description of the research tools (see Appendices A through F).

4.1 Expert Panel Formation

Since this study follows a multicriteria decision-making methodology, the judgment of experts is critical to successfully identify the main perspectives and attributes helpful to solving the research problem. Considering the challenges and limitations explained in the previous chapter, seven panels were formed that included 60 experts. The panels were created according to the area of knowledge of each expert. It is noted that some experts participated in one or more panels.

One of the main barriers to this research is expert engagement and willingness to complete all activities since expert participation is voluntary. Additionally, the engagement of experts identified through the Social Network Analysis results could have been much higher. Most of the experts that participated in this research were found on LinkedIn, and through connections with professionals working in some vein with U.S. immigration policy.

To increase the likelihood of success, the NSF established guidelines for the selection of experts while conducting research, which include:

• Remarkable knowledge of the science and engineering subfields involved in the research.

- More generalized knowledge of the science and engineering subfields involved in the research.
- Broad knowledge of the infrastructure of science and engineering research and its educational activities to evaluate contributions to societal goals, scientific and engineering personnel, and
- To the extent possible, diverse representation within the review group balances various characteristics such as organization represented, reviewer diversity, age distribution, geographic balance, and immigration status (The National Science Foundation, 2018).

Furthermore, Estep (2017) recommends key attributes that experts must possess to qualify for this type of research, such as having an advanced degree, the quality of their research, having meaningful publications and patents, demonstrating work evidence within the area of study, receiving relevant awards, and playing a pivotal role with society memberships or organizations.

Following the above criteria for expert selection, the panels were formed to validate and quantify the research model (see Table 11). The panels include experts from the immigration policy area, industry, research labs, and universities. Experts from Panel P_0 validated the initial Hierarchical Decision Model built through an extensive literature review. The experts were selected based on their expertise in U.S. immigration policies. Panel P_1 was formed to quantify the criteria level of the Hierarchical Decision Model, where most selected experts have at least senior-level positions within their organizations.

Panels P_2 through P_6 quantified the third level of the Hierarchical Decision Model, also identified as a sub-criteria and the alternatives.

Panel	Panel Focus	Data Collection Tool
P ₀	Model Validation	Qualtrics [®] survey software
P ₁	Criteria Level Quantification	HDM Software
P ₂	Technological Quantification	HDM Software
P ₃	Regulatory Landscape Quantification	HDM Software
P ₄	Economic Quantification	HDM Software
P5	Political Interpretation and Proposals Quantification	HDM Software
P ₆	Social	HDM Software

Table 11. Summary of Expert Panels

Every expert was initially contacted via email or LinkedIn to invite them to participate in this research (see Appendix A). Estep (2017) recommends having in-person, phone, or virtual meetings to explain the role of experts while participating in the research. Therefore, a 20-minute virtual meeting was offered to experts, using the Zoom® software: Version 5.15.10 (Zoom Video Communications Inc, 2023) to describe the research objective and approach and to clarify any additional questions with the goal to meet the inconsistency and disagreement values. Table 12 describes the expert panels, their backgrounds, and affiliations.

Table 12. Expert Panels

Expert	Background	P ₀	P ₁	P ₂	P ₃	P ₄	P ₅	P ₆
Expert 1	Industry Analyst, Industry	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		
Expert 2	Immigration Lawyer, Paralegal	\checkmark						
Expert 3	Full-Time Professor, University	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
Expert 4	Full-Time Professor, University	\checkmark		\checkmark				
Expert 5	Immigration Lawyer, Paralegal	√		\checkmark				

Expert 6	Immigration Lawyer, Paralegal	√	1	1				
Expert 7	Strategy Manager, Industry					√		
Expert 8	LTD Industrial Engineer, Industry	J	•	J				
Expert 9	Senior Manufacturing Engineer, Industry	-	\checkmark	√				
Expert 10	Executive Director & Cofounder, NGO		√					
Expert 11	Systems Application Analyst, Industry		√	\checkmark				
Expert 12	SAP Product Manager, Industry			1				
Expert 13	Senior Project Engineer, Industry	\checkmark	1					
Expert 14	Mechanical Engineer, Industry			\checkmark				
Expert 15	Senior Statistical Analyst, Industry			\checkmark				\checkmark
Expert 16	Director, Research & Innovation, NGO	\checkmark	1					
Expert 17	Immigration Lawyer, Paralegal				√			
Expert 18	International Student Specialist, University	\checkmark	~		√			
Expert 19	Immigration Lawyer, Paralegal	\checkmark			√			
Expert 20	Director of International Student Office, University	√	√					
Expert 21	Director, Immigration Services, University	√	√		~		\checkmark	
Expert 22	Graduate International Student, University	\checkmark	\checkmark		√			√
Expert 23	UX Designer & Movie Director, Industry	\checkmark	√		√			
Expert 24	Associate Director ISSS, NGO	\checkmark	✓		\checkmark		\checkmark	
Expert 25	Business Immigration Attorney, Paralegal				✓			
Expert 26	Policymaker & Immigration Specialist, NGO		√		√			
Expert 27	Business Immigration Attorney, Paralegal	\checkmark	√			√		
Expert 28	Full-Time Professor, University	\checkmark	\checkmark					
Expert 29	Business Analyst, Industry	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		
Expert 30	Full-Time Professor, University	\checkmark						
Expert 31	Senior Manager Immigration Services, NGO	\checkmark	√			√	1	
Expert 32	Full-Time Professor, University					\checkmark		
Expert 33	Technology Journalist, Media							
Expert 34	System Engineering Expert, Industry			\checkmark		√		
Expert 35	New Americans Job Coach, NGO		\checkmark			\checkmark		
Expert 36	Public Relationship & Marketing, Industry					√		
Expert 37	Financial Analyst, Industry					\checkmark		
Expert 38		\checkmark						
Expert 39	Immigration Attorney, Paralegal	\checkmark						
Expert 40	Immigration Writer, Paralegal				\checkmark		\checkmark	
Expert 41	Immigration Attorney, Paralegal	\checkmark						
Expert 42	Immigration Attorney, Paralegal						\checkmark	

	TOTAL	28	23	13	11	10	12	12
	Industry							
Expert 60	Instructive Innovation Technician,							\checkmark
Expert 59	xpert 59 Accounting Intern, Industry							\checkmark
Expert 58	Expert 58 Ph.D. International Student, University							\checkmark
Expert 57	CRM Support Engineer, Industry							\checkmark
	University							
Expert 56	International Student Advisor,		\checkmark					\checkmark
Expert 55	Principal Product Manager, Industry	\checkmark						\checkmark
Expert 54	Robotics Project Engineer, Industry							\checkmark
Expert 53	Policy and Advocacy Manager, NGO	\checkmark					\checkmark	\checkmark
Expert 52	Career Coach	\checkmark						
	University							
Expert 51	Coordinator Intercultural Affairs,	\checkmark						\checkmark
Expert 50	Executive Director, NGO		\checkmark					\checkmark
Expert 49	Immigration Specialist, Paralegal						\checkmark	
	University							
Expert 48	International Student Advisor,						\checkmark	
Expert 47	Public Policy Director, NGO						\checkmark	
Expert 46	Autonomous Technical Specialist, Industry						~	
Expert 45	Subscription Platform Expert, Industry						\checkmark	
Expert 44	Immigration Advisor, Paralegal						\checkmark	
Expert 43	Operations Manager, Industry	\checkmark						

4.2 Conceptual Hierarchical Decision Model

The initial Hierarchical Decision Model (see Figure 15) is a four-level model based on a literature review, which includes (1) objective, (2) criteria, (3) sub-criteria, and (4) outcomes. The criteria level encompasses five immigration policy attributes: Technological, Regulatory Landscape, Economic, Guidelines (before validation), and Social. Then, each criterion grouped its corresponding sub-criteria. Lastly, the suggested alternatives are the options for technology professional immigrants to relocate to the United States. Policy and Decision makers can use this model when developing or upgrading immigration policies.

4.2.1 Mission Level

The objective of this research is included at the mission level, which is to develop a technological assessment model for immigration policies. Therefore, the HDM can be used to design or upgrade immigration policies in the United States. The HDM model will be validated with a sensitivity case analysis. Even though this model focuses on U.S. immigration policies, the model can be customized for other governments and countries with employment-based policies, such as point-based immigration programs.



Figure 15. Initial Hierarchical Decision Model

Source: self-elaborated based on Literature Review

4.2.2 Criteria Level

The five criteria included in the HDM were identified after conducting a systematic literature review. Each criterion is described below:

- The Technological criterion encompass the management, processing, and authorization of applications of technology professional immigrants by upgrading technological capabilities that the U.S. Government is responsible for managing through the United States Citizenship and Immigration Services agency. By upgrading these capabilities, the U.S. Government will be able to improve the process of the applications of technology to professional immigrants (Demig Policy, 2015; Hunt and Gauthier-Loiselle, 2010; Parey et al., 2017; USCIS, 2019; USCIS, 2022c).
- The Regulatory Landscape criterion set the ground for attracting, selecting, and retaining technology professional immigrants in the United States. It also ensures that technology-skilled immigrants have the same rights as U.S. citizens but also the opportunity to extend their stay or obtain permanent residence (Demig Policy, 2015; Hunt and Gauthier-Loiselle, 2010; Parey et al., 2017; USCIS, 2019; USCIS, 2022b).
- The Economic criterion incorporate micro and macroeconomic aspects to benefit the U. S economy through the contributions of technology professional immigrants. The suggested economic benefits for the U.S. economy are fees, taxes, and the financial value of the innovations made by technology professional immigrants (Czaika and Parsons, 2015; Demig Policy, 2015; Duncan and

74

Waldorf, 2010; Ferrucci, 2020; Kandel, 2020; Melo et al, 2014; Ruyssen et al., 2017; Schotel, 2012; Simon et al., 2018; USCIS, 2019; Yale-Loehr and Eason, 2020).

- The Guidelines criterion, which was renamed as Political Interpretation and Proposal after validation, define priority proposals to eliminate/reduce current immigration issues for technology professionals and helps to identify the best profiles of technology professional immigrants who are willing to relocate to the United States with a lesser number of barriers (Czaika and Parsons, 2016; Duncan and Waldorf, 2010; Melo et al., 2014; Ruyssen et al., 2017; Schotel, 2012; Simon et al., 2018; USCIS, 2019; USCIS, 2022c; Yale- Loehr and Eason, 2020).
- Finally, the Social criterion help build community support for technology professionals with their relocation process to the United States. It ensures that technology professional immigrants have access to settlement policies to ease the adaptation to a new culture and increase the likelihood of positive contributions to the U.S. economy (Czaika and Parsons, 2016; Duncan and Waldorf, 2010; Ferruci et al., 2020; Kandel, 2020; Melo et al., 2014; Ruyssen et al., 2017; Schotel, 2012; Simon et al., 2018; USCIS 2019; Yale-Loehr and Eason, 2020;)

4.2.3. Sub-Criteria Level

Each criterion included in the HDM encompasses a set of sub-criteria. Table 13 describes the HDM sub-criteria associated with the research topic "Technology Professional Immigrants in the United States."

Criteria	Sub-criterion	Definitions for Model	References
Technological	Improving Technological Capabilities	Ensure compliance of applications with government regulations.	(CRS, 2018; Gelb and Krishnan, 2018; Reinsch and Denamiel, 2023; USCIS, 2019; USCIS; 2022c; Zielinski, 2020)
	Digital Transformation of Application Processes	Accelerate the application process to adopt digital transformation strategies.	(Hunt and Gauthier-Loiselle, 2010; U.S. Government Accountability Office, 2007; USCIS, 2019; USCIS, 2022c; US Department of Homeland Security, 2019)
	Increase Security Features for Applicants	Improve the security features of online applications, physical applications, and checkpoint entrees.	(Buresh, 2021; Poster, 2022; USCIS, 2019; U.S. Department of Homeland Security, 2020; U.S. Department of Homeland Security, 2023)
	Labor Conditions	Design of policies to ensure the labor conditions of technology professional immigrants match those of native workers.	(Czaika and De Haas, 2013; Macaluso, 2022; Perez, 2015; Romer, 1990)
Regulatory Landscape	Fluctuation of Caps/Limits	Economic growth and labor market conditions will determine the cap of LPR cards/visas available each fiscal year for technology professional immigrants.	(Borjas et al., 2019; Kandel et al., 2022; Kerr and Kerr, 2020)
	Adapt Industry Necessities	Agile bureaucracy will update regulatory instruments to align the objectives of industry necessities.	(Aydemir, 2020; Borjas, 2000; Kandel et al., 2022; Yeaple, 2018)

Table 13. Sub-Criteria Description

	Ease Lawful Permanente Resident Status (LPR)	Ease of the pathway to LPR of technology professional individuals, STEM professionals, Ph.Ds. Graduated from U.S. universities who have lived/worked at least five years in the U.S.	(Anderson, 2011; Kandel et al., 2022)
	Raising and Balance Immigration Levels	Immigration of technology professionals will increment annually and redistribute the per- country ceiling (7% per country).	(Born, 2019; Kandel et al., 2022)
	Fee Applications	Visa fees and costs for education and employment authorizations.	(Kandel et al., 2022; Moynihan et al., 2022; Simpson, 2022)
	Competitive Wages	The differential income between the home country and the host country.	(Anderson, 2021; Moynihan et al., 2022; Papademetriou et al., 2009)
Economic	Value of Contributions	Define the value of contributions of technology professional immigration towards innovation, U.S. economic growth, and the labor market.	(Blau and Mackie, 2017; Burchardi et al., 2020; Hanson and Slaughter, 2016; Kandel et al., 2022)
	Actively Engagement	Define the level of participation of technology professional immigration to measure the value of economic/knowledge contribution.	(CRS, 2021; Hiebert, 2019;)
	Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demands	Yearly adjustment of technology professional immigration targets to meet the country's economic demands.	(Hawthorne, 2014; Kandel et al., 2022; Lofgren, 2021)
Guidelines	Increase Immigration Selectivity	Make the eligibility criteria of technology professional immigrants more selective for LPR cards/ visas.	(Anderson, 2021; Kandel et al., 2022; Matloff, 2013; Papademetriou et al., 2019)
	Hybrid System for Dual Selection and Verification	A combination of a point-based system and current U.S. employment-based system to	(Gest, 2020; Kandel et al., 2022;

		improve the scores of labor demand.	Holtz-Eakin and Varas, 2019;)
	Backlog Reduction	Improve agencies' resources to reduce waiting time because of administrative processing.	(Kandel 2020; Kandel et al., 2022)
	Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas	Ensure the distribution of LPR cards and employment-based visas based on occupation.	(Bier, 2020; Kandel 2020, Kandel et al., 2022; USCIS, 2022c)
	High-Quality Education	Improve the ability of institutions to offer specialized education to high-skilled immigrants.	(Connor and Ruiz, 2019; Desjardins, 2019; Int. Labour Office, 2010; Rho and Sanders, 2021; Weinar and von Koppenfels, 2020b)
Social	High-Quality Training	Developing and continual improvement of skills offered to high-skilled immigrants.	(Insight, 2020; Kerr et alt., 2014; Papademetriou and Sumption, 2013; Zients, 2014)
	Increase Immigration Acceptance	Public support of the native population toward high-skilled immigration.	(Connor and Ruiz, 2019; Perez, 2015; Weina and Klekowski von Koppenfels., 2020 a)

4.2.4. Alternative Level

U.S. Visas are legal documents allowing individuals to travel to a port of entry, airport, or land border crossing requesting access to the United States (U.S. Department of State, 2024). U.S. Federal Agencies Department of Homeland Security (DHS) and Customs and Border Protection (CBP) will determine the authorization to access U.S. territory. The U.S. Federal Government can achieve the aim of its immigration policies by controlling the visa process (Cornell Law School, 2024). Then, the following visas

(see Table 14) are the alternatives included in the HDM model: Permanent Residence (intent), H-1B, O-1, L-1 (dual intent), and F-1 STEM OPT (non-immigration).

Alternative	Description	References
Permanent residence	Permanent resident cards are for employment reasons (EB-1) category for immigrants with extraordinary abilities and for individuals that hold advanced degrees (EB-2).	
H-1B visa	H-1B offers temporary visas for workers in specialty occupations, and H-1B2 for researchers and development project workers.	(Borjas, 2019; USCIS, 2022c; U.S. Department
O-1 visa	O-1 visa provides work authorization to individuals with extraordinary abilities in areas such as science, art, athletics, education, and business.	of Homeland Security, 2020; Yeaple, 2018)
F-1 STEM OPT visa	F-1 STEM OPT visa provides work authorization permits to recent graduates from STEM programs to work up to 36 months without work sponsorship.	
L-1 visa	L-1 offers intra-company transfers for executives and managers employed by international firms.	

Table 14. Alternative Description

4.3 Data Collection

After having the proposal HDM model, the next step is to collect data through a Qualtrics® survey software Version: XM 2023 (Qualtrics software, 2023) and Hierarchical Decision Model Software® Version: Beta 2.0 (ETM, 2016). Table 15 describes the HDM activities and an estimated time that experts need to be committed to while participating in this study. Email invitations were sent to experts to validate and quantify the model (see Appendices B through E).

Table 15. Activities and Time Commitment for Validation and Quantification for the HDM Model

Activity	Task	Tool	Time Commitment
Activity 1	Validation of Model's Criteria	Qualtrics®	5 minutes
		survey software	

Activity 2	Validation of Model's Sub-Criteria:	Qualtrics®	10 minutes
		survey software	
Activity 4	Quantification of Model's Criteria:	HDM software	5 minutes
Activity 5	Quantification of Model's Sub-Criteria	HDM software	20 to 25 minutes

CHAPTER 5. RESULTS OF MODEL VALIDATION

This chapter aims to validate and analyze the judgment from experts in the field of U.S. immigration policies collected by the Hierarchical Decision Software Version 2.0 (ETM, 2016). By using pairwise comparisons, all experts quantified the model. As a result, the following model is presented with the values of the criteria, sub-criteria, and alternatives. Besides, inconsistency and disagreements values between the experts that do not meet the threshold were examined using a cluster analysis.

5.1 Criteria Validation

Experts were invited to validate the model criteria shown in black.

5.1.1 Criteria Level

A total of 28 experts composed panel P0 and were invited to validate the criteria identified in the literature review. Table 16 below shows a summary of the expert panel responses.

Criteria		Agreed	Disagreed	Threshold	Decision
1	Technological	26	2	92.9 %	Included
2	Regulatory Landscape	27	1	96.4 %	Included
3	Economic	24	4	85.7 %	Included
4	Political Interpretation and	22	5	92 1 0/	Included
	Proposals	23	5	02.1 /0	Included
5	Social	25	3	89.3 %	Included

Table 16. Criteria Validation - Experts' Responses

These experts have senior careers and broad knowledge of U.S. immigration policies. The experts were asked if they agreed or disagreed with the identified factors in order to validate them: (1) Technological, (2) Regulatory Landscape, (3) Economic, (4) 81

Guidelines, and (5) Social. The data was gathered by using a Qualtrics® survey software Version: XM 2023 (Qualtrics software, 2023) as the Research Instrument (Appendix F). Previous research suggests that the minimum threshold for validation should be 67% or above to include each criterion within the final model (Estep, 2017; Garces, 2020). After validation, all five criteria were included in the final model. Notably, due to the experts' recommendations, criteria (4) Guidelines will now be titled as "Political Interpretation and Proposals."



Figure 16. Criteria Validation Results

5. 2 Sub-criteria Validation

5.2.1 Technological Sub-Criteria

The following panel was composed of fourteen experts who validated the Technological sub-criteria using the research instrument (Appendix F). All the Technological sub-criteria were accepted and included in the final model. Table 17 below shows a summary of the responses from the panel of experts.

	Sub-Criteria	Agreed	Disagreed	Threshold	Decision
1	Improving Technological Capabilities	12	2	85.71%	Included
2	Digital Transformation of Application Process	13	1	92.80%	Included
3	Increase Security Features for Applicants	12	2	85.71%	Included

Table 17. Technological Sub- Criteria Validation – Experts' Responses.



Figure 17. Technological Sub-Criteria Validation Results

5.2.2 Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria

Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status

Raising and Balance Immigration Levels

4

5

The Regulatory Landscape Expert panel was composed of sixteen experts who validated the sub-criteria using the research instrument (Appendix F). All the Regulatory Landscape sub-criteria were accepted and included in the final model. Table 18 below shows a summary of the expert panel responses.

Sub-Criteria Disagreed Threshold Decision Agreed 93.75 % 1 Labor Conditions 15 Included 1 2 Fluctuation of Caps/Limits 15 1 93.75 % Included 3 Adapt Industry Necessities 15 1 93.75 % Included

15

15

1

1

Table 18. Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria Validation - Experts' Responses

Included

Included

93.75 %

93.75 %



Figure 18. Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria Validation Results

5.2.3 Economic Sub-Criteria

The Economic Expert panel was composed of twelve experts who validated all subcriteria using the research instrument (Appendix F). All the Economic sub-criteria were accepted and included in the final model. Table 19 below shows a summary of the expert panel responses.

	Sub-Criteria	Agreed	Disagreed	Threshold	Decision
1	Fee Applications	9	3	75 %	Included
2	Competitive Wages	11	1	91.66 %	Included
3	Value of Contributions	10	2	83.33 %	Included
4	Actively Engagement	12	0	100 %	Included
5	Adjust Immigration Targets Based on	11	1	01 66 %	Included
	Economic Demands	11		91.00 70	mendded

Table 19. Economic Sub-Criteria Validation - Experts' Responses



Figure 19. Economic Sub-Criteria Validation Results

5.2.4 Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria

The Political Interpretation and Proposals Expert was composed of twelve experts who validated all sub-criteria using the research instrument (Appendix F). All the Political Interpretation and Proposals sub-criteria were accepted and included in the final model. Table 20 below shows a summary of the expert panel responses.

	Sub-Criteria	Agreed	Disagreed	Threshold	Decision
1	Level Immigration Selectivity	9	3	75 %	Included
2	Upgrade Type of Selection System	10	2	83.33 %	Included
3	Backlog Reduction	12	0	100 %	Included
4	Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas	8	4	67 %	Included

Table 20. Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria Validation - Experts' Responses


Figure 20. Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria Validation Results

5.2.5 Social Sub-Criteria

The Social Expert panel was composed of ten experts who validated all sub-criteria using the research instrument (Appendix F). All the Social sub-criteria were accepted and included in the final model. Table 21 below shows a summary of the expert panel responses.

	Sub-Criteria	Agreed	Disagreed	Threshold	Decision
1	High-Quality Education	8	2	80 %	Included
2	High-Quality Training	9	1	90 %	Included
3	Increase Immigration Acceptance	8	2	80 %	Included
4	Increase Immigration Welcoming,	0	1	00.%	Included
	Diversity, and Inclusion	2		30 70	mendded

Table 21. Social Sub-Criteria Validation - Experts' Responses



Figure 21. Social Sub-Criteria Validation Results

The model development process follows the activities in Table 11, Summary of Expert Panels. First, the experts of panel P0 validated and provided feedback using a "YES" or "NO" form, which was designed using the Qualtrics® survey software Version: XM 2023 (Qualtrics software, 2023). Moreover, the experts could comment on this form and provide additional feedback. After several iterations, the experts' feedback was carefully analyzed. The concepts and definitions from the model were adapted accordingly. The final model includes the criteria and sub-criteria, in which the acceptance rate was over 0.66 or 2/3 of positive responses. Recent dissertations using the Hierarchical Decision Modeling methodology suggest this acceptance rate. (Estep, 2017; Garces, 2020). The additional sub-criteria that experienced a name change (Guidelines to Political Interpretation & Proposals, Recruitment Modernization to Digital Transformation of Application Processes, Increase Security Features for Applicants to Increase National

Security Features for Applicants, Engagement in Economic Activities to Actively Engagement, Level Immigration Selectivity to Making Immigration Selectivity more Egalitarian) or are new additions to the model (Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion) are outlined in green (see Figure 22).



Figure 22. Final Hierarchical Decision Model

CHAPTER 6: RESULTS OF MODEL QUANTIFICATION

This chapter presents the results of the pairwise comparisons provided by the different expert panels. The experts from panels P1 to P6 agreed to participate in the model quantification phase. The experts were required to allocate 100 points between the two compared options to determine the weights of the criteria, sub-criteria, and alternatives of the proposed Hierarchical Decision Model. Depending on the panel, experts shared their judgment based on how important the compared elements were concerning the model's objective. The Hierarchical Decision Model Software® Version: Beta 2.0 (ETM, 2016) collected the data to calculate local weights, inconsistency, and disagreement values.

All inconsistency and disagreement values below the threshold of 0.1 are termed acceptable. Disagreement values above the threshold should be treated following cluster analysis techniques by organizing items into subgroups. According to Garces (2020), inconsistency values below 0.1 are considered acceptable results, and no F-test verification is needed. Additional studies found that the F-test fails to explain the relation between the variance and identical values obtained from the pairwise comparison. Therefore, since the Hierarchical Decision Model methodology does not depend on statistical methods, the data might not be normally distributed (Garces, 2020).

6.1 Criteria Level Quantification

The experts from panel P1 weighted and prioritized a set of criteria (Technological, Regulatory Landscape, Economic, Political Interpretation and Proposals, and Social) concerning the HDM mission (Evaluation of Immigration Legal Paths for Technology Professionals in the United States). There were twenty-three experts in Panel P1. A general assessment of criteria results suggests that all five criteria contribute evenly to the HDM objective. These values are shown, in descending order, as follows: Regulatory Landscape 0.22, Social 0.21, Economic 0.2, Technological 0.19, and Political Interpretation and Proposals 0.18. Table 22 shows the statistical mean values for each criterion's relative importance.

Expert	Technological	Regulatory Landscape	Economic	Political Interpretati and Propos	on als	Social	Inconsistency
Expert 1	0.28	0.16	0.22	0.11		0.22	0
Expert 3	0.23	0.2	0.18	0.17		0.22	0.02
Expert 6	0.27	0.12	0.35	0.15		0.12	0.03
Expert 7	0.1	0.32	0.21	0.17		0.2	0.08
Expert 9	0.09	0.18	0.23	0.21		0.29	0.05
Expert 10	0.1	0.37	0.07	0.2		0.26	0.01
Expert 11	0.17	0.2	0.23	0.17		0.23	0.04
Expert 13	0.32	0.18	0.24	0.09		0.16	0.04
Expert 16	0.07	0.16	0.1	0.1		0.57	0.01
Expert 18	0.05	0.53	0.06	0.32		0.04	0.01
Expert 20	0.36	0.1	0.29	0.12		0.13	0.01
Expert 21	0.11	0.38	0.14	0.27		0.09	0.04
Expert 22	0.11	0.16	0.23	0.26		0.24	0.01
Expert 23	0.09	0.17	0.11	0.41		0.21	0.09
Expert 24	0.15	0.27	0.2	0.2		0.18	0.03
Expert 26	0.18	0.14	0.21	0.17		0.3	0.01
Expert 27	0.4	0.1	0.23	0.14		0.14	0
Expert 28	0.27	0.17	0.21	0.18		0.17	0.02
Expert 29	0.43	0.11	0.3	0.06		0.1	0.03
Expert 31	0.18	0.2	0.18	0.21		0.23	0.02
Expert 35	0.27	0.27	0.27	0.09		0.09	0.01
Expert 50	0.07	0.35	0.19	0.09		0.29	0.03
Expert 56	0.15	0.21	0.22	0.18		0.24	0.04
Mean	0.19	0.22	0.2	0.18		0.21	
Std Dev	0.11	0.11	0.07	0.08		0.1	
				Disagreem	ent		0.082
Source of Variation		Sum of Square	Degrees of F	reedom	Mea	n Square	F-Test Value

Table 22. Criteria Level Quantification

91

Between Subjects	0.02	4	0.006	0.5
Between Conditions	0	22	0	
Residual	1.04	88	0.012	
Total	1.06	114		
Critical F value with degrees	s of freedom 3 & 30) at 0.01 level:	·	3.54
Critical F value with degrees	s of freedom 3 & 30) at 0.025 level:		2.93
Critical F value with degrees	2.48			
Critical F value with degrees	s of freedom 3 & 30) at 0.1 level:		2.01



Figure 23. Relative Importance of Criteria

Expert panel P1 considered the Regulatory Landscape as the top criterion (0.22), followed by Social (0.21), Economic (0.20), Technological (0.19), and Political Interpretation and Proposals (0.18). However, the evidence between the ranked criteria suggest that all criteria all almost equally important to the model. The inconsistency and disagreement values from the 23 experts are acceptable (all < 0.10).

6.2 Sub-Criteria Quantification

The panel experts (P2 to P6) quantified all sub-criteria using the Hierarchical Decision Model Software® Version Beta 2.0 (ETM, 2016). The following section describes local weights, inconsistency, and disagreement values.

6.2.1 Technological Sub-criteria

Expert panel P3 (thirteen participants) evaluated the relative contribution of the three sub-criteria concerning the technological criteria. Table 23 shows the statistical mean values representing each criterion's relative importance.

	Expert	ImprovingDigitalInImprovingTransformation ofNaTechnologicalApplicationSeCapabilitiesProcessesApp		Increase National Security Features for Applicants	Incons	istency
	Expert 1	0.31	0.38	0.31	(0
	Expert 3	0.43	0.33	0.25	(0
	Expert 4	0.22	0.51	0.27	0.	02
eria	Expert 5	0.2	0.54	0.26	0.	09
on -Crit	Expert 6	0.26	0.26	0.48	(0
Sub- catio	Expert 7	0.32	0.15	0.53	(0
Technological S Quantifi	Expert 8	0.2	0.6	0.2	(0
	Expert 9	0.28	0.58	0.14	0.	04
	Expert 11	0.38	0.38	0.25	(0
	Expert 12	0.2	0.74	0.06	0.04	
	Expert 14	0.32	0.6	0.08	0.01	
	Expert 15	0.31	0.29	0.4	0	
	Expert 34	0.54	0.16	0.3	(0
	Mean	0.31	0.42	0.27	-	
	Std Dev	0.1	0.18	0.13	_	
		Disa	ngreement		0.1	126
Source of	Variation	Sum of Square	Degrees of Freed	lom Mean	Square	F-Test Value
Between Sub	ojects	0.17	2	0.0)84	2.65
Between Cor	nditions	0	12		0	
Residual		0.76	24	0.0)32	
Total		0.93	38		-	
Critical F va	lue with degrees	s of freedom 3 & 30 a	t 0.01 level:			5.61
Critical F va	lue with degrees	s of freedom 3 & 30 a	tt 0.025 level:			4.32
Critical F va	lue with degrees	s of freedom 3 & 30 a	tt 0.05 level:			3.4
Critical F va	lue with degrees	s of freedom 3 & 30 a	tt 0.1 level:			2.54

Table 23. Technological Sub-Criteria Level Quantification



Figure 24. Relative Importance of Technological Sub-criteria

Expert panel P2 determined the Digital Transformation of Application Processes as the top sub-criterion (0.42). The inconsistency values from the 13 experts are acceptable (all < 0.10). However, the disagreement value of the Technological sub-criteria is above the threshold. Then, a Hierarchical Agglomerative Clustering (HAC) is recommended to analyze the disagreement value (Alzahrani, 2021). The HAC technique helps identify natural groups within the panel of experts.

A cluster test was performed following the Ward methodology to analyze the disagreement value found in the Technological Sub-Criteria. The software used to run this analysis was the SPSS IBM© Software 28 (IBM Corp, 2021). The results of clustering the Technological Sub-criteria are shown below. The analysis suggests that there are two clusters, "A" and "B" (see Figure 25).



Figure 25. Technological Sub-criteria Clusters - Results

Table 24 shows the results of Cluster A, which has six experts. Cluster A results are similar to the overall results of the Technological Sub-criteria, where Digital Transformation of Application Processes is ranked first (0.42 vs. 0.60), Improving Technological Capabilities is ranked second (0.31 vs. 0.24), and Increase National Security Features for Applicants is ranked third (0.27 vs. 0.17). The inconsistency and disagreement values are below the threshold.

Expert	Improving Technological Capabilities	Digital Transformation of Application Processes	Increase National Security Features for Applicants	Inconsistency
Expert 4	0.22	0.51	0.27	0.02

Table 24. Analysis of Cluster "A" Results from Panel P3

			Disagreement	0.063
Std Dev	0.05	0.07	0.08	
Mean	0.24	0.60	0.17	
Expert 14	0.32	0.6	0.08	0.01
Expert 12	0.2	0.74	0.06	0.04
Expert 9	0.28	0.58	0.14	0.04
Expert 8	0.2	0.6	0.2	0
Expert 5	0.2	0.54	0.26	0.09

The results of Cluster B, which has seven experts, differ from the results of the Technological Sub-criteria (see Table 25). While Improving Technological Capabilities and Increasing National Security Features for Applicants moved up the rankings as the first two options, Digital Transformation of Application Processes went down (0.42 vs. 0.28). Even though there are more experts in Cluster B than in Cluster A (seven vs. six), experts from Cluster A assigned more weighty values when making the pairwise comparisons of the Digital Transformation of Application Processes sub-criteria against the two others, which further explains why the original disagreement value of the Technological Sub-Criteria did not meet the threshold.

Expert	Improving Technological Capabilities	Digital Transformation of Application Processes	Increase National Security Features for Applicants	Inconsistency
Expert 1	0.31	0.38	0.31	0
Expert 3	0.43	0.33	0.25	0
Expert 6	0.26	0.26 0.26 0.48		0
Expert 7	0.32	0.15 0.53		0
Expert 11	0.38	0.38 0.25		0
Expert 15	0.31	0.29	0.4	0
Expert 34	0.54	0.16	0.3	0
Mean	0.36	0.28	0.36	
Std Dev	0.09	0.09	0.11	
			Disagreement	0.089

Table 25. Analysis of Cluster "B" Results from Panel P3

6.2.2 Regulatory Landscape Sub-criteria

Expert panel P3 (nine participants) evaluated the relative contribution of the five sub-criteria with respect to the Regulatory Landscape criteria. Table 26 shows the statistical mean values representing each criterion's relative importance.

	Expert	La Cond	oor itions	Fluctuation of Caps/Limits	Adapt Industry Necessities	Ease La Permar Reside State	wful Iente ent Is	Raising and Balancing Immigration Levels	Inconsist ency
	Expert 17	0.	07	0.38	0.06	0.28	3	0.21	0.01
ria	Expert 18	0.	14	0.22	0.15	0.14		0.36	0.02
-Crite	Expert 19	0	1	0.37	0.17	0.3		0.07	0.07
e Sub tion	Expert 21	0.	23	0.27	0.14	0.12	2	0.24	0.01
Regulatory Landscap Quantificat	Expert 22	0.	18	0.23	0.12	0.29)	0.19	0.03
	Expert 25	0.	16	0.32	0.15	0.1	1	0.25	0.03
	Expert 26	0	2	0.16	0.1	0.3		0.24	0.02
	Expert 29	0.17		0.1	0.29	0.24	1	0.2	0.04
	Expert 40	0.15		0.39	0.13	0.16	5	0.17	0.09
	Mean	0.	16	0.27	0.15	0.22		0.21	
	Std Dev	0.)5	0.1	0.06	0.08	3	0.07	
					-	Disagre	ement	0.07	7
Sour	ce of Varia	tion	Sum	of Square	Degrees of F	reedom	M	ean Square	F-Test Value
Between	Subjects			0.1	4			0.025	3.19
Between	Conditions	5		0	10			0	
Residual	l			0.47	40			0.012	
Total				0.57	54				
Critical	F value with	1 degrees	of freed	lom 3 & 30 at 0.	01 level:				3.97
Critical	F value with	1 degrees	of freed	lom 3 & 30 at 0.	025 level:				3.22
Critical	F value with	n degrees	of freed	lom 3 & 30 at 0.	05 level:				2.67
Critical	F value with	n degrees	of freed	lom 3 & 30 at 0.	1 level:				2.13

Table 26. Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria Level Quantification



Figure 26. Relative Importance of Regulatory Landscape Sub-criteria

Expert panel P3 determined that the Fluctuation of Caps/Limits is the top subcriterion (0.27). The inconsistency and disagreement values from the nine experts are acceptable (all < 0.10).

6.2.3 Economic Sub-criteria

Expert panel P4 (eight participants) evaluated the relative contribution of the five sub-criteria with respect to the Economic criteria. Table 27 shows the statistical mean values, representing each criterion's relative importance.

ub-Criteria fication	Expert	Fee Applications	Competitive Value of Wages and Benefits ns		Actively Engagement	Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demands	Inconsis tency
mic S uantif	Expert 1	0.05	0.22	0.24	0.25	0.26	0
Gcono	Expert 7	0.13	0.13	0.25	0.25	0.25	0
-	Expert 27	0.18	0.24	0.2	0.14	0.24	0.07

Table 27. Economic Sub-Criteria Level Quantification

	Expert 29	0.	.14	0.3	0.26	0.17	7	0.13	0.01
	Expert 31	0	.2	0.2	0.2	0.19	9	0.21	0
	Expert 32	0.	.03	0.2	0.22	0.24	4	0.31	0.01
	Expert 34	0.	41	0.27	0.13	0.1	1	0.08	0.01
	Expert 37	0.	.08	0.44	0.17	0.19	9	0.13	0.08
	Mean	0.	.15	0.25	0.21	0.1	9	0.20	
	Std Dev	0.	11	0.09	0.04	0.0	5	0.07	
						Disagra	mont	0.06	0
						Disagitt	ment	0.00	,
Sour	ce of Varia	tion	Sum	of Square	Degrees of Fre	edom	Me	ean Square	F-Test Value
Source	ce of Varia 1 Subjects	tion	Sum	0.04	Degrees of Fre	edom	Me	ean Square	F-Test Value
Source Between Between	ce of Varia Subjects	tion 5	Sum	of Square 0.04 0	Degrees of Fre 4 9	eedom	Me	0.000 ean Square	F-Test Value 1.16
Source Between Between Residual	ce of Varia Subjects Conditions	tion 5	Sum	of Square 0.04 0 0.42	Degrees of Fre 4 9 36	eedom	Me	0.011 0.012	F-Test Value 1.16
Source Between Between Residual Total	ce of Varia Subjects Conditions	tion 5	Sum	of Square 0.04 0 0.42 0.46	Degrees of Fre 4 9 36 49	eedom	Me	0.011 0.012 	F-Test Value 1.16
Source Between Between Residual Total Critical	ce of Varia Subjects Conditions	tion s	Sum s of freed	0.04 0 0.42 0.46 0.3 & 30 at 0.0 0	Degrees of Fre 4 9 36 49 01 level:	eedom	Me	0.011 0 0.012 	F-Test Value 1.16 4.07
Source Between Residual Total Critical	ce of Varia Subjects Conditions F value with F value with	tion s h degree h degree	Sum s of freed	0.04 0 0.42 0 0.46 0 dom 3 & 30 at 0.0 0	Degrees of Fre 4 9 36 49 01 level: 025 level:	eedom	Me	0.011 0 0.012 	F-Test Value 1.16 4.07 3.29
Source Between Residual Total Critical Critical	ce of Varia Subjects Conditions F value with F value with F value with	tion s h degree h degree h degree	Sum s of freec s of freec s of freec	of Square 0.04 0 0.42 0.46 lom 3 & 30 at 0.0 lom 3 & 30 at 0.0 lom 3 & 30 at 0.0	Degrees of Free 4 9 36 49 01 level: 025 level: 05 level:	eedom	Me	0.011 0 0.012 	F-Test Value 1.16 4.07 3.29 2.71



Figure 27. Relative Importance of Economic Sub-criteria

Expert panel P4 determined that Competitive Wages and Benefits is the top subcriterion (0.25). The inconsistency and disagreement values from the eight experts are acceptable (all < 0.10).

6.2.4 Political Interpretation & Proposals - Sub-criteria

Expert panel P5 (twelve participants) evaluated the relative contribution of the four sub-criteria concerning the Political Interpretation and Proposals criteria. Table 28 shows the statistical mean values representing each criterion's relative importance.

eria	Expert	M Imm Selo N Ega	aking igration ectivity Aore litarian	Hybrid Dual Se Veri	System For lection And fication	Backlo Reductio	g)n	Redistributio n and Recapture of LPR Cards / Visas	Inconsist ency
Crite	Expert 21		0.17	(0.37	0.34		0.13	0.04
)-qr	Expert 24	(0.36	(0.25	0.3		0.09	0.05
- S	Expert 31		0.24	0.24		0.27		0.26	0
osals n	Expert 40		0.13	0.06		0.61		0.2	0.02
ropo atio	Expert 42		0.28	(0.17	0.17		0.39	0.01
terpretation & P Quantific	Expert 44		0.16	(0.52	0.15		0.17	0.01
	Expert 45		0.29	(0.23	0.42		0.07	0.09
	Expert 46		0.39	(0.19	0.3		0.12	0.01
	Expert 47		0.3	(0.14	0.07		0.5	0.09
l Int	Expert 48		0.59	(0.14 0.15			0.13	0.04
itica	Expert 49	(0.33	(0.18	0.25		0.25	0.03
Pol	Expert 53		0.58	(0.08	0.2		0.14	0.03
	Mean		0.32		0.21	0.27		0.2	
	Std Dev		0.14	(0.12	0.14		0.12	
								Disagreement	0.118
Sou	rce of Variat	ion	Sum of	f Square	Degrees of	Freedom	N	Iean Square	F-Test Value
Betwee	n Subjects		0	.1	3			0.034	1.35
Betwee	n Conditions			0	11			0	
Residu	al		0.	.83	33			0.025	
Total	Total			.93	47				
Critica	IF value with	degrees	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at 0	.01 level:				4.44

Table 28. Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria Level Quantification



Figure 28. Relative Importance of Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-criteria

Expert panel P5 determined that Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian is the top sub-criterion (0.32). The inconsistency value from the 12 experts is acceptable (all < 0.10). However, the disagreement value of the Political Interpretation and Proposals sub-criteria is above the threshold. Then, a Hierarchical Agglomerative Clustering (HAC) is recommended to analyze the disagreement value as shown with the Technological sub-criteria.

A cluster test was performed following the Ward methodology to analyze the disagreement value found in the Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria. The same SPSS IBM© Software 28 (IBM Corp, 2021) was used to run the analysis. The results of clustering the Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-criteria are shown below. The analysis suggests that there are two clusters, "A" and "B" (see Figure 29).



Figure 29. Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-criteria Clusters - Results

Table 29 shows the results of Cluster A, which has eight experts. Results from Cluster A contradict the overall results of the Political Interpretation and Proposals Subcriteria, where Making immigration selectivity more egalitarian is ranked first (0.32). In this second analysis, Backlog reduction is ranked first (0.33), while Making immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian and Hybrid System for Dual Selection and Verification subcriteria are ranked second (0.26). The inconsistency and disagreement values are below the threshold.

Political Interpretation and Proposals	Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian	Hybrid System for Dual Selection And Verification	Backlog Reduction	Redistribution and Recapture of LPR Cards / Visas	Inconsistenc y
Expert 21	0.17	0.37	0.34	0.13	0.04
Expert 24	0.36	0.25	0.3	0.09	0.05
Expert 31	0.24	0.24	0.27	0.26	0
Expert 40	0.13	0.06	0.61	0.2	0.02
Expert 44	0.16	0.52	0.15	0.17	0.01
Expert 45	0.29	0.23	0.42	0.07	0.09
Expert 46	0.39	0.19	0.3	0.12	0.01
Expert 49	0.33	0.18	0.25	0.25	0.03
Mean	0.26	0.26	0.33	0.16	
Std Dev	0.09	0.13	0.13	0.07	
				Disagreement	0.096

Table 29. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P5

The results of Cluster B (see Table 30), which has four experts, are similar to the overall results of the Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-criteria. Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian is ranked first (0.32 vs 0.44). All inconsistency values are below the threshold. However, the disagreement value is still above the threshold.

Political Interpretation and Proposals	Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian	Hybrid System for Dual Selection And Verification	Backlog Reduction	Redistribution and Recapture of LPR Cards / Visas	Inconsistenc y
Expert 42	0.28	0.17	0.17	0.39	0.01
Expert 47	0.3	0.14	0.07	0.5	0.09
Expert 48	0.59	0.14	0.15	0.13	0.04
Expert 53	0.58	0.08	0.2	0.14	0.03
Mean	0.44	0.13	0.15	0.29	
Std Dev	0.15	0.03	0.05	0.16	
				Disagreement	0.112

Table 30. Analysis of Cluster "B" results from Panel P5

Table 31 shows two sub-clusters inside cluster B. Sub-cluster B.1 is formed by Experts 42 and 47, who assigned larger values to the Redistribution and Recapture of LPR Cards / Visas sub-criteria (0.45). Sub-cluster B.2 is formed by Experts 48 and 53, who assigned larger values to the Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian (0.59).

Sub-Cluster "B.1"	Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian	Hybrid System for Dual Selection And Verification	Backlog Reduction	Redistribution and Recapture of LPR Cards / Visas	Inconsistenc y
Expert 42	0.28	0.17	0.17	0.39	0.01
Expert 47	0.3	0.14	0.07	0.5	0.09
Mean	0.29	0.16	0.12	0.45	
Std Dev	0.01	0.01	0.05	0.06	
				Disagreement	0.038
Sub-Cluster "B.2"	Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian	Hybrid System for Dual Selection And Verification	Backlog Reduction	Redistribution and Recapture of LPR Cards / Visas	Inconsistenc y
Expert 48	0.59	0.14	0.15	0.13	0.04
Expert 53	0.58	0.08	0.2	0.14	0.03
Mean	0.59	0.11	0.18	0.14	
Std Dev	0	0.03	0.03	0.01	
			·	Disagreement	0.02

Table 31. Analysis of Sub-Cluster "B.1 and B.2" results from Panel P5

By analyzing cluster B further, the inconsistency values are below the threshold (0.038 and 0.02), which explains why the initial disagreement value of the Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria needed to meet the threshold.

6.2.5 Social - Sub-criteria

Expert panel P6 (seven participants) evaluated the relative contribution of the four sub-criteria with respect to the Social criteria. Table 32 shows the statistical mean values, representing each criterion's relative importance.

	Social	High Edu	-Quality ucation	High-Qu an	ality Training d Salary	Increas Immigrat Acceptar	e ion ice	Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion	Inconsist ency			
ia	Expert 15		0.26		0.21	0.25		0.28	0			
iter ion	Expert 22		0.31		0.3	0.22		0.17	0.01			
b-Cı icati	Expert 50		0.14		0.14	0.35		0.38	0.01			
- Su intif	Expert 53		0.13		0.26	0.29		0.31	0.01			
cial . Quê	Expert 56		0.17		0.25	0.28		0.3	0.01			
So	Expert 58		0.45		0.23	0.17		0.14	0.09			
	Expert 59		0.16		0.33	0.24		0.27	0			
	Mean		0.23		0.25	0.26		0.26				
	Std Dev		0.11		0.06	0.05		0.08				
								Disagreement	0.069			
Sou	rce of Variat	tion	Sum of	f Square	Degrees of 1	Freedom	Me	an Square	F-Test Value			
Betwee	en Subjects		0	0.1	3			0.034	0.16			
Betwee	n Conditions	ns 0		0	11 0							
Residu	al		0	.44	33			0.013				
Total			0	.54	47							
Critical	l F value with	degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.01 level:				5.09			
Critical	l F value with	degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.025 level:				3.95			
Critical	F value with	degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.05 level:				3.16			
Critica	F value with	degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.1 level:				2.42			
	0.27 —											
	0.26 —	0.2	26	0.2	6							
	0.25 —					0.25						
	0.24 —			_		_						
	0.23 —	0.23 0.23										
	0.22 —							_				
	0.21 In	crease In Accep	nmigration tance	Increase Im Welcoming, and Inc	migration High-(Diversity, a lusion	Quality Trainin and Salary	g High-	Quality Education				

Table 32. Social Sub-Criteria Level Quantification

Figure 30. Relative Importance of Social Sub-criteria

Expert panel P6 determined that Increase Immigration Acceptance and Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion are the top sub-criterion (0.26). Also, there is no apparent difference compared with the second ranked sub-criteria High-Quality Training and Salary (0.25). The inconsistency and disagreement values from the seven experts are acceptable (all < 0.10).

6.3 Alternatives Quantification

The panels P2 to P6 experts quantified all alternatives using the Hierarchical Decision Model Software® Version: Beta 2.0 (ETM, 2016). Local weights, inconsistency, and disagreement values are described in the following section.

6.3.1 Results of Alternatives with Improving Technological Capabilities Sub-Criteria

Twelve experts from panel P2 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives concerning the Improving Technological Capabilities sub-criterion using pairwise comparison through the HDM software Version Beta 2.0. All comparisons of sub-criteria and alternatives used the same software. Table 33 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgment quantifications.

Improving Technological Capabilities	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
Expert 1	0.22	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0
Expert 3	0.41	0.26	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.02
Expert 4	0.23	0.19	0.18	0.19	0.2	0
Expert 5	0.08	0.37	0.32	0.06	0.18	0.09

Table 33. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Improving Technological Capabilities Subcriterion.

Expert 6	0.25	5	0.36		0.11	0.15		0.14		0.02
Expert 7	0.2		0.2		0.2	0.2		0.2		0
Expert 8	0.39)	0.24		0.16	0.13		0.08		0
Expert 9	0.07	7	0.3		0.16	0.38		0.09		0.07
Expert 11	0.26	5	0.21		0.18	0.17		0.18		0
Expert 14	0.21	l	0.22		0.2	0.13		0.24		0.01
Expert 15	0.39)	0.19		0.16	0.15		0.1		0.01
Expert 34	0.57	7	0.16		0.16	0.06		0.06		0
Mean	0.27	7	0.24		0.18	0.16		0.15		
Std Dev	0.14	1	0.07		0.05	0.08		0.06		
Disagreement 0.074										
	1					Disagree	nent	0	.074	
Source of Vari	ation	Su	m of Squa	re	Degrees of	Disagreer f Freedom	nent N	0 Iean Square	.074	F-Test Value
Source of Vari Between Subjects	ation	Su	m of Squar	re	Degrees of	Disagreer f Freedom 4	nent N	0 Iean Square 0.054	0.074	F-Test Value 3.67
Source of Vari Between Subjects Between Conditio	ns	Su	0.22 0	re	Degrees of	Disagreen f Freedom 4 2	nent N	0 Iean Square 0.054 0	0.074	F-Test Value 3.67
Source of Vari Between Subjects Between Conditio Residual	ns	Su	0.22 0 0.58	re	Degrees o	Disagreen f Freedom 4 2 8	nent N	0 Iean Square 0.054 0 0.012	0.074	F-Test Value 3.67
Source of Vari Between Subjects Between Conditio Residual Total	ns	Su	0.22 0 0.58 0.8	re	Degrees of 2	Disagreen f Freedom 4 2 8 4	nent N	0 Iean Square 0.054 0 0.012 	0.074	F-Test Value 3.67
Source of Vari Between Subjects Between Conditio Residual Total Critical F value w	ns ith degrees	Su s of fre	0.22 0 0.58 0.8 eedom 3 & 3	re 30 at 0	Degrees o 	Disagreen f Freedom 4 2 8 4	nent N	0 Iean Square 0.054 0 0.012 	0.074	F-Test Value 3.67 3.78
Source of Vari Between Subjects Between Conditio Residual Total Critical F value with Critical F value with	iation ns ith degrees	Su s of fre	0.22 0 0.58 0.8 eedom 3 & 3 eedom 3 & 3	re 30 at 0 30 at 0	Degrees of 2 1 4 6 .01 level: .025 level:	Disagreen f Freedom 4 2 8 4	nent N	0 Iean Square 0.054 0 0.012 	.074	F-Test Value 3.67 3.78 3.09
Source of Vari Between Subjects Between Conditio Residual Total Critical F value wi Critical F value wi	iation ns ith degrees ith degrees	Su s of fre s of fre	0.22 0 0.58 0.8 redom 3 & 3 redom 3 & 3 redom 3 & 3	re 30 at 0 30 at 0 30 at 0	Degrees of 1 4 6 .01 level: .025 level: .05 level:	Disagreen f Freedom 4 2 8 4	nent N	0 Iean Square 0.054 0 0.012 	0.074	F-Test Value 3.67 3.78 3.09 2.58
Source of Vari Between Subjects Between Conditio Residual Total Critical F value wi Critical F value wi Critical F value wi	ith degrees ith degrees ith degrees ith degrees	Su s of fre s of fre s of fre s of fre	0.22 0 0.58 0.8 eedom 3 & 3 3 eedom 3 & 3 3 eedom 3 & 3 3	re 30 at 0 30 at 0 30 at 0 30 at 0	Degrees of 1 4 6 .01 level: .025 level: .05 level: .1 level:	Disagreen f Freedom 4 2 8 4	nent N	0 Iean Square 0.054 0 0.012 	0.074	F-Test Value 3.67 3.78 3.09 2.58 2.08



Figure 31. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Improving Technological Capabilities Subcriterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.27) concerning the Improving Technological Capabilities sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa

Alternative scored second (0.24), followed by the O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.18, 0.16, and 0.15, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.074) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.2 Results of Alternatives with Digital Transformation of Application Processes Sub-Criteria

Ten experts from Panel P2 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Digital Transformation of Application Processes subcriterion. Table 34 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgment quantifications.

Table 34. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Digital	Transformation of Application
Processes Sub-criterion	

Digital Transformation of Application Processes	Per Res	manent sidence Card	H-1B Vis	sa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STE OPT Vi	M sa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
Expert 1		0.23	0.2		0.19	0.18		0.19	0
Expert 3		0.41	0.26		0.11	0.11		0.11	0.02
Expert 4		0.22	0.19		0.2	0.19		0.2	0
Expert 6		0.57	0.2		0.07	0.08		0.09	0.02
Expert 7		0.2	0.2		0.2	0.2		0.2	0
Expert 8		0.2	0.2		0.2	0.2		0.2	0
Expert 9		0.08	0.29		0.14	0.43		0.07	0.06
Expert 11		0.27	0.2		0.18	0.17		0.18	0
Expert 15		0.36	0.2		0.15	0.18		0.11	0.01
Expert 34		0.43	0.27		0.16	0.07		0.07	0.04
Mean		0.30	0.22		0.16	0.18		0.14	
Std Dev		0.14	0.04		0.04	0.1		0.05	
						Disagreem	ent	0	.071
Source of Varia	tion	Sum of	Square	Ι	Degrees of Fi	reedom	N	Iean Square	F-Test Value
Between Subjects:		0.	15		4			.038	4.08
Between Condition	s:	0.	00		9			0.000	
Residual:		0.	33		36			0.009	
Total		0.	49		49				
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at (0.01	level:				3.89



Figure 32. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Digital Transformation of Application Processes Subcriterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.30) with respect to the Digital Transformation of Application Processes sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative scored second (0.22), followed by the O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.16, 0.18, and 0.14, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.071) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.3 Results of Alternatives with Increase National Security Features for Applicants Sub-Criteria

Eleven experts from Panel P2 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Increase National Security Features for Applicants subcriterion. Table 35 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgment quantifications.

Increase National Security Features for Applicants	Per Res (manent sidence Card	H-1B Vis	sa	O-1 Visa	F-1 S OPT	TEM Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 1		0.2	0.2		0.2	0	.2	0.2	0
Expert 3		0.5	0.16		0.11	0.	11	0.11	0
Expert 4		0.22	0.2		0.2	0.	19	0.2	0
Expert 5		0.6	0.2		0.04	0	.1	0.05	0.1
Expert 6		0.4	0.19		0.12	0	.1	0.19	0.04
Expert 7		0.2	0.2		0.2	0	.2	0.2	0
Expert 8		0.37	0.25		0.16	0.	14	0.08	0
Expert 9		0.41	0.11		0.11	0.	11	0.26	0.02
Expert 11		0.2	0.23		0.19	0.	19	0.18	0
Expert 15		0.36	0.21		0.16	0.	16	0.11	0.01
Expert 34		0.55	0.23		0.12	0.	05	0.05	0.03
Mean		0.36	0.20		0.15	0.	14	0.15	
Std Dev		0.14	0.04		0.05	0.	05	0.07	
					Disagr	eement	;	0.07	2
Source of Varia	tion	Sum of	Square	D	egrees of Freed	lom	Mea	ın Square	F-Test Value
Between Subjects:		0.	15		4			.038	12.06
Between Conditions	s:	0.	00		9			0.000	
Residual:		0.	33		36			0.009	
Total		0.4	49		49				
Critical F value wit	h degree	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at (0.01	level:				3.83
Critical F value wit	h degree	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at (0.025	5 level:				3.13
Critical F value wit	h degree	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at (0.05	level:				2.61
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedom	n 3 & 30 at (0.1 lo	evel:				2.09

 Table 35. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Increase National Security Features for Applicants Sub-criterion



Figure 33. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Increase National Security Features for Applicants Sub-criterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.36) concerning the Increase National Security Features for Applicants sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative scored second (0.20), followed by the O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.15, 0.15, and 0.14, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.072) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.4 Results of Alternatives with Labor Conditions Sub-Criteria

Seven experts from Panel P3 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Labor Conditions sub-criterion. Table 36 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgment quantifications.

Table 36. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Labor Conditions Sub-criterion

Labor Conditions	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 17	0.24	0.29	0.22	0.07	0.18	0.01
Expert 19	0.15	0.25	0.07	0.36	0.17	0.05

Expert 21	0.34	0.33		0.09	0.11	0.13	0.03
Expert 24	0.25	0.23		0.17	0.21	0.14	0.02
Expert 25	0.11	0.31		0.19	0.19	0.19	0.08
Expert 26	0.27	.27 0.13		0.21	0.18	0.21	0.01
Expert 29	0.5	0.25	i	0.11	0.08	0.07	0.02
Mean	0.27	0.26	i	0.15	0.17	0.16	
Std Dev	0.12	0.06	<u>,</u>	0.06	0.09	0.04	
				Di	isagreement	0.	074
Source of Varia	tion Sum o	of Square	De	grees of Free	dom	Mean Square	F-Test
		1		8			Value
Between Subjects:	().09		4		0.022	2.4
Between Condition	s: (0.00		6		0.000	
Residual:	().22		24		0.009	
Total	().31		34			
Critical F value wit	h degrees of freedo	om 3 & 30 at	0.01 le	vel:			4.22
Critical F value wit	h degrees of freedo	om 3 & 30 at	0.025 1	evel:			3.38
Critical F value wit	h degrees of freedo	om 3 & 30 at	0.05 le	vel:			2.78
Critical F value wit	h degrees of freedo	om 3 & 30 at	0.1 lev	el:			2.19





According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.27) concerning the Labor Conditions sub-criterion. However, there is no major difference with the second-ranked H-1B Visa Alternative (0.26); the first two alternatives are followed by the F-1 STEM OPT, L1, and O-1 visas (0.17, 0.16, and 0.15, respectively). The

inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.074) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.5 Results of Alternatives with Fluctuation of Caps/Limits Sub-Criteria

Seven experts from Panel P3 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Fluctuation of Caps/Limits sub-criterion. Table 37 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgment quantifications.

Fluctuation of Caps/Limits	Perr Res	manent idence Card	H-1B Vis	a	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
Expert 17	().42	0.43		0.05	0.05	0.05	0
Expert 21	().35	0.32		0.1	0.1	0.13	0.02
Expert 23	().29	0.19		0.13	0.23	0.16	0.05
Expert 24	().34	0.16		0.13	0.19	0.19	0.01
Expert 26	().25	0.2		0.2	0.16	0.2	0.01
Expert 29	().11	0.13		0.16	0.23	0.36	0.01
Expert 40	().72	0.18		0.04	0.02	0.05	0.1
Mean).35	0.23		0.12	0.14	0.16	
Std Dev	(0.17	0.1		0.05	0.08	0.1	
					D	Disagreement	0.0)94
Source of Varia	tion	Sum of	Square		Degrees of	Freedom	Mean Square	F-Test Value
Between Subjects:		0.2	26		4		0.064	3.76
Between Condition	s:	0.	00		6		0.000	
Residual:		0.4	41		24		0.017	
Total		0.	67		34			
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at (0.01	1 level:			4.22
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at (0.02	25 level:			3.38
Critical F value wit	h degree	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at (0.05	5 level:			2.78
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at (0.1	level:			2.19

Table 37. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Fluctuation of Caps/Limits Sub-criterion



Figure 35. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Fluctuation of Caps/Limits Sub-criterion According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.35)
concerning the Fluctuation of Caps/Limits sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative is ranked second (0.23), followed by the L1, F-1 STEM OPT, and O-1 visas (0.16, 0.14, and 0.12, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.094) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.6 Results of Alternatives with Adapt Industry Necessities Sub-Criteria

Six experts from Panel P3 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Adapt Industry Necessities sub-criterion. Table 38 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgment quantifications.

Table 38. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Adapt Industry Necessities Sub-criterion

Adapt Industry Necessities	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 17	0.24	0.24	0.24	0.03	0.24	0
Expert 21	0.43	0.22	0.11	0.1	0.14	0.03
Expert 23	0.5	0.1	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.02

Expert 24		0.37	0.16		0.16	0.16		0.16	0
Expert 26		0.43	0.13		0.13	0.15		0.15	0.01
Expert 29	(0.34	0.25		0.17	0.14		0.11	0.02
Mean		0.39 0.1			0.16	0.12		0.16	
Std Dev		0.08	0.06 0.04 0		0.04		0.04		
Disagreement 0									0.05
Source of Variation Su			f Square		Degrees of Freedom		Mean Square		F-Test Value
Between Subjects:	0.27			4		0.068		14.7	
Between Conditions	0.00			5		0.000			
Residual: 0.09			09	20				0.005	
Total 0.36 29									
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.01 level:								4.43	
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.025 level:								3.51	
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.05 level:								2.87	
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.1 level:								2.25	



Figure 36. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Adapt Industry Necessities Sub-criterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.39) with respect to the Adapt Industry Necessities sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative is ranked second (0.18) followed by the O-1 and L1 visas (0.16). The F-1 STEM OPT visa alternative is ranked last (0.12). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.050) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.7 Results of Alternatives with Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status Sub-Criteria

Six experts from Panel P3 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status sub-criterion. Table 39 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgment quantifications.

Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status	Per Reside	manent ence Card	H-1B Visa		O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa		L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 17	0.2		0.2		0.2	0.2 0		0.2	0
Expert 21		0.2	0.2		0.2	0.2		0.2	0
Expert 23		0.42	0.22		0.11	0.11		0.14	0.03
Expert 24		0.37	0.16		0.16	0.16		0.16	0
Expert 26		0.5			0.15	0.1		0.12	0.01
Expert 29		0.41	0.21		0.17	0.13		0.08	0.02
Mean		0.35	0.19		0.17	0.15		0.15	
Std Dev		0.11	0.03		0.03	0.04		0.04	
Disagreement 0									
Source of Variation		Sum of	Square	D	egrees of Freed	lom	Mea	n Square	F-Test Value
Between Subjects:		0.17		4				0.43	7.91
Between Conditions:		0.00		5			0.000		
Residual: 0.		.11		20		0.005			
Total 0.1		28 29		29					
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.01 level:								4.43	
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.025 level:									3.51
Critical F value with	Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.05 level:							2.87	
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.1 level:								2.25	

Table 39. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status Sub-criterion



Figure 37. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status Subcriterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.35) with respect to the Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative is ranked second (0.19), followed by the O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.17, 0.15, and 0.15, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.056) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.8 Results of Alternatives with Raising and Balance Immigration Levels Sub-Criteria

Six experts from Panel P3 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives concerning the Raising and Balance Immigration Levels sub-criterion. Table 40 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgment quantifications.

Raising and Balance Immigration Levels	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsiste ncy				
Expert 17	0.21	0.21	0.21	0.14	0.21	0				
Expert 19	0.32	0.29	0.08	0.24	0.07	0.07				
Expert 21	0.43	0.14	0.14	0.14	0.14	0				
Expert 24	0.32	0.16	0.16	0.16	0.19	0.01				
Expert 26	0.42	0.17	0.14	0.09	0.17	0.01				
Expert 29	0.31	0.24	0.21	0.14	0.1	0.01				
Mean	0.34	0.20	0.16	0.15	0.15					
Std Dev	0.07	0.05	0.04	0.04	0.05					
	1	1	Ι	Disagreement	(0.052				
Source of VariationSum of SquareDegrees of FreedomMean Square										
Between Subjects:	Between Subjects: 0.15 4 0.08									
Between Conditions:	Between Conditions: 0.00 5 0.000									
Residual:	Residual: 0.09 20 0.004									
Total 0.24 29										
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.01 level:										
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.025 level:										
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.05 level:										
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.1 level:										

Table 40. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Raising and Balance Immigration Levels Subcriterion



Figure 38. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Raising and Balance Immigration Levels

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.34) with respect to the Raising and Balance Immigration Levels sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative is ranked second (0.20), followed by the O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas

(0.16, 0.15, and 0.15, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.052) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.9 Results of Alternatives with Fee Applications Sub-Criteria

Seven experts from Panel P4 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Fee Applications sub-criterion. Table 41 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgment quantifications.

Fee Applications	Permanent Residence Card		H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
Expert 7	0.2		0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0
Expert 27	().27	0.24	0.2	0.16	0.14	0.01
Expert 29	(0.42	0.21	0.16	0.13	0.08	0.02
Expert 31	().24	0.19	0.19	0.2	0.19	0
Expert 32	().24	0.24	0.24	0.24	0.06	0
Expert 34	0.55		0.17	0.17	0.05	0.05	0.01
Expert 35	0.29		0.29	0.07	0.28	0.07	0
Mean	0.32		0.22	0.18	0.18	0.11	
Std Dev	0.12		0.04	0.05	0.07	0.06	
	066						
Source of Varia	Source of Variation Sum of Square Degrees of Freedom Mean Square						
Between Subjects:		0.	16	4	5.29		
Between Conditions: 0.00 6 0.000							
Residual: 0.18 24 0.007							
Total 0.33 34							
Critical F value with	4.22						
Critical F value with	3.38						
Critical F value with	2.78						
Critical F value with	2.19						

Table 41. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Fee Applications Sub-criterion



Figure 39. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Fee Applications Sub-criterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.32) with respect to the Fee Applications sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative is ranked second (0.22), followed by the O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.18, 0.18, and 0.11, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.066) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.10 Results of Alternatives with Competitive Wages Sub-Criteria

Six experts from Panel P4 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Competitive Wages sub-criterion. Table 42 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

Competitive Wages	Permanent Residence Card		H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency			
Expert 7	0.2		0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0			
Expert 29	0.31		0.25	0.2	0.15	0.1	0.01			
Expert 31	0.2		0.2	0.2 0.2		0.2	0			
Expert 32	0.22		0.22	0.21 0.17		0.19	0			
Expert 34	0.55		0.17	0.17	0.05	0.05	0.01			
Expert 35	0.3		0.3	0.1	0.22	0.08	0.04			
Mean	0.30		0.22	0.18	0.17	0.14				
Std Dev	0.12		0.04	0.04	0.06	0.06				
Disagreement 0.06										
Source of Va	ariation	Su	m of Square	Degrees o	f Freedom	Mean Square	F-Test Value			
Between Subjects:			0.09	4	4	0.023	3.11			
Between Conditions:			0.00	5		0.000				
Residual:			0.15	2		0.007				
Total			0.24	0.24 29						
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.01 level:										
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.025 level:										
Critical F value	with degree	s of fre	edom 3 & 30 at 0).05 level:			2.87			
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.1 level:										

Table 42. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Competitive Wages Sub-criterion



Figure 40. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Competitive Wages Sub-criterion
According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.30) with respect to the Competitive Wages sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative is ranked second (0.22), followed by the O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.18, 0.17, and 0.14, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.062) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.11 Results of Alternatives with Value of Contributions Sub-Criteria

Six experts from Panel P4 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Value of Contributions sub-criterion. Table 43 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

Value of Contributions	Per Re	manent sidence Card	H-1B V	'isa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEN OPT V	/I Tisa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 7		0.15	0.23		0.23	0.15		0.23	0
Expert 29		0.3	3 0.28		0.19	0.14		0.08	0.02
Expert 31		0.2	0.2		0.2	0.2		0.2	0
Expert 32		0.2	0.2		0.2	0.2		0.2	0
Expert 34		0.43	0.17		0.17	0.12		0.12	0
Expert 35		0.29	0.29		0.07	0.29		0.07	0
Mean		0.26	0.23		0.18	0.18		0.15	
Std Dev		0.09	0.04		0.05	0.06		0.06	
					Disagr	eement		0.06	5
Source of Varia	tion	Sum of	Square	Square Degrees of Freedo			М	ean Square	F-Test Value
Between Subjects:		0.	05		4	0.012		0.012	1.98
Between Condition	s:	0.	00		5			0.000	
Residual:		0.	12		20			0.006	
Total	0.17				29				
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at				0.01 lev	vel:				4.43
Critical F value with	h degree	es of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.025 le	evel:				3.51
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.05 level:							2.87		
Critical F value wit	h degree	es of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.1 leve	el:				2.25

Table 43. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Value of Contributions Sub-criterion



Figure 41. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Value of Contributions Sub-criterion According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.26)
with respect to the Competitive Wages sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative is ranked second (0.23), followed by the O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.18, 0.18, and 0.15, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.06) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.12 Results of Alternatives with Actively Engagement Sub-Criteria

Six experts from Panel P4 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Actively Engagement sub-criterion. Table 44 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

Table 44. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Actively Engagement Sub-criterion

Actively engagement	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
------------------------	--------------------------------	-----------	----------	----------------------	---------	---------------

		1		1	1			
Expert 7	0.15	0.23		0.23	0.	15	0.23	0
Expert 29	0.37	0.27		0.17	0.	11	0.07	0.01
Expert 31	0.2	0.2		0.2	0	2	0.2	0
Expert 32	0.21	0.21		0.21	0.	17	0.21	0
Expert 34	0.43	0.17		0.17	0.	12	0.12	0
Expert 35	0.29	0.29		0.07	0.	29	0.07	0
Mean	0.28	0.23		0.18	0.	17	0.15	
Std Dev	0.1	0.04		0.05	0.	06	0.07	
	1	-		Disagree	ement		0.06	5
Source of Varia	tion Sum of	f Square	Deg	grees of Freed	lom	M	ean Square	F-Test
		1		-			1	Value
Between Subjects:	0	.06		4			0.15	2.33
Between Condition	s: 0	.00		5			0.000	
Residual:	0	.13		20			0.007	
Total	0	.19		29				
Critical F value with	h degrees of freedo	m 3 & 30 at	0.01 lev	vel:				4.43
Critical F value with	h degrees of freedo	m 3 & 30 at	0.025 1	evel:				3.51
Critical F value with	h degrees of freedo	m 3 & 30 at	0.05 lev	vel:				2.87
Critical F value with	h degrees of freedo	m 3 & 30 at 0	0.1 leve	el:				2.25
0.3 0.28								





and 0.15, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.065) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.13 Results of Alternatives with Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demands Sub-Criteria

Six experts from Panel P4 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demands sub-criterion. Table 45 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demands	Per Res	manent sidence Card	H-1B Visa		O-1 Visa	F-1 S OPT	TEM Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
Expert 7		0.15	0.23		0.23	0.	15	0.23	0
Expert 29		0.41	0.23		0.17	0.	11	0.07	0.01
Expert 31		0.23	0.2		0.19	0	.2	0.19	0
Expert 32		0.22	0.21		0.21	0.	18	0.18	0
Expert 34		0.31	0.2		0.2	0.	14	0.14	0
Expert 35		0.29	0.29		0.07	0.29		0.07	0
Mean		0.27	0.23		0.18 0.1		18	0.15	
Std Dev		0.08	0.03		0.05	0.	06	0.06	
				Disagreement			0.05	54	
Source of Varia	tion	Sum of	Square	Ι	Degrees of Freed	lom	Me	an Square	F-Test Value
Between Subjects:		0.	06		4		0.014		2.67
Between Conditions	s:	0.	00		5		0.000		
Residual:		0.	10		20			0.005	
Total		0.16			29				
Critical F value with	Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.01 level:								4.43
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedom	n 3 & 30 at (0.02	5 level:				3.51
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.05 level:								2.87	
Critical F value with	h degree	es of freedon	n 3 & 30 at (0.11	evel:				2.25

 Table 45. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demands Sub-criterion



Figure 43. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demands Sub-criterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.27) concerning the Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demands sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative is ranked second (0.23), followed by the O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.18, 0.18, and 0.15, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.054) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.14 Results of Alternatives with Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian Sub-Criteria

Thirteen experts from Panel P5 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian subcriterion. Table 46 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Vi	isa	O-1 Visa	F-1 S OPT	TEM Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsi	stency
Expert 21	0.29	0.28		0.06	0	.3	0.07	0.0)1
Expert 24	0.52	0.12		0.12	0.12		0.12	0	
Expert 31	0.2	0.2		0.2	0.	21	0.19	0	
Expert 40	0.68	0.19		0.08	0.	03	0.01	0.0)9
Expert 42	0.32	0.17		0.17	0.	22	0.13	0.0)2
Expert 44	0.2	0.2		0.2	0	.2	0.2	0	
Expert 45	0.43	0.43		0.05	0.	05	0.05	0	
Expert 46	0.15	0.55		0.08	0.	08	0.15	0.0)7
Expert 48	0.1	0.19		0.24	0.	24	0.24	0.0)2
Expert 49	0.42	0.18		0.14	0.	11	0.14	0.0)2
Expert 50	0.51	0.18		0.11	0.	11	0.1	0.0)8
Expert 53	0.4	0.25		0.09	0.	14	0.13	0.0)4
Expert 57	0.14	0.11	0.11		0.	21	0.32	0.0)5
Mean	0.34	0.23		0.13	0.16		0.14		
Std Dev	0.17	0.12		0.06	0.08		0.08		
				Disagr	eement		0.09)9	
Source of Varia	tion Sum of	f Square	Degrees of Freedom			Mean Square		F. V	-Test /alue
Between Subjects:	0	.38		4			0.098	:	5.97
Between Condition	s: 0	.00		12			0.000		
Residual:	0	0.76					0.016		
Total	1	1.14							
Critical F value wit	h degrees of freedo	m 3 & 30 at 0).01 le	vel:					3.74
Critical F value wit	h degrees of freedo	m 3 & 30 at 0	0.025 1	evel:					3.07
Critical F value wit	h degrees of freedo	m 3 & 30 at 0).05 le	vel:					2.57
Critical F value wit	h degrees of freedo	m 3 & 30 at 0).1 leve	el:					2.07

Table 46. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian Sub-criterion



Figure 44. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian Sub-criterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.34) with respect to the Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative is ranked second (0.23), followed by the F-1 STEM OPT, L1, and O-1 visas (0.16, 0.14, and 0.13, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.099) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.15 Results of Alternatives with Upgrade Type of Selection System Sub-Criteria

Twelve experts from Panel P5 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to Upgrade Type of Selection System sub-criterion. Table 47 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

Table 47. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Upgrade Type of Selection System Subcriterion

Upgrade Type Of Selection System	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency	
Expert 21	0.26	0.3	0.08	0.28	0.08	0	



Figure 45. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Upgrade Type of Selection System Subcriterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.29) with respect to the Upgrade Type of Selection System sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa

Alternative is ranked second (0.19), followed by the O-1 and F-1 STEM OPTvisas (0.18). L1 visa is ranked the last (0.16). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.074) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.16 Results of Alternatives with Backlog Reduction Sub-Criteria

Twelve experts from Panel P5 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Backlog Reduction sub-criterion. Table 48 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

Backlog Reduction	Peri Res	manent sidence Card	H-1B V	isa	O-1 Visa	F-1 S OPT	TEM Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
Expert 21	().96	0.01		0.01	0.	01	0.01	0
Expert 24		0.5	0.5 0.13		0.13	0.	13	0.13	0
Expert 31	(0.23	0.19		0.19	0.	19	0.19	0
Expert 40		0.2	0.2		0.2	0	.2	0.2	0
Expert 42	(0.33	0.19		0.19	0.	16	0.12	0.01
Expert 44		0.2	0.2		0.2	0	.2	0.2	0
Expert 46	().49	0.3		0.05	0.	05	0.12	0.2
Expert 48		0.5	0.13		0.13	0.	13	0.13	0
Expert 49	(0.35 0.15			0.19	0.	15	0.15	0.06
Expert 50	().72	0.09		0.08	0.	07	0.04	0.09
Expert 53	().09	0.13		0.27	0	.3	0.21	0.04
Expert 57	(0.25	0.1		0.22	0.	19	0.24	0.04
Mean		0.4	0.15		0.16	0.	15	0.15	
Std Dev	().24	0.07		0.07	0.	08	0.07	
					Disagree	ement		0.10)
Source of Varia	tion	Sum of	Square	Deg	grees of Freed	lom	М	ean Square	F-Test Value
Between Subjects:		0.	61		4		0.152		7.29
Between Condition	s:	0.	00		11		0.000		
Residual:		0.	92		44			0.021	
Total		1.	.53 59						
Critical F value wit	h degree	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at (0.01 le	vel:				3.78
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at (0.025 1	evel:				3.09

Table 48. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Backlog Reduction Sub-criterion



Figure 46. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to Backlog Reduction Sub-criterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.40) concerning the Backlog Reduction sub-criterion. There is no major difference between the other ranked options O-1, H-1B, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.16, 0.15, 0.15, and 0.15, respectively). The inconsistency values (all < 0.10) are below the acceptable threshold. However, the disagreement value of the Backlog Reduction sub-criteria is on the threshold's limit (0.1). Then, a Hierarchical Agglomerative Clustering (HAC) is recommended to threaten the disagreement value, as shown previously.

A cluster test was performed following the Ward methodology to threaten the disagreement value found in the Backlog Reduction Sub-Criteria. The SPSS IBM© Software 28 (IBM Corp, 2021) was used to run the analysis. The results of clustering the Backlog Reduction Sub-criteria are shown below. The analysis suggests that there are two clusters, "A" and "B" (see Fig. 47).



Figure 47. Backlog Reduction Sub-criteria Clusters - Results

Table 49 shows the results of Cluster A, which has ten experts. Results from Cluster A are consistent with the overall results of the Backlog Reduction Sub-criteria, where the Permanent Residence card is ranked first (0.40 vs 0.28). However, this value loses 0.12 points of difference. The rest of the alternatives have similar results. The inconsistency and disagreement values are below the threshold.

Backlog Reduction	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 24	0.5	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0
Expert 31	0.23	0.19	0.19	0.19	0.19	0

Table 49. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P5

				Disagreement	0.0	196
Std Dev	0.14	0.05	0.06	0.06	0.04	
Mean	0.28	0.16	0.16	0.16	0.16	
Expert 57	0.25	0.1	0.22	0.19	0.24	0.04
Expert 53	0.09	0.13	0.27	0.3	0.21	0.04
Expert 49	0.35	0.15	0.19	0.15	0.15	0.06
Expert 48	0.5	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0
Expert 46	0.49	0.3	0.05	0.05	0.12	0.2
Expert 44	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0
Expert 42	0.33	0.19	0.19	0.16	0.12	0.01
Expert 40	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0

The results of Cluster B, which has two experts, are also similar to the overall results of the Backlog Reduction Sub-criteria. However, there is a difference in the value of the first-ranked option (0.40 vs 0.64). Experts 21 and 50 gave the Permanent Residence Card a notably higher value than the other options, which explains why the initial disagreement value is above the threshold. All inconsistency and disagreement values are below the threshold.

Backlog Reduction	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 21	0.56	0.23	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.2
Expert 50	0.72	0.09	0.08	0.07	0.04	0.09
Mean	0.64	0.16	0.08	0.07	0.06	
Std Dev	0.08	0.07	0	0	0.02	
				Disagreement	0.0	048

Table 50. Analysis of Cluster "B" results from Panel P5

6.3.17 Results of Alternatives with Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas Sub-Criteria

Ten experts from Panel P5 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas sub-criterion. Table 51 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas	Per Res	manent sidence Card	H-1B V	⁄isa	O-1 Visa	F-1 S OPT	TEM Visa	L1 Visa	Incon	sistenc y
Expert 24		0.5	0.13		0.13	0.	13	0.13	(0
Expert 31		0.23	0.19		0.19	0.19		0.19	(0
Expert 42		0.33	0.19		0.19	0.	19	0.11	0.	01
Expert 44		0.2	0.2		0.2	0.	2	0.2	(0
Expert 45		0.54	0.31		0.06	0.	06	0.03	0.	07
Expert 46		0.03	0.51		0.15	0.	09	0.22	0	.2
Expert 47		0.96	0.01		0.01	0.	01	0.01	(0
Expert 49		0.49	0.16		0.13	0.	08	0.13	0.	03
Expert 50		0.2	0.2		0.2	0.	2	0.2	(0
Expert 53		0.37	0.15		0.19	0.	13	0.16	0.	03
Mean		0.39	0.21		0.15	0.	13	0.14		
Std Dev		0.25	0.12		0.06	0.	06	0.07		
					Disagr	eement		0.10	8	
Source of Varia	tion	Sum of	Square	Deg	grees of Freed	lom	Mea	in Square	F-T Va	fest lue
Between Subjects:		0.	46		4			0.116	4.	75
Between Condition	s:	0.	00		9			0.000		
Residual:		0.	88		36			0.024		
Total		1.	34		49					
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.				0.01 le	vel:				3.	89
Critical F value wit	h degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.025 1	evel:				3.	17
Critical F value wit	h degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.05 lev	vel:				2.	63
Critical F value wit	h degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.1 leve	el:				2.	11
										1

Table 51. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas Sub-criterion



Figure 48. Relative Importance of Alternatives to Respect Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas Subcriterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.39) concerning the Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas sub-criterion. The H1-B visa is ranked second (0.21), followed by the O-1, L1, and F-1 STEM OPT visas (0.15, 0.14, and 0.13, respectively). The inconsistency values (all < 0.10) are below the acceptable threshold. However, the disagreement value of the Respect Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas sub-criteria is above the threshold (0.108). Then, a Hierarchical Agglomerative Clustering (HAC) is recommended to threaten the disagreement value, as shown previously.

A cluster test was performed following the Ward methodology to threaten the disagreement value found in the Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas Sub-Criteria. SPSS IBM© Software 28 (IBM Corp, 2021) was used to run the analysis. The results of clustering the Backlog Reduction Sub-criteria are shown below. The analysis suggests that there are two clusters, "A" and "B" (see Fig. 49).



Figure 49. Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas Sub-criteria Clusters - Results

Table 52 shows the results of Cluster A, which has four experts. Results from Cluster A contradict the overall results of the Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas Subcriteria, where the Permanent Residence card option is ranked first (0.39). In this second analysis, H1-B visa ranks first (0.28), followed by L1 and O1 visas (0.20 and 0.19). F-1 STEM OPT visa and Permanent Residence card are ranked the last (0.17). All inconsistency values and the overall disagreement value (0.064) are below the threshold.

Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 31	0.23	0.19	0.19	0.19	0.19	0
Expert 44	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0
Expert 46	0.03	0.51	0.15	0.09	0.22	0.2
Expert 50	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0
Mean	0.17	0.28	0.19	0.17	0.2	
Std Dev	0.08	0.14	0.02	0.05	0.01	
				Disagreement	0.0)64

Table 52. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P5

Results from Cluster B are similar to the overall results of the Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas Sub-criteria, where the Permanent Residence card is ranked first (0.39 vs. 0.53) since this group of experts gave a higher value to this sub-criterion, i.e., Element A is ten times more important than Element B. Then, H1-B Visa is ranked second (0.21 vs 0.16), followed by O1, L1, and F-1 STEM OPT visas (0.12, 0.10, and 0.10, accordingly). All inconsistency values and the overall disagreement value (0.09) are below the threshold.

Table 53. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P5

Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 24	0.5	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0

				Disagreement	0.	09
Std Dev	0.21	0.09	0.07	0.06	0.06	
Mean	0.53	0.16	0.12	0.1	0.1	
Expert 53	0.37	0.15	0.19	0.13	0.16	0.03
Expert 49	0.49	0.16	0.13	0.08	0.13	0.03
Expert 47	0.96	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0
Expert 45	0.54	0.31	0.06	0.06	0.03	0.07
Expert 42	0.33	0.19	0.19	0.19	0.11	0.01

6.3.18 Results of Alternatives with High-Quality Education Sub-Criteria

Eight experts from Panel P6 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the High-Quality Education sub-criterion. Table 54 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

High-Quality Education	Per Res	manent sidence Card	H-1B V	'isa	O-1 Visa	F-1 ST OPT	'EM visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
Expert 15		0.33	0.18		0.2	0.1	7	0.12	0
Expert 22		0.19	0.16		0.27	0.2	5	0.13	0.03
Expert 50		0.5	0.13		0.13	0.13	3	0.13	0
Expert 51		0.27	0.17		0.2	0.1	7	0.2	0.08
Expert 53		0.39	0.22		0.13	0.13	3	0.14	0.02
Expert 56		0.42	0.18		0.12	0.1	7	0.11	0.02
Expert 57		0.2	0.2		0.2	0.2		0.2	0
Expert 60		0.18	0.35		0.13	0.2		0.15	0.03
Mean		0.31	0.20		0.17	0.18		0.15	
Std Dev		0.11	0.06		0.05	0.04		0.03	
					Disagr	eement		0.	06
Source of Varia	tion	Sum of	Square	De	Degrees of Freedom Mean Squa				F-Test Value
Between Subjects:		0.	13		4			0.032	5.31
Between Conditions	s:	0.	00		7			0.000	
Residual:		0.	17		28			0.006	
Total		0.30			39				
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at					vel:				4.07
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.025 level:							3.29		
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at (0.05 lev	vel:				2.71
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedon	n 3 & 30 at 0	0.1 leve	el:				2.16

Table 54. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the High-Quality Education Sub-criterion



Figure 50. Relative Importance of Alternatives to Respect High-Quality Education Sub-criterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.31) concerning the High-Quality Education sub-criterion. The H1-B visa alternative is ranked second (0.20), followed by the F-1 STEM OPT, O-1, and L1 visas (0.18, 0.17, and 0.15, respectively). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.06) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.3.19 Results of Alternatives with High-Quality Training Sub-Criteria

Seven experts from Panel P6 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the High-Quality Training sub-criterion. Table 55 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

High-Quality Training	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
Expert 15	0.34	0.19	0.18	0.17	0.12	0
Expert 22	0.23	0.22	0.15	0.28	0.12	0.02
Expert 50	0.5	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0
Expert 53	0.08	0.25	0.3	0.17	0.2	0.05

Table 55. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the High-Quality Training Sub-criterion

Expert 58		0.6	0.12		0.18	0.0	5	0.04	0.04	
Expert 59	().96	0.01		0.01	0.0	1	0.01	0	
Expert 60	(0.18	0.35		0.14	0.1	5	0.16	0.04	
Mean	(0.41	0.18		0.16	0.1	4	0.11		
Std Dev	(0.28	0.1		0.08	0.0	8	0.06		
					Disagr	eement		0.1	0.124	
Source of Varia	tion	Sum of Square Degrees of Freedom					Mea	in Square	F-Test Value	
Between Subjects:		0.4	41	4				0.103	3.39	
Between Condition	s:	0.	00	6				0.000		
Residual:		0.	73		24			0.030		
Total		1.	15		34					
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.01 level:							4.22			
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.025 level:								3.38		
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.05 level:								2.78		
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.1 level:										



Figure 51. Relative Importance of Alternatives to Respect High-Quality Training Sub-criterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.41) concerning the High-Quality Training sub-criterion. The H1-B visa alternative is ranked second (0.18), followed by the O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.16, 0.14, and 0.11, respectively). The inconsistency values (all < 0.10) are below the acceptable threshold.

However, the disagreement value of the High-Quality Training sub-criteria is above the threshold (0.124). Then, a Hierarchical Agglomerative Clustering (HAC) is recommended to threaten the disagreement value, as shown previously.

A cluster test was performed following the Ward methodology to threaten the disagreement value found in the High-Quality Training Sub-Criteria. The SPSS IBM© Software 28 (IBM Corp, 2021) was used to run the analysis. The results of clustering the High-Quality Training Sub-criteria are shown below. The analysis suggests that there are two clusters, "A" and "B" (see Figure 52).



Figure 52. High-Quality Training Sub-criteria Clusters – Results

Results from Cluster A are similar to the overall results of the High-Quality Training -criteria where the Permanent Residence card alternative ranked first (0.41 vs. 0.69) since this group of experts gave a higher value to this sub-criterion, i.e., Element A is ten times more impact than Element B. Then, O-1Visa is ranked second (0.11), followed by H1-B, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.09, 0.07, and 0.06, respectively). All inconsistency values and the overall disagreement value (0.09) are below the threshold.

High-Quality Training	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 50	0.5	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0
Expert 58	0.6	0.12	0.18	0.06	0.04	0.04
Expert 59	0.96	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0
Mean	0.69	0.09	0.11	0.07	0.06	
Std Dev	0.2	0.05	0.07	0.05	0.05	
				Disagreement	0.0)96

Table 56. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P6

Table 57 shows the results of Cluster B, which has four experts. Results from Cluster B contradict the overall results of the High-Quality Training Sub-criteria, where the Permanent Residence card is ranked first (0.41). In this second analysis, H1-B Visa ranks first (0.25), followed by Permanent Residence card, O1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.21, 0.20, 0.19, and 0.15). All inconsistency values and the overall disagreement value (0.062) are below the threshold.

Table 57. Analysis of Cluster "B" results from Panel P6

High-Quality Training	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 15	0.34	0.19	0.18	0.17	0.12	0
Expert 22	0.23	0.22	0.15	0.28	0.12	0.02
Expert 53	0.08	0.25	0.3	0.17	0.2	0.05

Expert 60	0.18	0.35	0.14	0.16	0.16	0.04
Mean	0.21	0.25	0.19	0.2	0.15	
Std Dev	0.09	0.06	0.06	0.05	0.03	
				Disagreement	0.0)62

6.3.20 Results of Alternatives with Increase Immigration Acceptance Sub-Criteria

Seven experts from Panel P6 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Increase Immigration Acceptance sub-criterion. Table 58 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

Increase Immigration Acceptance	Per Res	manent sidence Card	H-1B V	⁄isa	O-1 Visa	F-1 S OPT	TEM Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
Expert 15		0.33	0.18		0.17	0.19		0.13	0
Expert 22		0.24	0.22		0.17	0.	23	0.13	0.01
Expert 50		0.5	0.13		0.13	0.	13	0.13	0
Expert 53		0.65	0.11		0.16	0.	04	0.05	0.06
Expert 55		0.2	0.2		0.2	0	.2	0.2	0
Expert 59		0.96	0.01		0.01	0.	01	0.01	0
Expert 60		0.3	0.25		0.15	0.15		0.16	0.01
Mean		0.45	0.16		0.14	0.14		0.12	
Std Dev		0.25	0.08		0.06	0.08		0.06	
					Disagre	ement		0.1	09
Source of Varia	tion	Sum of	Square	Degrees of Freedom Mean			n Square	F-Test Value	
Between Subjects:		0.	57		4		0.142		5.49
Between Condition	s:	0.	00		6			0.000	
Residual:		0.	57		24			0.024	
Total		1.	14		34				
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at					vel:				4.22
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.025 level:								3.38	
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.05 lev	vel:				2.78
Critical F value wit	h degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.1 leve	el:				2.19

Table 58. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Increase Immigration Acceptance Subcriterion



Figure 53. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Increase Immigration Acceptance Subcriterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.45) concerning the Increase Immigration Acceptance sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative is ranked second (0.16), followed by the O-1 and F-1 STEM OPT visas (0.14). L1 visa is ranked the last (0.12). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) values are below the acceptable threshold. However, the disagreement value (0.109) is above the threshold. Then, a Hierarchical Agglomerative Clustering (HAC) is recommended to threaten the disagreement value, as shown previously.

A cluster test was performed following the Ward methodology to threaten the disagreement value found in the Increase Immigration Acceptance Sub-Criteria; the SPSS IBM© Software 28 (IBM Corp, 2021) was used to run the analysis. The results of clustering the Increase Immigration Acceptance Sub-criteria are shown below. The analysis suggests that there are two clusters, "A" and "B" (see Fig. 54).



Figure 54. Increase Immigration Acceptance Sub-criteria Clusters – Results

Cluster A and B results are similar to the overall results of the Increase Immigration Acceptance -criteria, where the Permanent Residence card alternative ranked first (0.41 vs 0.27 and 0.70). However, the group of experts from Cluster B gave a higher value to this sub-criterion, i.e., Element A is ten times more important than Element B. Then, in cluster A, the H1-B visa is ranked second (0.21), while O-1Visa is ranked second (0.10) in cluster B. All inconsistency values and the overall disagreement values (0.03 and 0.091) are below the threshold.

Table 59. Analysis of Cluster "A" results from Panel P6

Increase Per Immigration Re Acceptance	ermanent esidence H-1 Card	B Visa O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
--	----------------------------------	-----------------	----------------------	---------	-------------------

Expert 15	0.33	0.18	0.17	0.19	0.13	0
Expert 22	0.24	0.22	0.17	0.23	0.13	0.01
Expert 55	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0
Expert 60	0.3	0.25	0.15	0.15	0.16	0.01
Mean	0.27	0.21	0.18	0.19	0.16	
Std Dev	0.05	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.03	
		·		Disagreement	0.	03

Table 60. Analysis of Cluster "B" results from Panel P6

Increase Immigration Acceptance	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistenc y
Expert 50	0.5	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0
Expert 53	0.65	0.11	0.16	0.04	0.05	0.06
Expert 59	0.96	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0
Mean	0.7	0.08	0.1	0.06	0.06	
Std Dev	0.19	0.05	0.06	0.05	0.05	
				Disagreement	0.()91

6.3.21 Results of Alternatives with Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion Sub-Criteria

Seven experts from Panel P6 evaluated the relative importance of the model alternatives with respect to the Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion sub-criterion. Table 61 shows the statistical means of the result of experts' judgments quantification.

 Table 61. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion Sub-criterion

Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
Expert 15	0.33	0.18	0.18	0.18	0.13	0
Expert 22	0.27	0.18	0.12	0.25	0.18	0.03
Expert 50	0.5	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0
Expert 53	0.43	0.14	0.23	0.09	0.11	0.05

Expert 54		0.55	0.21		0.17	0.02	2	0.05	0.	06
Expert 58		0.63	0.18		0.09	0.06	5	0.04	0.	08
Expert 59		0.2	0.2		0.2	0.2		0.2	(0
Expert 60		0.34	0.21		0.13	0.15	5	0.17	0.	02
Mean		0.41	0.18		0.16	0.14	1	0.13		
Std Dev		0.14	0.03		0.04	0.04	1	0.05		
					Disagr	eement		0.07	/1	
Source of Varia	tion	Sum of	Square Degrees of Freedom			dom	Me	an Square	F-Test	Value
Between Subjects:		0.	44		4			0.109	12	.89
Between Condition	s:	0.	00		7			0.000		
Residual:		0.	24		28			0.008		
Total		0.	67		39					
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.01 le	vel:				4.4	07
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.025 1	evel:				3.	29
Critical F value with degrees of freedom 3 & 30 at 0.05 level:						2.	71			
Critical F value with	h degree	s of freedor	n 3 & 30 at	0.1 lev	el:				2.	16
0.45										



Figure 55. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion Sub-criterion

According to the results, the Permanent Residence alternative scored highest (0.41) concerning the Upgrade Type of Selection System sub-criterion. The H-1B Visa Alternative is ranked second (0.18), followed by the O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L-1 visas

(0.16, 0.14, and 0.13). The inconsistency (all < 0.10) and disagreement (0.071) values are below the acceptable threshold.

6.4 Final Model Weights

To conclude this section, the final weights of the importance of alternatives concerning the mission are presented in Table 62. The Permanent Residence Card alternative is ranked first (0.34), followed by the H-1B, O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas (0.21, 0.16, 0.15, and 0.14 accordingly). However, the last three alternatives are weighted closely by expertss. The inconsistency (0.09) and disagreement (0.00) values are acceptable.

Table 62. Relative Importance of Alternatives Respect to the HDM Mission

Mission	Permanent Residence Card	H-1B Visa	O-1 Visa	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	L1 Visa	Inconsistency
Composite	0.34	0.21	0.16	0.15	0.14	0.09
Mean	0.34	0.21	0.16	0.15	0.14	
Std Dev	0	0	0	0	0	
				Disagreement		0

6.4.1. Synthesis of Priorities

According to the results obtained from the expert panels, a synthesis of priorities is calculated to identify the different perspectives that the Hierarchical Decision Model offers. Previous HDM studies suggest there are three types of priorities: (1) the relative priority of criteria concerning the mission, (2) the relative priorities of sub-criteria, and (3) the relative importance of alternatives (Garces, 2020). Table 63 summarizes the output of expert judgment quantification concerning the mission.

Criteria	Criteria		Sub-criteria			Alternatives		
Criteria	Value	Sub-criteria	Value	Value Contribution to Model	Alternatives	Relative Value	Value Contribution to Model	
					Permanent Residence	0.27	0.0159	
		Improving			H-1B Visa	0.24	0.0141	
		Technological	0.31	0.059	O-1 Visa	0.18	0.0106	
		Capabilities			F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.16	0.0094	
					L-1 Visa	0.15	0.0088	
					Permanent Residence	0.3	0.0239	
		Digital			H-1B Visa	0.22	0.0176	
Technological	0.19	Transformation of Application	0.42	0.080	O-1 Visa	0.16	0.0128	
		Process			F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.18	0.0144	
					L-1 Visa	0.14	0.0112	
		Increase National Security Features for Applicants	0.27	0.051	Permanent Residence	0.36	0.0185	
					H-1B Visa	0.2	0.0103	
					O-1 Visa	0.15	0.0077	
					F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.14	0.0072	
					L-1 Visa	0.15	0.0077	
			0.16	0.035	Permanent Residence	0.27	0.0095	
					H-1B Visa	0.29	0.0102	
		Labor Conditions			O-1 Visa	0.15	0.0053	
					F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.17	0.0060	
					L-1 Visa	0.16	0.0056	
				-	Permanent Residence	0.35	0.0208	
Dec. Later					H-1B Visa	0.23	0.0137	
Regulatory Landscape	0.22	Caps/Limits	0.27	0.059	O-1 Visa	0.12	0.0071	
		1			F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.14	0.0083	
					L-1 Visa	0.16	0.0095	
					Permanent Residence	0.39	0.0129	
					H-1B Visa	0.18	0.0059	
		Adapt Industry Necessities	0.15	0.033	O-1 Visa	0.16	0.0053	
		Necessiires			F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.12	0.0040	
					L-1 Visa	0.16	0.0053	

Table 63. Synthesis of Priorities

					Permanent	0.35	0.0116
		Ease Lawful			Residence		
					H-1B Visa	0.19	0.0063
		Permanent	0.22	0.048	O-1 Visa	0.17	0.0056
		Status			F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.15	0.0050
					L-1 Visa	0.15	0.0050
					Permanent Residence	0.34	0.0157
		Raising and			H-1B Visa	0.2	0.0092
		Balance	0.21	0.046	O-1 Visa	0.16	0.0074
		Levels			F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.15	0.0069
					L-1 Visa	0.15	0.0069
					Permanent Residence	0.32	0.0096
					H-1B Visa	0.22	0.0066
		Fee	0.15	0.030	O-1 Visa	0.18	0.0054
		Applications			F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.18	0.0054
					L-1 Visa	0.11	0.0033
		Competitive Wages and Benefits	0.25		Permanent Residence	0.3	0.0150
					H-1B Visa	0.22	0.0110
				0.050	O-1 Visa	0.18	0.0090
	0.2				F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.17	0.0085
					L-1 Visa	0.14	0.0070
				0.042	Permanent Residence	0.26	0.0109
Fconomic					H-1B Visa	0.23	0.0097
Economic	0.2	Value of Contributions	0.21		O-1 Visa	0.18	0.0076
		Contributions			F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.18	0.0076
					L-1 Visa	0.15	0.0063
					Permanent	0.28	0.0118
					Residence	0.00	0.0007
		Actively	0.10	0.020	H-IB Visa	0.23	0.0097
		Engagement	0.19	0.038	O-I Visa	0.18	0.0076
					OPT Visa	0.17	0.0071
					L-1 Visa	0.15	0.0063
		Adjust			Permanent Residence	0.27	0.0108
		Immigration			H-1B Visa	0.23	0.0092
		Targets Based	0.19	0.038	O-1 Visa	0.18	0.0072
		Demand			F-1 STEM	0.18	0.0072
					OPT Visa		

					L-1 Visa	0.15	0.0060
		Making Immigration Selectivity			Permanent	0.34	0.0196
					H-1B Visa	0.23	0.0132
			0.32	0.058	O-1 Visa	0.13	0.0075
		More Egalitation			F-1 STEM	0.16	0.0092
		Egantarian			OPT Visa	0.14	0.0081
					Permanent	0.29	0.0167
					Residence		
		Hybrid System			H-1B Visa	0.19	0.0109
		Selection and	0.21	0.038	O-1 Visa	0.18	0.0104
		Verification			F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.18	0.0104
Political	0.10				L-1 Visa	0.16	0.0092
and Proposals	0.18				Permanent Residence	0.4	0.0194
				0.049	H-1B Visa	0.15	0.0073
		Backlog Reduction	0.27		O-1 Visa	0.16	0.0078
					F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.15	0.0073
					L-1 Visa	0.15	0.0073
		Redistribution and Recapture of LPR Cards and Visas	0.2		Permanent Residence	0.39	0.0140
					H-1B Visa	0.21	0.0076
				0.036	O-1 Visa	0.15	0.0054
					F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.13	0.0047
					L-1 Visa	0.14	0.0050
				0.048	Permanent Residence	0.31	0.0150
					H-1B Visa	0.2	0.0097
		High-Quality Education	0.23		O-1 Visa	0.17	0.0082
					F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.18	0.0087
					L-1 Visa	0.15	0.0072
					Permanent Residence	0.41	0.0215
Social	0.21	High-Quality			H-1B Visa	0.18	0.0095
		Training and	0.25	0.053	O-1 Visa	0.16	0.0084
		Salary			F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.14	0.0074
					L-1 Visa	0.11	0.0058
		Increase			Permanent Residence	0.45	0.0246
		Immigration Acceptance	0.26	0.055	H-1B Visa	0.16	0.0087
					O-1 Visa	0.14	0.0076

					F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.14	0.0076
					L-1 Visa	0.12	0.0066
					Permanent Residence	0.41	0.0224
		Increase	0.26	.6 0.055	H-1B Visa	0.18	0.0098
		Welcoming,			O-1 Visa	0.16	0.0087
		Diversity, and Inclusion			F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.14	0.0076
				L-1 Visa	0.13	0.0071	
Total	1.0		Total	1.0		Total	1.0

The results suggest that all the criteria have close values, meaning that designing or upgrading U.S. immigration policies could integrate more than one perspective. Previous studies suggest that the weights of compared elements must differ substantially to considerably affect the model's objective (Garces, 2020). The SPSS IBM© Software 28 (IBM Corp, 2021) was used to run a cluster analysis (Ward methodology) to identify subgroups for Level 2 of the HDM criteria (see Fig. 56). The analysis suggests that there are two clusters of experts: cluster "A," which includes fifteen experts, and cluster "B," which includes eight experts.



Figure 56. Level 2 - Criteria Cluster - Results

Once the cluster analysis identified two sub-groups regarding the HDM Level 2 – Criteria, mean values were calculated accordingly for each sub-group. Table 64 shows the changes in the ranking for the criteria after running the cluster analysis since each cluster of experts differs in their selection of options. Experts from Cluster A clearly prioritized the following criteria:(1) Regulatory Landscape, (2) Social, and (3) Political Interpretation and Proposals as the most important (0.26, 0.24, and 0.21, respectively). In contrast, experts from Cluster B prioritized the (1) Technological and (2) Economic criteria as their top selection (0.33 and 0.26, respectively).

Changes in L-2	Technological	Regulatory Landscape	Economic	Political Interpretation and Proposals	Social
HDM Base model	0.19	0.22	0.20	0.18	0.21
Cluster A (Fifteen Experts)	0.12	0.26	0.17	0.21	0.24
Cluster B (Eight Experts)	0.33	0.15	0.26	0.12	0.14

Table 64. Criteria Value Changes with Cluster Analysis

The change of priorities would drastically impact the rank of the sub-criteria but, like the sensitivity analysis results, would not affect the rank of the alternatives. For instance, the top priorities for Cluster A are focused on Regulatory Landscape, Social, and Political Interpretation and Proposals aspects: Fluctuations of Caps/Limits (0.070), Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian (0.067), Increase Immigration Acceptance (0.062), Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion (0.062), High-Quality Training and Salary (0.060), Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status (0.057), Backlog Reduction (0.057), High-Quality Education (0.055), Raising and Balance Immigration Levels (0.055), and Digital Transformation of Application Process (0.050). On the other hand, the top priorities for Cluster B are focused solely on Technological and Economic aspects: Improving Technological Capabilities (0.138), Digital Transformation of Application Process (0.102), Increase National Security Features for Applicants (0.089), Competitive Wages and Benefits (0.065), Value of Contributions (0.054), and Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demand (0.052).

Figure 57 shows a graphic representation of the final results with values ranked from highest to lowest. According to the experts who participated in this study, the relative priority of criteria concerning the mission is as follows: Regulatory Landscape criteria is ranked first (0.22), followed by Social (0.21), Economic (0.20), Technological (0.19), and Political Interpretation and Proposals (0.18).



Figure 57. HDM Weighted Model

The top relative priorities of sub-criteria concerning the mission are Digital Transformation of Application (0.080), Fluctuation of Caps/Limits (0.059), Ease of Lawful Permanent Residence Status (0.048), Competitive Wages (0.50), Value of Contributions (0.042), Making immigration selectivity more egalitarian (0.058), Backlog Reduction (0.049), Increase Immigration Acceptance (0.055), and Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion (0.055).

Based on the analysis, the HDM model sub-criteria are useful policy tools for decision-makers to design immigration policies for technology professional immigrants (see Table 65). Based on the findings, policymakers can focus on the top policy tool items to guide the policy design process. Out of the 21 policy tools, nine are related to retention strategies, eight are related to attraction strategies, two are related to settlement strategies, and the last two are related to selection strategies. It's worth noting that historically, US immigration policies have mainly focused on attracting and selecting technology professional immigrants without much emphasis on their retention and settlement. However, this new approach can be beneficial in developing more effective and comprehensive immigration policies.

Criteria	Sub-criteria	Policy Tool	Contribution to Model
Technological	Digital Transformation of Application Process	Retention	0.08
Technological	Improving Technological Capabilities	Retention	0.059
Regulatory Landscape	Fluctuations of Caps/Limits	Retention	0.059
Political Interpretation	Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian	Settlement	0.058
Social	Increase Immigration Acceptance	Attraction	0.055

Table 65. Classification of Policy Tools

Social	Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion	Attraction	0.055
Social	High-Quality Training and Salary	Attraction	0.053
Technological	Increase National Security Features for Applicants	Selection	0.051
Economic	Competitive Wages and Benefits	Attraction	0.05
Political Interpretation	Backlog Reduction	Retention	0.049
Regulatory Landscape	Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status	Settlement	0.048
Social	High-Quality Education	Attraction	0.048
Regulatory Landscape	Raising and Balance Immigration Levels	Retention	0.046
Economic	Value of Contributions	Retention	0.042
Economic	Actively Engagement	Retention	0.038
Economic	Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demand	Retention	0.038
Political Interpretation	Hybrid System for Dual Selection and Verification	Selection	0.038
Political Interpretation	Redistribution and Recapture of LPR Cards and Visas	Retention	0.036
Regulatory Landscape	Labor Conditions	Attraction	0.035
Regulatory Landscape	Adapt Industry Necessities	Attraction	0.033
Economic	Fee Applications	Attraction	0.03

Table 66 shows the alternatives ranked from the expert panel results, from higher to lower. The alternatives are ranked according to their values with respect to each criterion and sub-criteria following a logical order. Alternative 1, Permanent Residence, has the highest weight in all the sub-criteria, followed by Alternative 2, H1-B visa. On the other hand, Alternatives 3, 4, and 5, O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L-1 visas are ranked very closely among all sub-criteria. Disagreement (0.09) and inconsistency (0.0) values are below the threshold.
Alternative	Alternative Name	Base Value	Rank	Sensitivity Value
Alternative 1	Permanent Residence Card	0.34	1	0.34
Alternative 2	H-1B Visa	0.21	2	0.21
Alternative 3	O-1 Visa	0.16	3	0.16
Alternative 4	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.15	4	0.15
Alternative 5	L1 Visa	0.14	5	0.14

Table 66. Overall Importance of Alternatives with Respect to the Mission

Based on the results, permanent residence and H1-B visa are the top alternatives for the HDM mission (0.34 and 0.21, respectively) as the top alternatives from all 21 subcriteria. Permanent Residence EB1 and EB2 employment based are important for the government since several technology professional immigrants work in STEM-related jobs, while for H1-B visa holders, the natural path to adjust the status to seek permanent residency. However, technology professional immigrants from countries such as India, China, Mexico, and the Philippines are facing difficulties in adjusting their status due to the long backlog. This is affecting their professional opportunities, their families, and their well-being. The H1-B visa is the most common way to seek permanent relocation to the United States, while the F-1 student visa is the most common way to attract technology professional immigrants. The loss of these talented individuals means that the government's investment in public universities is never returned, and all the skills that international students acquired in the US are taken to another country. The other two alternatives, O-1 and L1 visas (0.16, and 0.14) were almost equally weighted. Decision makers can use the results from this study to bridge the gap between the alternatives for each sub-criteria group (see Fig. 58).

	Priority of Alternatives									
Sub-Criteria	Policy Tool	0	0.10	0.20	0.30	0.40	0.50			
Digital Transformation of Application Process	Retention				•					
Improving Technological Capabilities	Retention									
Fluctuations of Caps/Limits	Retention									
Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian	Settlement									
Increase Immigration Acceptance	Attraction									
Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion	Attraction									
High-Quality Training and Salary	Attraction									
Increase National Security Features for Applicants	Selection					•				
Competitive Wages and Benefits	Attraction									
Backlog Reduction	Retention									
Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status	Settlement									
High-Quality Education	Attraction									
Raising and Balance Immigration Levels	Retention									
Value of Contributions	Retention									
Actively Engagement	Retention									
Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demand	Retention									
Hybrid System for Dual Selection and Verification	Selection									
Redistribution and Recapture of LPR Cards and Visas	Retention									
Labor Conditions	Attraction									
Adapt Industry Necessities	Attraction									
Fee Applications	Attraction									
PR Permanent Residence H1-B H1-B Visa 0-1	O-1 Visa	F-1	F-1 STEM OPT	Visa	L-1 L-1 Visa	1				

Figure 58. Priority of Alternatives Respect to the HDM Sub-Criteria

To conclude, decision-makers should not base their final decision solely on the rank of the alternatives from a multicriteria decision-making model. Instead, decision-makers should interpret the results accurately before making a decision (Kujawski, 2003).

CHAPTER 7: ANALYSIS CASE DEVELOPMENT

According to scholars, sensitivity analysis is a helpful tool for stakeholders that eases the decision-making process in many ways, such as visualizing the impact of changes in policies or strategies, identifying the crucial elements involved in the decision-making process, creating alternative scenarios, and creating alternative answers to additional questions (Abotah, 2014; Daim et al., 2018b; Garces, 2020; Thabane et al., 2013). Additionally, sensitivity analysis helps determine whether a recommendation is robust. Among the sensitivity analysis methods, mathematical deduction, numerical incremental analysis, and simulation are some of the most generally used to test multi-criteria decisionmaking models (Abotah, 2014; Daim et al., 2018b; Garces, 2020).

This chapter performs a sensitivity analysis using the mathematical deduction method to analyze the robustness model. This method determines the changes in the local contribution values of the model. Thus, the new sensitivity coefficients could change and alter the order of the alternatives. The sensitivity analysis could also provide a new set of critical decision elements. Several studies using HDM have tested the sensitivity analysis to prove the effectiveness of this technique (Abotah, 2014; Daim et al., 2018b; Garces, 2020).

7.1 Scenario Analysis

An application case is proposed to demonstrate the validity of the HDM model. The application case is used to test different scenarios using sensitivity analysis (Estep, 2017). Thus, the different scenarios forecast the impact or change on the proposal if one sub-

criteria is evaluated as the most significant (Estep, 2017). This technique is used to determine how sensitive the model is and if there is any pointed change in the evaluated criteria. The application case analysis is expected to demonstrate the model's capacity to assess the immigration policies available for technology professional immigrants in the United States. Also, this analysis can be used for policymakers to develop or upgrade immigration policies.

Following the principles of the mathematical deduction method, five "what if" scenarios are presented to test the robustness of the final model. For each scenario, a value of 0.96 is assigned to the main scenario, while the rest of the criteria are assigned with a constant value of 0.01 (see Table 67).

Scenario	Description
Technological	Projects that are focused to achieve technological improves
Regulatory Landscape	Projects that are focused to achieve regulatory landscape improves
Economic	Projects that are focused to achieve economic improves
Political Interpretation & Proposals	Projects that are focused to achieve political improves
Social	Projects that are focused to achieve social improves

Table 67. Description of Scenarios

Table 68 shows the new weight values for the Technological criterion. In this scenario, the Technological criterion is assigned a value of 0.96, while the others are assigned a value of 0.01 each. The results of this scenario show that the alternatives are still the same. There is a slight variation of the Permanent Residence value (0.34 vs 0.31). The rest of the alternatives remain the same: H-1B (0.21 vs. 0.22), O-1 (0.16), F-1 STEM OPT (0.15 vs. 0.16), and L-1 (0.14 vs. 0.15). The main takeaway from this scenario is that two alternatives are ranked as the third option, O-1 and F-1 STEM OPT visas.

Scenario	Technological	nological Regulatory Landscape		Political Interpretation and Proposals		Social	
Value	0.96	0.01	0.01		0.01	0.01	
Alternative	Alternat	ive Title	Base Values	Rank	nk Sensitivity Value		New Rank
Alternative 1	Permanent	Residence	0.34	1	0.31		1
Alternative 2	H-1E	3 Visa	0.21	2	0.22		2
Alternative 3	O-1	Visa	0.16	3	0.16		3
Alternative 4	F-1 STEM	OPT Visa	0.15	4	0.16		3
Alternative 5	L-1	Visa	0.14	5	0.15		4

Table 68. Sensitivity Analysis with Technological dominant Criterion

Table 69 shows the new weight values for the Regulatory Landscape criterion. In this scenario, the Regulatory Landscape criterion is assigned a value of 0.96, while the others are assigned a value of 0.01 each. The main takeaway from this scenario is the considerable change in the Permanent Residence alternative. Alternative 1 lost one-third of its weight, meaning that if regulations changed, the permanent residence alternative would change drastically. The rest of the alternatives remain the same: H-1B (0.21), O-1 (0.16 vs. 0.14), F-1 STEM OPT (0.15 vs. 0.14), and L-1 (0.14 vs. 0.15) visas.

Table 69. Sensitivity Analysis with Regulatory Landscape dominant Criterion

Scenario	Technological	Regulatory Landscape	Economic	Political Interpretation and Proposals		Social	
Value	0.01	0.96	0.01	(0.01	0.01	
Alternative	Alternat	tive Title	Base Values	Rank	Sensitivity Value		New Rank
Alternative 1	Permanent	t Residence	0.34	1	0.23		1

Alternative 2	H-1B Visa	0.21	2	0.21	2
Alternative 3	O-1 Visa	0.16	3	0.14	4
Alternative 4	F-1 STEM OPT Visa	0.15	4	0.14	4
Alternative 5	L-1 Visa	0.14	5	0.15	3

Table 70 shows the new weight values for the Economic criterion. In this scenario, the Economic criterion is assigned a value of 0.96 while the others are assigned a value of 0.01 each. The main takeaway from this scenario is the major change in the Permanent Residence alternative, although it remains the top alternative. Also, H-1B Visa (0.21 vs 0.23) and F-1 STEM OPT visa (0.15 vs 0.18) increased their value. The rest of the alternatives continue as follows: O-1 (0.16 vs. 0.18) and L-1 (0.14 vs. 0.14).

Scenario	Technological Regulatory Landscape		Economic	Po Interpr Pro	litical etation and oposals	Social	
Value	0.01	0.01	0.96		0.01	0.01	
Alternative	Alternat	ive Title	Base Values	Rank	Sensitivity Value		New Rank
Alternative 1	Permanent	Residence	0.34	1	0.29		1
Alternative 2	H-1B	Visa	0.21	2	0.23		2
Alternative 3	O-1	Visa	0.16	3	0.18		3
Alternative 4	F-1 STEM	OPT Visa	0.15	4	0.18		3
Alternative 5	L-1	Visa	0.14	5	0.14		5

Table 70. Sensitivity Analysis with Economic dominant Criterion

Table 71 shows the new values of the weights for the Political Interpretation and Proposals criterion. In this scenario, the Political Interpretation and Proposals criterion is assigned a value of 0.96, while the others are assigned a value of 0.01 each. The main takeaway from this scenario is that the important change in the Permanent Residence alternative increased its value and remains the top alternative. The rest of the alternatives continue without important change in their value: H1-B (0.21 vs. 0.22), O-1 (0.16 vs. 0.17), F-1 STEM OPT (0.15 vs. 0.17), and L-1 (0.14 vs. 0.16) visas.

Scenario	Technological Regulatory Landscape		Economic	Po Interpr Pro	olitical etation and oposals	Social
Value	0.01	0.01	0.01		0.96	0.01
Alternative	Alternat	ive Title	Base Values	Rank	Sensitivity Value	New Rank
Alternative 1	Permanent	Residence	0.34	1	0.38	1
Alternative 2	H-1E	3 Visa	0.21	2	0.22	2
Alternative 3	O-1	Visa	0.16	3	0.17	3
Alternative 4	F-1 STEM	OPT Visa	0.15	4	0.17	3
Alternative 5	L-1	Visa	0.14	5	0.16	4

Table 71. Sensitivity Analysis with Political Interpretation & Proposals dominant Criterion

Table 72 shows the new values of the weights for the Social criterion. In this scenario, the Social criterion is assigned a value of 0.96, while the others are assigned a value of 0.01 each. The main takeaway from this scenario is that the major change in the Permanent Residence alternative increased its value and remains the top alternative. The rest of the alternatives continue without important change in their value: H1-B (0.21 vs. 0.18), O-1 (0.16 vs. 0.16), F-1 STEM OPT (0.15 vs. 0.15), and L-1 (0.14 vs. 0.13) visas.

Scenario	Technological Regulatory Landscape		Economic	Po Interpr Pro	litical etation and oposals	Social
Value	0.01	0.01	0.01	(0.01	0.96
Alternative	Alternat	ive Title	Base Values	Rank	Sensitivity Value	v New Rank
Alternative 1	Permanent	Residence	0.34	1	0.39	1
Alternative 2	H-1B	Visa	0.21	2	0.18	2
Alternative 3	O-1	Visa	0.16	3	0.16	3
Alternative 4	F-1 STEM	OPT Visa	0.15	4	0.15	4
Alternative 5	L-1	Visa	0.14	5	0.13	5

Table 72. Sensitivity Analysis with Social dominant Criterion

Tables 73 and 74 show the summary of the case analysis results. Despite several iterations because of the sensitivity analysis, Alternatives 1 and 2 remain at the top (see Figure 59). Both alternatives remain as the first and second options. Additionally, the value changes for Alternatives 3 to 5, and the ranks do not change drastically either.

				e 1:	Cas	e 2:	Case	e 3 :	Case	4:	Case	e 5:
	Base Case ves		Technolo = 0.96	ogical	Techno = 0.01	logical	Technolo 0.01	gical =	Technolo 0.01	gical =	Technolo 0.01	gical =
			Regulatory Landscape = 0.01		Regula Landsc 0.96	Regulatory Landscape = 0.96		Regulatory Landscape = 0.01		Regulatory Landscape = 0.01		ry be =
Alternatives			Economic =Economic =0.010.01		Economic = 0.96		Economic = 0.01		Economic = 0.01			
			Political Interpretation and Proposals = 0.01		Politica Interpre- and Pro = 0.01	Political Interpretation and Proposals = 0.01		ation osals =	Political Interpre and Proj = 0.96	tation posals	Political Interpreta and Prop 0.01	ation osals =
			Social =	0.01	Social	= 0.01	Social =	= 0.01	Social =	= 0.01	Social =	0.96
	Base Values	Base Rank	New Value	New Rank	New Value	New Rank	New Value	New Rank	New Value	New Rank	New Value	New Rank
Alternative 1	0.34	1	0.31	1	0.23	1	0.29	1	0.38	1	0.39	1

Table 73. Summary of Case Sensitive Analysis

Alternative 2	0.21	2	0.22	2	0.21	2	0.23	2	0.22	2	0.18	2
Alternative 3	0.16	3	0.16	3	0.14	4	0.18	3	0.17	3	0.16	3
Alternative 4	0.15	4	0.16	3	0.14	4	0.18	3	0.17	3	0.15	4
Alternative 5	0.14	5	0.15	4	0.15	3	0.14	4	0.16	4	0.13	5

Table 74. Summary of Case Sensitive Analysis - Weights

Alternatives	Base value	Case 1	Case 2	Case 3	Case 4	Case 5
Alternative 1	0.34	0.31	0.23	0.29	0.38	0.39
Alternative 2	0.21	0.22	0.21	0.23	0.22	0.18
Alternative 3	0.16	0.16	0.14	0.18	0.17	0.16
Alternative 4	0.15	0.16	0.14	0.18	0.17	0.15
Alternative 5	0.14	0.15	0.15	0.14	0.16	0.13



Figure 59. Summary of Case sensitive Analysis - Weights

Table 75 shows how the alternatives changed by performing the sensitivity analysis. There are no substantial changes in the alternatives. Alternatives 1 and 2 remain the first and second alternatives, while Alternatives 3 and 4 have the same value and rank. Alternative 5 remains the last alternative in four out of five tests (see Fig. 60). In other words, lower weights will not alter the alternatives' values since their base value is smaller than the dominant alternatives.

Alternatives **Base value** Case 1 Case 2 Case 3 Case 4 Case 5 Alternative 1 Alternative 2 Alternative 3 Alternative 4 Alternative 5

Table 75. Summary of Case Sensitive Analysis - Change of Ranks



Figure 60. Case Sensitive Analysis - Change of Ranks

It can be determined that a sensitivity analysis is helpful to examine the robustness of the HDM results (Garces, 2020). Multicriteria decision-making methods, such as the Hierarchical Decision Model, can provide several trade-offs, and decisions cannot be determined on a single criterion as an ideal solution (Kujawski, 2003). Therefore, a sensitivity analysis can identify some of the model's limitations, if any. Thus, Alternative 1, Permanent Residence, and Alternative 2, H1-B Visa, are the dominant values in the model.

7.2 Post Hoc Model Results Evaluation

Finally, Table 76 shows a post hoc evaluation that includes responses from 16 experts who participated in the research. The experts responded to the question, "Do you think the HDM's weights and values are logical?" The experts selected "Yes" if they found the HDM's weights and values logical or "No" if they thought the opposite. All 16 experts selected "Yes" and found the model weights and values logical.

No.	Expert	Yes	No	Additional Feedback
1	Expert 4	~		This all looks very good and the result of a thorough process that I have seen improve over the course of the study.
2	Expert 7	~		
3	Expert 11	√		
4	Expert 12	√		
5	Expert 15	√		
6	Expert 18	~		
7	Expert 19	√		
8	Expert 21	~		Just a little surprised that "Social" was so close to "Regulatory" - interesting!

Table 76. Post Hoc Model Validation

9	Expert 29	✓	
10	Expert 30	~	Not clear what "Making Immigration Selectivity more Egalitarian" means in practice. Does it refer to process? Does it refer to outcomes?
11	Expert 34	~	
12	Expert 42	~	I think I understand the "gist" of the research. I liked your approach to try to analyze variables and relative weights. Thanks for including me in this project.
13	Expert 44	~	
14	Expert 48	 ✓ 	
15	Expert 56	 ✓ 	
16	Expert 57	~	This research is amazing. Congratulations to the people who were involved along the process.

CHAPTER 8: RESEARCH CONCLUSIONS

8.1 Conclusions, Contributions, and Implications

This research achieved the general objective of developing a comprehensive hierarchical decision model to address current U.S. immigration policy issues by evaluating the legal alternatives available for technology professionals. These policies affect the attraction, selection, retention, and settlement of highly talented individuals seeking to flourish in the United States. Therefore, evaluating immigration policies involves a set of comprehensive criteria and sub-criteria to overcome the challenges that, in some vein, impact all stakeholders.

After conducting a systematic literature review, a group of criteria, sub-criteria, and alternatives were identified regarding U.S. immigration policies for technology professionals. This research followed all the steps of the Hierarchical Decision Model (HDM)methodology to develop a multi-criteria decision making framework. By doing so, the model increases the likelihood of reducing human biases while assuring practical use (Daim, 2016). The HDM model has four levels or hierarchies, which are (1) Mission, (2) Criteria, (3) Sub-criteria, and (4) Alternatives. The model resulting from this research aims to guide policymakers in the United States. However, other countries with similar employment or point-based immigration systems can use the model by customizing it accordingly.

This study also succeeded in answering the research questions formulated in Section 3. For research question 1: What are the criteria for evaluating the effectiveness of immigration policies in increasing the attraction and retention of technology professionals? The HDM model evaluated U.S. immigration policies for technology professional immigrants by incorporating the research gaps identified from the literature review, making this a substantial contribution to the current body of knowledge. Overall, the HDM model incorporates legal alternatives, and elements from immigration theories to propose a robust and reliable framework. Therefore, the resulting HDM model from this study can guide policymakers in designing or upgrading current U.S. immigration policies and the criteria identified in order of importance are Regulatory Landscape (0.22), Social (0.21), Economic (0.20), Technological (0.19), and Political Interpretation and Proposals (0.18).

For research question 2: Which policy instrument does have the highest effect on accelerating the attraction and retention of technology professional immigration? The experts validated and quantified the identified group of twenty-one sub-criteria, which are policy instruments. The analysis suggests that the policy tools could have the highest effect on accelerating the attraction and retention of technology professional immigrants are:

*Retention (Digital Transformation of Application Process - 0.08, Improving Technological Capabilities - 0.059, Fluctuations of Caps/Limits - 0.059, Backlog Reduction - 0.049, Raising and Balance Immigration Levels - 0.046, Value of Contributions - 0.042, Actively Engagement - 0.038, Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demand - 0.038, and Redistribution and Recapture of LPR Cards and Visas - 0.036)

*Attraction (Increase Immigration Acceptance - 0.055, Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion - 0.055, High-Quality Training and Salary- 0.053,

Competitive Wages and Benefits - 0.05, High-Quality Education - 0.048, Labor Conditions- 0.035, and Adapt Industry Necessities - 0.033, and Fee Applications - 0.03)

*Settlement (Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian - 0.058, and Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status - 0.048), and

*Selection (National Security Features for Applicants - 0.051, and Hybrid System for Dual Selection and Verification - 0.038).

Finally, for research question 3: What are the levels and weights of criteria and subcriteria associated with the attraction and retention of technology professional immigration? The HDM model developed for this study identify the criteria and subcriteria associated with the attraction and retention of technology professional immigrants. It should be noted that attraction and retention strategies combine sub-criteria from different levels. Retention strategies combine technological, regulatory landscape, economic, and political tools while attraction strategies combine social, regulatory landscape, economic, and political tools. The HDM results suggest that the Permanent Residence and the H1-B visa (0.34 and 0.21, respectively) are the top alternatives from all policy tools. As previously mentioned, Permanent Residence EB1 and EB2 and H1-B visa holders employment options are central for the government, industry, and academia since a large percentage of technology professional immigrants work in STEM-related jobs. The rest of the alternatives, O-1, F-1 STEM OPT, and L1 visas, were almost equally weighted meaning that policy makers can work on bridge the gaps between the top and button alternatives.

This dissertation research project began in Fall 2021 (literature review) and continued until 2023 (validation and quantification of the HDM model). However, there have been several changes in areas related to U.S. immigration policies since then. Therefore, a thorough update on recent changes of U.S. immigration policies is shown below that are similar to the findings of this study.

Technological Criterion Updates

The Technological criterion includes three sub-criteria (1) Improving Technological Capabilities, (2) Digital Transformation of Application Processes, and (3) Increase National Security Features for Applicants. Some of the updates are:

- USCIS launched a service tool that allows applicants to reschedule biometric services appointments (USCIS, 2023a).
- USCIS released its 2023-2026 Strategic Plan, which delivers a roadmap for the agency to strengthen its capabilities. The Strategic Document plans to hire and train USCIS staff to acquire new technological skills to perform their work. According to USCIS, leveraging the digital transformation of their process will transform how employees process immigration applications. It is expected that USCIS employees can work remotely (USCIS, 2023a).
- USCIS released a new design to improve the security of Permanent Resident Cards and Employment Authorization Documents (USCIS, 2023a)
- The White House proposed a new scanning technology to protect the borders (The White House, 2021).

• Lastly, The White House proposed to improve technology for immigration courts along with the development and implementation of AI technologies (The White House, 2021; The White House, 2023).

Regulatory Landscape Criterion Updates

The Regulatory Landscape Criterion includes five sub-criteria (1) Labor Conditions, (2) Adapt Industry Necessities, (3), Fluctuation of Caps/Limits, (4) Ease Lawful Permanent Resident Status, and (5) Raising and Balance Immigration Levels. The main updates regarding the Regulatory Landscape criterion are:

- The White House proposed new worker protection to prevent exploitation and improve the employment verification process (The White House, 2021).
- USCIS will develop a new generation E-Verify program, using a human-centered design approach to ensure that the needs of employees are considered (USCIS, 2023b).
- Cornell University Law School also proposed an industry-specific bill for highly skilled and essential workers (Yale-Loehr et al., 2023).
- The White House proposed providing pathways to citizenship or permanent legal status for immigrants, strengthening labor protections, and increasing the number of visas available (The White House, 2021).

Economic Criterion Updates

The Economic Criterion includes five sub-criteria (1) Fee Applications, (2) Competitive Wages, (3) Value of Contributions, (4) Actively Engagement, and (5) Adjust Immigration Targets Based on Economic Demands. Some updates for the Economic Criterion are as follows:

- The White House proposed the U.S. Citizenship Act of 2021 to strengthen the economy by solving current U.S. immigration issues, such as the growth backlog, time processing for applications, and also to cap work visas based on economic indicators (The White House, 2021).
- Cornell University Law School proposed a cap per visa program based on economic drivers and labor market dynamics (Yale-Loehr et al., 2023).
- USCIS published a rule to adjust immigration fees, dated to go into effect on April
 1, 2024. USCIS stated that the generated revenue will be used to create innovative
 solutions to the application process and to reduce the STEM backlog, among other
 projects (USCIS, 2024).

Political Interpretation and Proposals Criterion Updates

The Political Interpretation and Proposals Criterion includes four sub-criteria: (1) Making Immigration Selectivity More Egalitarian, (2) Upgrading the Type of Selection System, (3) Backlog Reduction, and (4) Redistribution of LPR Cards / Visas. The U.S. Citizenship Act of 2021 proposed by the White House (2021) aligns with the Political Interpretation and Proposals sub-criteria in all areas except Upgrading the Type of Selection System. Scholars argue that the U.S. employment-based immigration system is a stricter or meritocratic version of any point-based immigration policy. For instance, the applicants for the EB-1 visa should meet at least three of the ten criteria for extraordinary ability to position them to the level of recipients of Nobel, Pulitzer, Oscar, or Olympic awards (Hopkins, 2021).

Social Criterion Updates

Finally, the Social Criterion includes four sub-criteria (1) High-Quality Education, (2), High-Quality Training, (3) Increase Immigration Acceptance, and (4) Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion. There are several U.S. organizations working on bridging the gap that technology professional immigrants face with social related issues. For instance, Welcoming America works on certifying cities and counties as inclusive for immigrants to thrive in their communities (Peric, 2023; Welcoming America, 2024). Other organizations, such as Open Avenues Foundation that works on offering micro-internships to high-skilled immigrants to obtain professional experience and increase their likelihood to obtain an H1-B visa (Open Avenues, 2024) and Global Detroit that works on developing strategies to strengthen the inclusion of immigrants across the United States (Global Detroit, 2024). This work aligns with The White House pathways for immigrant and refugee integration (The White House, 2021).

Alternatives Updates

The major updates from the alternatives evaluated in the HDM model are:

- Department of Homeland Security and USCIS proposed changes to the H1-B visa program, such as defining the specialty occupation concept, modernizing the registration process, reducing fraud, and increasing the likelihood of applicants to be selected (DHS, 2023).
- The changes to the H1-B visa program can also affect other programs evaluated in this research, such as the F1 and L1.

- USCIS updated the F-1 STEM OPT visa program regarding the flexibility of recent graduates to work under new STEM categories and work with startups. However, these startups should be certified as E-Verify companies (USCIS, 2023).
- USCIS also clarified the L1-visa program for sole proprietorship applications to prevent fraud.

To conclude, U.S. immigration policies for skilled immigrants have been historically used as an economic growth driver (Hopkins, 2021). However, these policies need more long-term strategies to retain and settle immigrants. Despite the restrictive nature of the legal U.S. immigration paths, technology-professional immigrants are willing to settle, work, and contribute to the prosperity of the U.S. economy (Bier, 2023). The results of this dissertation can be a helpful guide for policymakers to develop a bill or complement existing bills since it incorporates immigration and policy elements, such as clearer pathways to permanent status, allowing certain dual intent visas, backlog reduction, and increase in the number of visas and permanent resident cards (Bipartisan Policy Center, 2022). Moreover, this dissertation proposed a holistic assessment framework helpful to reform U.S. employment-based immigration policies, that according to Kandel et al. (2022), these reforms happen as a result of policymakers developing comprehensive analysis. Current U.S. immigration policies have not had a significant reform since the 1990s. Thus, if these issues continue, they will affect not only technology professionals but also companies and the U.S. economy.

Contributions from an Academic Perspective

This research contributes to the discipline of Engineering and Technology Management by presenting a novel study evaluating U.S. immigration policies of technology professionals. Moreover, the Hierarchical Decision Model (HDM) identified the main criteria and sub-criteria associated with the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technology professionals. Then, the methodological contributions of this research to the multi-criteria decision-making research are as follows:

(1) The model presented here is a novel and holistic approach to evaluating or developing immigration policies in the United States or any other country that uses a point-based system. However, for countries that rely on point-based systems to attract international talent, the HDM must be customized, (2) the outcomes of this research contribute to the current body of MCDA knowledge, and (3) the introduction of a policy-development framework in the area of technology professional / highly skilled immigration.

Contributions from a Practical Perspective

From a practical perspective, this research which combines qualitative and quantitative approaches, by presenting an MCDA model for the evaluation (levels and weights) of technology professional immigration policies in the United States, which is helpful to unravel the restrictionism of immigration policies and disclose social trends of the immigrants (Czaika and Hein, 2013). In 2023, the shortage of jobs across the United States was estimated to reach 11 million (Committee for Economic Development of The Conference Board, 2023). Therefore, the results from this research can be helpful, in the short and long term, to fulfill the shortage of these jobs across the United States that is

detrimental to economic growth and prosperity (Yale-Loehr et al., 2023). The HDM model is a valuable assessment tool for the contributions of technology professional immigrants in the United States by identifying several economic and non-economic international immigration drivers (Czaika and Hein, 2013). By loosening the restrictions for highly skilled immigrants (Bier, 2023) and enabling the findings of this study, the contributions of these individuals in the United States can increase over time. As a result, the United States will benefit in several areas, including scientific activity, economic growth, technological advantage, as suggested by the U.S. Citizenship Act of 2021 Bill proposed by the U.S. Federal Government (The White House, 2021). Additionally, the HDM model can help government, industry, and academia, in general, to align its hiring policies to the results validated and quantified by the panel of experts. By doing that, the shortage of technology professionals/high-skilled individuals in the United States can be addressed directly by the stakeholders in the era of Employment 5.0, Artificial Intelligence, and CHIPS and Science Act to support engagement and retention of long-term policies for technology-professional immigrants (Contreras et al., 2023; The White House, 2022; The White House, 2023).

8.2 Limitations of the Research

This research aims to evaluate the U.S. immigration policies for technology professionals by determining the main factors that affect those policies. Nonetheless, the methodology used to carry out this study, the Hierarchical Decision Model, has some limitations that must be described. First, HDM relies heavily on the judgments of experts. The judgments have a subjective nature, which can bias the results. Also, the level of knowledge might significantly differ among experts. Thus, this might negatively affect the validation and quantification processes that lead to obtaining the model's results. The researcher followed all the HDM protocols, aiming to reduce human biases.

Second, the HDM model ranks alternatives based on the importance and weights assigned by experts. However, this model can only determine the likelihood of implementation considering some regulatory and political barriers. As mentioned before, the researcher aims to facilitate the methodology when multi-criteria decision-making methodologies are used to solve problems. However, the final decision needs to be made by decision-makers.

Third, the HDM results might differ if other experts had participated. Since this research took place during a specific time, and despite the best effort to identify experts and accommodate them in the panel that better aligns with their expertise, several circumstances and external factors affected the research development, such as expert engagement, willingness, commitment, noise, personal well-being, and quality of judgment. The researcher is responsible for ensuring the collected data meets the inconsistency and disagreement thresholds. If any response exceeds the threshold, the researcher needs to return to the expert(s) to fix their responses. Then, if the experts are unwilling to provide their judgment again, the data is not helpful. As a result, several responses were deleted since they did not meet consistency and agreement.

Fourth, the study did not consider the experts' political beliefs, country of birth, nationality, or immigration status. Hence, some of the judgments might be biased according to the experts' interests.

Finally, since U.S. immigration policies are constantly evaluated, new updates might make the results obtained from this research obsolete by the time it is published due to regulatory, political, economic, or social changes. Moreover, immigration policy reform is among the most polarizing public and political topics. Therefore, the results of this research are debatable.

8.3 Future Work

This research provides a framework to evaluate U.S. immigration policies, which resulted from a process of identification, validation, and quantification of a set of criteria, sub-criteria, and alternative and the results can be helpful recommendations for policymakers. The HDM model presented here was validated and quantified by experts following the approach used by former dissertations in the multicriteria decision-making area (Estep, 2019; Garces, 2020). Therefore, researchers can test the HDM model from this research to quantitatively evaluate immigration policies by adapting the model to other countries and conditions that employ large numbers of technology professional immigrants, such as Canada, Australia, Germany, or the U.K.

Future studies can also include other streams of highly skilled immigrants such as TN visa holders, DACA recipients, and high-skilled refugees and asylum seekers since these groups often face arbitrary barriers that prevent them to practice their profession or to find a path for legal residency (Owen et al., 2022). Lastly, another research stream can explore aspects of highly skilled professional immigrants in the United States that are out of the scope of this study, such as age groups, careers, gender, immigration status, political affiliation, and ethnicity. Policymakers must determine the best profiles of technology professional immigrants that the United States should attract and retain for all governmental agencies, industries, research centers, and universities in the short and long term to boost economic growth and innovation.

REFERENCES

Abbas, Mustafa Sulaiman. (2016). "Consistency Analysis for Judgment Quantification in Hierarchical Decision Model" (2016). Dissertations and Theses. Paper 2699. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.2695.

Abdullah, L., Chan, W. & Afshari, A. Application of PROMETHEE method for green supplier selection: a comparative result based on preference functions. J Ind Eng Int 15, 271–285 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40092-018-0289-z.

Abotah, R. (2014). Evaluation of Energy Policy Instruments for the Adoption of Renewable Energy: Case of Wind Energy in the Pacific Northwest U.S. Dissertations and Theses. Paper 2128. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.2126.

Agrawal, A., McHale, J., and Oettl, A. (2019). Does scientist immigration harm US science? An examination of the knowledge spillover channel. Research Policy, Elsevier, vol. 48(5), pages 1248-1259.

Akram, M., Ilyas, F. & Garg, H. Multi-criteria group decision making based on ELECTRE I method in Pythagorean fuzzy information. Soft Comput 24, 3425–3453 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00500-019-04105-0.

Alshareef, A. S. (2017). Technology Assessment Model of Developing Geothermal Energy Resources for Supporting Electrical System: the Case for Oregon. Dissertations and Theses. Paper 3515. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.5399

Alzahrani, Saeed Mohammed, "Assessment of the Blockchain Technology Adoption for the Management of the Electronic Health Record Systems" (2021). Dissertations and Theses. Paper 5655. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.7527.

American Immigration Council. (2021). How the United States Immigration System Works. Retrieved from

https://www.americanimmigrationcouncil.org/research/how-united-states-immigrationsystem-works. Access on 11/01/2021.

Andersen, J. (2018). Chapter 6 - Preaward—Project Preparation, Editor(s): Jan Andersen, Kristel Toom, Susi Poli, Pamela F. Miller, Research Management, Academic Press, Pages 147-171, ISBN 9780128050590, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-805059-0.00006-7.

Anderson, S. (2021). Testimony of Stuart Anderson, Executive Director, National Foundation for American Policy, U.S. Congress, House Subcommittee on Immigration and Citizenship, Oh Canada! How Outdated U.S. Immigration Policies Push Top Talent to Other Countries, 117th Cong., 1st sess., June 24, 2021.

Andy J. Semotiuk. (2023). Why H1B Visas Suck And 7 Best Alternatives To Choose From. Forbes. https://www-

forbes.com.cdn.ampproject.org/c/s/www.forbes.com/sites/andyjsemotiuk/2023/01/23/wh y-h1b-visas-suck-and-7-best-alternatives-to-choose-from/amp/

Angel Contreras-Cruz, Aynur Kirbac, Christopher Dennett, Tugrul U. Daim. (2023). Human-centered design as a tool to improve employee experience: The case of a US plant-based food manufacturer. Technology in Society, Volume 73, 102248, ISSN 0160-791X, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2023.102248.

Aragones, A. M., and Salgado, U. (2019). Skilled Migration from China, India, and Mexico to the United States: Analysis of the Re-directioning of Migratory Patterns in the Recent Past. Norteamérica [online], vol.14, n.1, pp.183-211. Epub 30-Jun-2020. ISSN 2448-7228.

Arandarenko, Mihail & Corrente, Salvatore & Jandrić, Maja & Stamenković, Mladen, 2020. "Multiple criteria decision aiding as a prediction tool for migration potential of regions," European Journal of Operational Research, Elsevier, vol. 284(3), pages 1154-1166.

Araújo, Maria & Alencar, L. (2015). Integrated model for supplier selection and performance evaluation. The South African Journal of Industrial Engineering. 26. 41. 10.7166/26-2-880.

Australian Government. (2022). Department of Home Affairs. Retrieved from https://immi.homeaffairs.gov.au/visas/working-in-australia/skill-occupation-list.

Aydemir, A.B. (2020). Skill-based immigration, economic integration, and economic performance. IZA World of Labor.

Bahar, D., Choudhury, P. and Rapoport, H. (2020). Migrant inventors and the technological advantage of nations. Research Policy, Volume 49, Issue 9, 103947, ISSN 0048-7333.

Bakhshi, H., Downing, J., Osborne, M. and Schneider, P. (2017). The Future of Skills: Employment in 2030. London: Pearson and Nesta.

Bas Schotel. (2012). On the Right of Exclusion Law, Ethics and Immigration Policy. ISBN 9780415823975. Published December 5, 2012 by Routledge. 232 Pages.

Batalova, J. (2017). The International Migration of the Highly Skilled Demand, Supply, and Development Consequences in Sending and Receiving Countries.

Migraciones Internacionales. 1, 2. DOI: https://doi.org/10.17428/rmi.v1i2.1729.

Batalova, J. and Lowell, B.L. (2007). Immigrant professionals in the United States. Soc 44, 26–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02819923.

Batalova, J. Hanna, M., and Levesque, C. (2021). Frequently Requested Statistics on Immigrants and Immigration in the United States. Migration Policy, https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/frequently-requested-statistics-immigrants-andimmigration-united-states-2020.

Bauer, T. K., and Kunze, Astrid. (2004). The demand for high-skilled workers and immigration policy, IZA Discussion Papers, No. 999, Institute for the Study of Labor. (IZA), Bonn.

Beaglehole, A. (2005). Immigration regulation - 1986–2003: selection on merit. Te Ara - the Encyclopedia of New Zealand, http://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/immigrationregulation/page-5. Accessed 24 December 2021.

Behkami, N. A. and Daim, T. U. (2012). Research Forecasting for Health Information Technology (HIT), using technology intelligence. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, Volume 79, Issue 3, Pages 498-508, ISSN 0040-1625 or 10.1016/j.techfore.2011.08.015.

Bernstein, S., Diamond, R., McQuade, T., and Pousada, B. (2018). The Contribution of High-Skilled Immigrants to Innovation in the United States. Stanford, Business Working Paper No. 3748. Bier, David J. (2023). "Why Legal Immigration Is Nearly Impossible: U.S. Legal Immigration Rules Explained," Policy Analysis no. 950, Cato Institute, Washington, DC, June 13, 2023.

Bier, David. (2020). Backlog for Skilled Immigrants Tops 1 Million: Over 200,000 Indians Could Die of Old Age While Awaiting Green Cards. Cato Institute. https://www.cato.org/publications/immigration-research-policy-brief/backlog-skilledimmigrants-tops-1-million-over. Published on March 30, 2020.

Bilsel RU, Buyukozkan G, Ruan D (2006) A fuzzy preference ranking model for a quality evaluation of hospital web sites. Int J Intel Syst 21(11):1181–1197.

Bipartisan Policy Center. (2022). Reforming Employment-Based Immigration. Retrieved from https://bipartisanpolicy.org/report/reforming-employment-basedimmigration/. Accessed 6 Feb. 2024.

Bogue, D. J., and Hagood, M. M. (1953). Subregional Migration in the United States, 1935-1940, Vol. II: Differential Migration in the Corn and Cotton Belts. Miami,

Ohio : Scripps Foundation Studies in Population Distribution, No. 6, pp. 124-27

Borjas, G. J. (2000). "The economic progress of immigrants," in Issues in the Economics of Immigration (pp. 15–50). University of Chicago Press.

Borjas, G. J. (2011). Heaven's door: Immigration policy and the American economy. Princeton, N.J: Princeton University Press.

Borjas, G. J., Kauppinen, I., & Poutvaara, P. (2019). Self-selection of emigrants: Theory and evidence on stochastic dominance in observable and unobservable characteristics. The Economic Journal, 129(617), 143–171.

Borjas, G.J. (1989). Immigrant and emigrant earnings: a longitudinal study'. Econ. Inq. 27 (1), 21–37.

Born, V. (2019). Getting The Best of Us: Multinational Corporate Networks And The Diffusion Of Skill-Selective Immigration Policies. Publicly Accessible Penn Dissertations. 3359.

Brans JP, Vincke P, Mareschal B (1986) How to select and how to rank projects: the PROMETHEE method. Euro J Oper Res 24:228–238.

Breschi, S., Lawson, C., Lissoni, F., Morrison, A., and Salter, A. (2020). STEM migration, research, and innovation. Research Policy, Volume 49, Issue 9, 104070, ISSN 0048-7333, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2020.104070.

Briggs, V. M. Jr. (2006). Immigration reform and the U.S. labor force : The questionable "wisdom" of S. 2611 (i.e, The Comprehensive Immigration Reform Act of 2006): Hearings before the Judiciary Committee of the U.S. House of Representatives, 109th Cong. (August 29, 2006).(testimony of Vernon M. Briggs, Jr.). http://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/briggstestimonies/23

Brown, J. D., Earle, J. S., Kim, M. J., and Lee, K. M. (2019). Immigrant entrepreneurs and innovation in the U.S. high-tech sector. Institute of Labor Economics, Working Paper no. 25565.

Budiman, A. (2020). Key findings about U.S. immigrants. Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/08/20/key-findings-about-u-s-immigrants.

Buera, F. and J. Kaboski. 2012. "The Rise of the Service Economy", American Economic Review, 102(6), 2540-2569.

Buresh, Donald L. (2021). "A Comparison of the National Security and the Cybersecurity Approaches of the United States under Presidents Trump and Bidenversus the National Security and Cybersecurity Approach of Canada." Journal of Business Management and Economics 9.03 (2021): 01-09.

Burzyński, M., Deuster, C., Docquier, F., and de Melo, J. (2021). Climate Change, Inequality, and Human Migration. Journal of the European Economic Association, jvab054, https://doi.org/10.1093/jeea/jvab054.

Caliendo, M., Künn, S., and Weissenberger, M. (2019). Catching up or Lagging Behind? The Long-Term Business and Innovation Potential of Subsidized Start-Ups out of Unemployment. IZA Discussion Papers 12690, Institute of Labor Economics (IZA).

Campbell, T., Adamuti-Trache, M., and Bista, K. (2018). Employment and Earnings of International Science and Engineering Graduates of U.S. Universities: A Comparative Perspective. Journal of International Students. 8. 10.32674/jis.v8i1.172.

Canello, J. (2016). Migrant entrepreneurs and local networks in industrial districts. Res. Pol., vol. 45, no. 10, pp. 1953–1964.

Carlino, G., Carr, J., Hunt, R., and Smith, T. (2012). The agglomeration of R&D labs. Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia Working Paper 12-22.

Caviggioli, F., Jensen, P., and Scellato, G. (2020). Highly skilled migrants and technological diversification in the US and Europe. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, Volume 154, 119951, ISSN 0040-1625.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2020.119951.

Cerna, L. and Chou, M.-H. (2019), Defining "Talent": Insights from Management and Migration Literatures for Policy Design. Policy Stud J, 47: 819-848. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12294

Chacko, E. and Frederic M. (2021) (Un)settled sojourners in cities: the scalar and temporal dimensions of migrant precarity, Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 47:20, 4597-4614, DOI: 10.1080/1369183X.2020.1731060.

Chan, L. (2013). Developing a Strategic Policy Choice Framework for Technological Innovation: Case of Chinese Pharmaceuticals. Dissertations and Theses. Paper 1041. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.1041.

Chauhan, Aditya & Vaish, Rahul. (2014). A Comparative Study on Decision Making Methods with Interval Data. Journal of Computational Engineering. 2014. 1-10. 10.1155/2014/793074.

Chaurey, Ritam & Mahajan, Kanika & Tomar, Shekhar. (2024). Trumping Immigration: Visa Uncertainty and Jobs Relocation. SSRN Electronic Journal. 10.2139/ssrn.4753372.

Choudhury, P. (2016). Return Migration and Geography of Innovation in MNEs: A Natural Experiment of On-the-job Learning of Knowledge Production by Local Workers Reporting to Return Migrants. Journal of Economic Geography, Volume 16, Issue 3, Pages 585–610, https://doi.org/10.1093/jeg/lbv025.

Cinar, D. and Kayakutlu, G. (2010). Scenario analysis using Bayesian networks: A case study in energy sector. Knowledge-Based Systems, 23(3), 267–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knosys.2010.01.009.

Cipolla, C. M. (1972). The diffusion of innovations in early modern Europe. Comp. Stud. Soc. Hist. 14 (01), 46–52. Code of Federal Regulation. (2022). Special requirements for admission, extension, and maintenance of status. Title 8. Chapter I Subchapter B Part 214 § 214.2. Retrieved from https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-8/chapter-I/subchapter-B/part-214/section-214.2.

Cohn, D. V. (2015). How U.S. immigration laws and rules have changed through history. Pew Research Center. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2015/09/30/how-u-s-immigration-laws-and-rules-have-changed-through-history/.

Committee for Economic Development of The Conference Board. (2023). Report: As US Economy Grapples with Nearly 11 Million Unfilled Jobs, Immigration Reform is Critical. Retrieved from https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/report-as-useconomy-grapples-with-nearly-11-million-unfilled-jobs-immigration-reform-is-critical-301777423.html. Accessed 5 Feb. 2024.

Connor, P. and Ruiz, N. G. (2019). Majority of U.S. Public Supports High Skilled Immigration. Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/global/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2019/01/Pew-Research-Center_Majority-of-U.S.-Public-Supports-High-Skilled-Immigration_2019-01-22_Report.pdf.

Connor, P., D'Vera, C. and Gonzalez-Barrera, A. (2013). Changing Patterns of Global Migration and Remittances. Washington, D.C.: Pew Research Center, December, 2013. http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2013/12/17/changing-patterns-of-globalmigration-andremittances/

Constant, A. (2014). Do migrants take the jobs of native workers? IZA World of Labor, 10. doi: 10.15185/izawol.10.

Cooke, A., and Kemeny, T. (2017). Cities, immigrant diversity, and complex problem solving. Research Policy, Volume 46, Issue 6, Pages 1175-1185, ISSN 0048-7333.

Cornell Law School. (2024). Legal Information Institute – Immigration. Retrieved from https://www.law.cornell.edu/wex/immigration. Accessed on 02/05/2024.

Cowan, A. T., Cowan, K. R. and Walsh, S. T. (2019). Mitigating High-Skill Brain Drain in Low-Growth Economies: An Examination of Existing Brain-Drain Threats in New Mexico and Strategy and Policy Alternative to Address Them. 2019 Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET), Portland, OR, USA, 2019, pp. 1-8.

Crown, D., Faggian, A., and Corcoran, J. (2020). Foreign-Born graduates and innovation: Evidence from an Australian skilled visa program. Research Policy, Elsevier, vol. 49(9).

CRS. Congressional Distribution Memorandum. (2021). Assessing Four Department of State Methods to Compute Recapturable Immigrant Visa Numbers, September 8, 2021, available upon request to congressional clients.

CRS Report R45973. (2018). The Diversity Immigrant Visa Program and CRS Report R43145, U.S. Family-Based Immigration Policy.

Czaika, M. and De Haas, H. (2013), The Effectiveness of Immigration Policies. Population and Development Review, vol. 39, no. 3, 2013, pp. 487–508. JSTOR. https://doi-org.proxy.lib.pdx.edu/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2013.00613.x

Czaika, M. and Parsons, C. (2015). The Gravity of High Skilled Migration Policies. International Migration Institute, Working Paper No. 110.

Czaika, M. and Parsons, C. (2016). High-Skilled Migration in Times of Global Economic Crisis. International Migration Institute, Working Papers Series 2016, No. 126.

D Hiebert. (2019). The Canadian Express Entry System for Selecting Economic Immigrants: Progress and Persistent Challenges, Migration Policy Institute, April 2019.

D. I. Cleland and D. F. Kocaoglu. (1981). Engineering Management. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1981.

Daim, T. U. (2016). Hierarchical Decision Modeling. Essays in Honor of Dundar F. Kocaoglu. Springer. https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-319-18558-3.

Daim, T. U., Chan, L. and Estep, J. (2018, b). Infrastructure and Technology Management, Innovation, Technology, and Knowledge Management, Springer, number 978-3-319-68987-6, December.

Daim, T., Madani, F., and Zwick, M. (2018, a). Keyword-based patent citation prediction via information theory. International Journal of General Systems, v. 47, n. 8, p. 821–841, DOI 10.1080/03081079.2018.1524892.

Dave Zielinski. (2020). Technology to Manage Workplace Immigration Is Booming. Retrieved from https://www.shrm.org/resourcesandtools/hrtopics/technology/pages/technology-manage-workplace-immigration-booming.aspx.

De Bacquer, D, Van Risseghem, M, Clays, E, Kittel, F, De Backer, G and Braeckman, L. Rotating shift work and the metabolic syndrome: A prospective study. Int J Epidemiol 2009, 38(3): 848–54. DOI: 10.1093/ije/dyn360.

DEMIG (2015) DEMIG POLICY, version 1.3, Online Edition. Oxford: International Migration Institute, University of Oxford. www.migrationdeterminants.eu June 2015 Copyrights © by DEMIG. All rights reserved.

Demirci, M. (2019). Transition of International STEM Students to the US Labor Market: The Role of Visa Policy. Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3371450

Department of Homeland Security. (2023). Modernizing H-1B Requirements, Providing Flexibility in the F-1 Program, and Program Improvements Affecting Other Nonimmigrant Workers. Retrieved from Document Citation:88 FR 72870, Page: 72870-72963 (94 pages).

Desjardins, J. (2019). Which countries are best at attracting high-skilled workers? World Economic Forum. Retrieved from

https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/03/which-countries-are-set-to-attract-the-highest-skilled-workers-from-abroad.

Ding T Liang L Yang M and Wu H, 2016 Multiple Attribute Decision Making Based on Cross-Evaluation with Uncertain Decision Parameters Math. Probl. Eng. 2016.

Donald Moynihan, Julie Gerzina, Pamela Herd. (2022). Kafka's Bureaucracy: Immigration Administrative Burdens in the Trump Era, Perspectives on Public Management and Governance, Volume 5, Issue 1, March 2022, Pages 22–35, https://doi.org/10.1093/ppmgov/gvab025.

Douglas Holtz-Eakin and Jacqueline Varas. (2019). Building a Pro-Growth Legal Immigration System, American Action Forum, May 2019.

Drivas, K., Economidou, C., Karamanis, D. & Sanders, M. (2018). Mobility of Highly Skilled Individuals and Local Innovation Activity. MPRA Paper 88883, University Library of Munich, Germany. Dumitru, S, (2014). From "brain drain" to "care drain": Women's labor migration and methodological sexism. Women's Studies International Forum, Volume 47, Part B, Pages 203-212, ISSN 0277-5395, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2014.06.006.

Dumitru, S. (2012). Skilled Migration: Who Should Pay for What? A Critique of the Bhagwati Tax. Diversities, vol. 14, n°1, 2012, pp. 9-23, Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2174447.

Duncan, Natasha T. & Waldorf, Brigitte S., 2010. "High Skilled Immigrant Recruitment And The Global Economic Crisis: The Effects Of Immigration Policies," Working papers 58417, Purdue University, Department of Agricultural Economics.

Duncan, O. D. (1940). The Theory and Consequences of Mobility of Farm Population. Oklahoma Agriculture Experiment Station Circular No. 88.

Dutta, S., Lanvin, B., Rivera -León, L., & Wunsch-Vincent, S. (2021). Global Innovation Index 2021: Tracking Innovation through the COVID-19 Crisis. Geneva: World Intellectual Property Organization.

Estep, Judith. (2017). "Development of a Technology Transfer Score for Evaluating Research Proposals: Case Study of Demand Response Technologies in the Pacific Northwest" (2017). Dissertations and Theses. Paper 3479. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.5363.

ETM PSU-PCM, "HDM Softwarer Version: Beta 2.0." ETM, Portland, Oregon, USA, 2016.

Ewing, W. A. (2012). Opportunity and Exclusion: A Brief History of U.S. Immigration Policy. Washington, D.C.: Immigration Policy Center, January. Immigration to the United States, 1789-1930.

Fackler, T. A., Giesing, Y., and Laurentsyeva, N. (2020). Knowledge remittances: Does emigration foster innovation? Research Policy, Volume 49, Issue 9, 103863, ISSN 0048-7333.

Fassio, C., Montobbio, F. and Venturini, A. (2019). Skilled migration and innovation in European industries, Research Policy, Volume 48, Issue 3, Pages 706-718, ISSN 0048-7333, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.11.002.

Fernando, D. and Patriotta, G. (2020). Us versus them: Sensemaking and identity processes in skilled migrants' experiences of occupational downgrading," Journal of World Business, Elsevier, vol. 55(4).

Ferrucci, E. (2020). Migration, innovation, and technological diversion: German patenting after the collapse of the Soviet Union. Research Policy, Elsevier, vol. 49(9).

Figueira, José & Greco, Salvatore & Roy, Bernard & Słowiński, Roman. (2013). An overview of ELECTRE methods and their recent extensions. Journal of Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis. 20. 10.1002/mcda.1482.

Foley, C. F., and Kerr, W. R. (2013), Ethnic innovation and U.S. multinational firm activity. Management Science, 59(7): 1529–44.

Forward U.S. FWD. (2019). Modernizing America's high-skilled immigration system. Barriers to recruiting and retaining global talent in the U.S. Retrieved from https://www.fwd.us/news/high-skilled-immigration-hatch. Access on: February 28th, 2022.

Forward U.S. FWD. (2022). Retaining U.S. International Student Graduates Could Help the U.S. Win the Global Talent Race. Retrieved from https://www.fwd.us/news/us-international-students. Access on: February 28th, 2022.

Francine D. Blau and Christopher Mackie. (2017). National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, The Economic and Fiscal Consequences of Immigration, ed. National Academies Press, 2017.

Freitas, A., Levatino, A., & Pécoud, A. (2012). Introduction: new perspectives on skilled migration. UNESCO Digital Library in Diversities, 14, 1, p. 1-7. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000218250.

Garces, E. (2020). Evaluating R&D Projects in Regulated Utilities: the Case of Power Transmission Utilities. Dissertations and Theses. Paper 5513. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.7387.

Gazni. A. (2020). The growing number of patent citations to scientific papers: Changes in the world, nations, and fields. Technology in Society, Volume 62, 101276, ISSN 0160-791X.
Gelatt, J. (2020). Explainer: How the U.S. Legal Immigration System Works. Migration Policy Institute. Retrieved from

https://www.migrationpolicy.org/content/explainer-how-us-legal-immigration-systemworks. Access on January 25, 2022.

Geva-May, I. (2000), On Impacts of Comparative Policy Analysis. Immigration to Israel:What other Countries can Learn. International Migration, 38: 3-45. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2435.00097

Giadedi, A. (2020). A Scoring Model to Evaluate Offshore Oil Projects: Case of Eni and Mellitah Oil & Gas. Dissertations and Theses. Paper 5601.

Gibson E., Daim T., Garces E., Dabic M. (2018) Technology Foresight: A Bibliometric Analysis to Identify Leading and Emerging Methods. Foresight and STI Governance, vol. 12, no 1, pp. 6–24. DOI: 10.17323/2500- 2597.2018.1.6.24.

Gibson, C. J., and Lennon, E. (1999). Historical Census Statistics on the Foreign-Born Population: 1850-1990. Working Paper Number POP-WP029. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/library/working-papers/1999/demo/POP-twps0029.html.

Glaeser, E. (2013). A Review of Enrico Moretti's "The New Geography of Jobs." Journal of Economic Literature, 51(3), 825–837. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23644831.

Glaeser, E. and Saiz, A. (2004). The Rise of the Skilled City. Brookings-Wharton Papers on Urban Affairs, 47-105.

Global Detroit. (2024). Thriving Economies and Vibrant Communities Include Immigrants. Retrieved from https://globaldetroitmi.org/. Accessed 6 Feb. 2024. Golubic, R, Milosevic, M, Knezevic, B and Mustajbegovic, J. Work-related stress, education and work ability among hospital nurses. J Adv Nurs 2009, 65(10): 2056–66. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05057.

Goodman, S.W. (2018). Indexing Immigration and Integration Policy: Lessons from Europe. Policy Studies Journal.

Gordon H. Hanson and Matthew J. Slaughter. (2016). High-Skilled Immigration and the Rise of STEM Occupations in U.S. Employment, NBER Working Paper 22623, September 2016. Gould, E. D. and Moav, O. (2016), Does High Inequality Attract High Skilled Immigrants? Econ J, 126: 1055-1091. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecoj.12185.

Government of Canada. (2022). Eligibility to apply as a Federal Skilled Worker. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugeescitizenship/services/immigrate-canada/express-entry/eligibility/federal-skilled-

workers.html.

Government UK. (2022). The UK's points-based immigration system: policy statement. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-uks-points-based-immigration-system-policy-statement/the-uks-points-based-immigration-system-policy-statement#the-uks-points-based-system.

Grigg, D.B. (1977). E. G. Ravenstein and the "laws of migration." Journal of Historical Geography, Volume 3, Issue 1, Pages 41-54, ISSN 0305-7488, https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-7488(77)90143-8.

H. Michael Rauscher, Keith M. Reynolds. (2003). Natural Resource Management, Editor(s): Hossein Bidgoli, Encyclopedia of Information Systems, Elsevier, 2003, Pages 239-265, ISBN 9780122272400, https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-227240-4/00118-0.

Hainmueller, J., & Hiscox, M. J. (2010). Attitudes toward Highly Skilled and Low- skilled Immigration: Evidence from a Survey Experiment. The American Political Science Review, 104(1), 61–84. http://www.jstor.org/stable/27798540.

Hajro, A., Caprar, D.V., Zikic, J., Stahl, G. K. (2021). Global migrants: Understanding the implications for international business and management. Journal of World Business, Volume 56, Issue 2, 101192, ISSN 1090-9516.

Hall, M., Singer, A., De Jong, G. F., and Graefe, D. R. (2011). The Geography of Immigrant Skills: Educational Profiles of Metropolitan Area. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution. Metropolitan Policy Program at Brookings Institution.

Hamdani, Y., and Daim, T. (2020). Chapter 16 Organizational Transformation: Consumer Goods. Digital Transformation: Evaluating Emerging Technologies, World Scientific Series in R&D Management, pp. 523-575. Hanson, G. H. and Liu. C. (2018). High-Skilled Immigration and the Comparative Advantage of Foreign-Born Workers across US Occupations. University Press Scholarship Online. DOI:10.7208/chicago/9780226525662.003.0002.

Hanson, G. H., Kerr, W.R. and Turner, S. (2018). High-Skilled Migration to The United States and its Economic Consequences. Publisher: University Of Chicago Press.

Hart, D. M., and Acs, Z. J. (2011). High-Tech Immigrant Entrepreneurship in the United States. Economic Development Quarterly, 25(2), 116–129.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0891242410394336.

Hawthorne L. (2014). A Comparison of Skilled Migration Policy: Australia, Canada, and New Zealand. Melbourne, Australia: University of Melbourne, Oct. 2014. [Online]. Available: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2808881.

Helbling, M. (2020). Attitudes towards climate change migrants. Climatic Change 160, 89–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020-02697-3.

Hilaire-Pérez, L. (2008). Savoirs techniques, et migrations: l'histoire face aux mythes. Doc. Pour l'histoire Tech. 15, 3–9.

Hira, R., The H-1B and L-1 Visa programs : Out of Control, Economic Policy Institute. Bulgaria. Retrieved from https://policycommons.net/artifacts/1414626/the-h-1band-l-1-visa-programs/2028889/ on 03 Mar 2023. CID: 20.500.12592/t4smf6.

Hogaboam, L, S, (2018). Assessment of Technology Adoption Potential of Medical Devices: Case of Wearable Sensor Products for Pervasive Care in Neurosurgery and Orthopedics. Dissertations and Theses. Paper 4205.

https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.6093.

Hopkins, J. (2021). AN IMMIGRATION INNOVATION: A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE AMERICAN DIVERSITY VISA LOTTERY PROGRAM AND THE CANADIAN POINTS-BASED SYSTEM. St. John's Law Review, 94(3), 819–844.

Hopkins, L.D. (2001). Multi-attribute Decision Making in Urban Studies, Editor(s): Neil J. Smelser, Paul B. Baltes, International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences, Pergamon, 2001, Pages 10157-10160, ISBN 9780080430768, https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-08-043076-7/04437-5. Hunt, J. and Gauthier-Loiselle, M. (2010). How Much Does Immigration Boost Innovation? American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, 2 (2): 31-56. Hunt, Jennifer, and Bin Xie. "How restricted is the job mobility of skilled temporary work visa holders?." Journal of Policy Analysis and Management 38.1 (2019): 41-64.

IBM Corp. Released .(2021). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 28.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp

ICE. (2015). Student And Exchange Visitor Information System. Retrieved from https://www.ice.gov/doclib/foia/sevis/sevis bythenumbers aug15.pdf.

Immigration Bureau of Japan. (2017). Point-based Preferential Immigration Treatment for High-Skilled Foreign Professionals.

https://www.isa.go.jp/en/publications/materials/newimmiact_3_system_index.html.

Insight, K. (2020). Why America Needs High-Skilled Immigrants. Kenan Institute of Private Enterprise. https://kenaninstitute.unc.edu/kenan-insight/why-america-needs-high-skilled-immigrants.

International Labour Office. (2010). A Skilled Workforce for Strong, Sustainable and Balanced Growth: A G20 Training Strategy.

https://www.oecd.org/g20/summits/toronto/G20-Skills-Strategy.pdf

International Organization for Migration. (2004). Glossary on Migration. International Migration Law. Retrieved from https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/iml 1 en.pdf.

Iskin, I. (2014). An Assessment Model for Energy Efficiency Program Planning in Electric Utilities: Case of the Pacific of Northwest U.S.A. Dissertations and Theses. Paper 1851. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.1850.

Iskin, I., and Daim, T. U. (2016). An assessment model for energy efficiency program planning in electric utilities: Case of Northwest U.S. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments, Volume 15, Pages 42-59, ISSN 2213-1388, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2016.03.002.

Islam, A., Islam, F. and Châu. N. (2017). Skilled Immigration, Innovation, and the Wages of Native-Born Americans (July 2017). Industrial Relations: A Journal of

Economy and Society, Vol. 56, Issue 3, pp. 459-488, 2017, Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2983491 or http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/irel.12182.

Jaafar, A., Latiff, J., Mat Daud, A., Osman, Z., Noor Hisham, M. (2021). Does Revenue Diversification Strategy Affect the Financial Sustainability of Malaysian Public Universities? A Panel Data Analysis. Higher Education Policy. 10.1057/s41307-021-00247-9.

Jaime Bonnin Roca. (2022). Teaching technological forecasting to undergraduate students: a reflection on challenges and opportunities, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, Volume 180, 2022, 121684, ISSN 0040-1625, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2022.121684.

Jansen, S.J.T. (2011). The Multi-attribute Utility Method. In: Jansen, S., Coolen, H., Goetgeluk, R. (eds) The Measurement and Analysis of Housing Preference and Choice. Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-8894-9 5

Jenkins, Donald & Keisler, Jeffrey. (2022). A decision analytic tool for corporate strategic sustainable energy purchases. Environment Systems and Decisions. 42. 1-17. 10.1007/s10669-022-09866-y.

Jiani, M.A. (2017). Why and how international students choose Mainland China as a higher education study abroad destination. Springer High Educ 74, 563–579. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-016-0066-0.

Johnson, H. G. (1968). An Internationalist Model in The Brain Drain: Problem. Walter Adams, New York: Macmillan Company.

Jonathan Calof, Klaus Solberg Søilen, Richard Klavans, Bisan Abdulkader, Ismail El Moudni. (2022). Understanding the structure, characteristics, and future of collective intelligence using local and global bibliometric analyses, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, Volume 178, 2022, 121561, ISSN 0040-1625, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2022.121561.

Jones, A.W. (2016). Forensic Journals: Bibliometrics and Journal Impact Factors, Editor(s): Jason Payne-James, Roger W. Byard, Encyclopedia of Forensic and Legal Medicine (Second Edition), Elsevier, Pages 528-538, ISBN 9780128000557. Justin Gest. (2020). "Chapter 8: Immigration Moneyball," in in Alex Nowrasteh and David J. Bier (eds.) 12 New Immigration Ideas for the 21st Century, Cato Institute, 2020.

Kahn, S., & MacGarvie, M. (2020). The impact of permanent residency delays for STEM PhDs: Who leaves and why. Research Policy, Elsevier, Volume 49, Issue 9, 103879, ISSN 0048-7333, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.103879.

Kandel, W. A. (2020). The employment-based immigration backlog. Library of Congress. Congressional Research Service, Series: Report / Congressional Research Service; R46291.

Kandel, William A., Wilson, Jill H., and Donovan. Sarah A. (2022). U.S. Employment-Based Immigration Policy. Congressional Research Service. R47164. Retrieved from https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R47164. Accessed 6 Feb. 2024.

Kannan, M., Suri, K., Cadavid, J., Barosan, I., Brand, M., Alférez Salinas, E. and Gérard, S. (2017). Towards Industry 4.0: Gap Analysis between Current Automotive MES and Industry Standards Using Model-Based Requirement Engineering. 10.1109/ICSAW.2017.53.

Kelley, N., and Trebilcock, M. (1998). The Making of the Mosaic: A History of Canadian Immigration Policy. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Kerr, P., Kerr, S., and William R. (2020). Immigration Policy Levers for US Innovation and Startup. National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper Series 27040.

Kerr, S. P., and Kerr, W. R. (2015). Global collaborative patents. Working Paper No. 21735, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA, available at www.nber.org/papers/w21735.

Kerr, S. P., Kerr, P., Özden, C., and Parsons, C. (2017a). High-Skilled Migration and Agglomeration. Annual Review of Economics, Harvard Library. http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:32062563. Kerr, S. P., Kerr, W., and Lincoln, W. (2014). Skilled immigration and the employment structures of US Firms. https://voxeu.org/article/skilled-immigration-and-us-jobs-firm-level-evidence.

Kerr, S. P., Kerr, W., Özden, C., and Parsons, C. (2017b). Global talent mobility and human capital agglomeration. VoX EU, Home Research-based policy analysis and commentary from leading economists. Retrieved from https://voxeu.org/article/globaltalent-mobility-and-human-capital-agglomeration. Access on 11/01/2021.

Kerr, W. R. (2008). Ethnic Scientific Communities and International Technology Diffusion. The Review of Economics and Statistics 90 (3), pp. 518–537.

Kerr, W. R. and Lincoln, W. F. (2010). The Supply Side of Innovation: H-1B Visa Reforms and U.S. Ethnic Invention. Journal of Labor Economics, University of Chicago Press, vol. 28(3), pages 473-508, 07.

Kerr, W. R., and Frederic, R. N. (2020). Tech Clusters. Harvard Business School Working Paper, No. 20-063, November 2019. (Revised June 2020).

Khalifa, Rafaa Ibrahim, "Evaluating Project Assessment Techniques for High-Profile Transportation Projects Development and Delivery: Case of State Departments of Transportation (DOTs) in the United States" (2019). Dissertations and Theses. Paper 5109. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.6985.

Kim, S., Ji, Y. Heath, R.L., and Johansen, W. (2018). Gap Analysis. In The International Encyclopedia of Strategic Communication (eds R.L. Heath and W. Johansen). https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119010722.iesc0079

Kirkegaard, Jacob F. (2005). Outsourcing and Skill Imports: Foreign High-Skilled Workers on H-1b and L-1 Visas in the United States (December 2005). Institute for International Economics Working Paper No. 05-15, Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=872465 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.872465

Kocaoglu, D. (2016). HDM Software Users Guide. Engineering and Technology Management Department, Portland State University. Retrieved from http://research1.etm.pdx.edu/hdm2/users-guideV2.pdf.

Konrad B. Burchardi et al. (2020). Immigration, Innovation, and Growth, NBER Working Paper No. 27075, May 2020, https://www.nber.org/papers/w27075. Kozanoglu, D. C., Daim, T. U., and Contreras-Cruz, A. (2021). Unraveling the Dynamics of Immigrant Engineers' Full-Utilization in Australia. IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management, doi: 10.1109/TEM.2021.3086456.

Kujawski, E. (2003). Multi-criteria decision analysis: Limitations, pitfalls, and practical difficulties. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0cp6j7sj

L. Fei, J. Xia, Y. Feng and L. Liu, "An ELECTRE-Based Multiple Criteria Decision Making Method for Supplier Selection Using Dempster-Shafer Theory," in IEEE Access, vol. 7, pp. 84701-84716, 2019, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2924945.

Lambert, J. R., Basuil, D. A., Bell, M. P. and Marquardt, D. J. (2019). Coming to America: work visas, international diversity, and organizational attractiveness among highly skilled Asian immigrants, The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 30:15, 2293-2319, DOI: 10.1080/09585192.2017.1322116.

Laursen, K., Leten, B., Nguyen, N. H., & Vancauteren, M. (2020). Mounting corporate innovation performance: The effects of high-skilled migrant hires and integration capacity, Research Policy, Volume 49, Issue 9, 104034, ISSN 0048-7333, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2020.104034.

Lavoie, J. R. (2019). A Scoring Model to Assess Organizations' Technology Transfer Capabilities: the Case of a Power Utility in the Northwest USA. Dissertations and Theses. Paper 4995. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.6871.

Leandro Pecchia, Davide Piaggio, Nicolas Pallikarakis, Ernesto Iadanza, Chapter 118 - Health technology assessment teaching for BME, Editor(s): Ernesto Iadanza, Clinical Engineering Handbook (Second Edition), Academic Press, 2020, Pages 832-835, ISBN 9780128134672, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813467-2.00119-X.

Lee, E. S. (1966). A Theory of Migration. Demography, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 47-57. Springer on behalf of the Population Association of America, https://www.jstor.org/stable/2060063.

Lee, N and Clarke, S. (2019). Do low-skilled workers gain from high-tech employment growth? High-technology multipliers, employment and wages in Britain.

Research Policy, Volume 48, Issue 9, 2019, 103803, ISSN 0048-7333, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.05.012.

Liao, K. A. S. (2019). Mobile practices and the production of professionals on the move: Filipino highly skilled migrants in Singapore. Geoforum, Volume 106, Pages 214-222, ISSN 0016-7185, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2019.08.013.

Libaers, D. P. (2007). Role and contribution of foreign-born scientists and engineers to the public U.S. nanoscience and technology research enterprise. IEEE Trans. Eng. Manage., vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 423–432.

Lowell, B.L. (2003) The need for policies that meet the needs of all. SciDev.net Policy Brief, May,

www.scidev.net/dossiers/index.cfm?fuseaction=policybrief&dossier=10&policy=19.

Lujala P., Bezu, S., Kolstad, I., Mahmud, M., & Wiig, A. (2020). How do hostmigrant proximities shape attitudes toward internal climate migrants? Global Environmental Change, Volume 65, 102156, ISSN 0959-3780, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2020.102156.

Macaluso, M. The influence of skill-based policies on the immigrant selection process. Econ Polit 39, 595–621 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40888-022-00264-w.

Marugán, A. P., and García Márquez, F. P. (2017). Chapter 1 - Introduction, Editor(s): Decision-Making Management, Academic Press, 2017, Pages 1-9, ISBN 9780128115404, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811540-4.00001-6.

Mary, S. and Suganya, G. (2016) Multi-Criteria Decision Making Using ELECTRE. Circuits and Systems, 7, 1008-1020. doi: 10.4236/cs.2016.76085.

Massey, D. S., Arango, J., Hugo, G., Kouaouci, A., Pellegrino, A., and Taylor, J. (1993). Theories of International Migration: A Review and Appraisal. Population and Development Review, Vol. 19, No. 3 (Sep., 1993), pp. 431-466 Published by: Population Council Stable URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2938462.

Massey, D. S., Arango, J., Hugo, G., Kouaouci, A., Pellegrino, A., and Taylor, J. E. (1994). An Evaluation of International Migration Theory: The North American Case. Population and Development Review, Dec., Vol. 20, No. 4, pp. 699-75. Published by: Population Council.

Melo, G., Colson, G. and Ramirez, O.A. (2014), Hispanic American Opinions toward Immigration and Immigration Policy Reform Proposals. Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy, 36: 604-622. https://doi.org/10.1093/aepp/ppu031.

Meredith Owen, Mary Elizabeth Margolis and Helen Dempster. (2022). With Simple Workforce Policy Changes, Refugees Could Contribute More to the US Economy. Center for Global Development. Retrieved from https://www.cgdev.org/blog/simple-workforce-policy-changes-refugees-could-contributemore-us-economy. Accessed 5 Feb. 2024.

Miano, J. (2017). A History of the 'Optional Practical Training' Guestworker Program. Center for Immigration Studies. Retrieved from https://cis.org/sites/default/files/2017-10/miano-OPT.pdf.

Migration Austria. (2022). Living and working in Austrial. Retrieved from https://www.migration.gv.at/en/service-and-links/points-calculator.

Miguelez, E. & Fink, C. (2013). Measuring the International Mobility of Inventors: A New Database. WIPO Economic Research Working Papers 08, World Intellectual Property Organization - Economics and Statistics Division, revised May 2013.

Miguelez, E. & Noumedem-Temgoua, C. (2020). Inventor migration and knowledge flows: A two-way communication channel? Research Policy, Volume 49, Issue 9, 103914, ISSN 0048-7333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.103914.

Miguelez, E. (2016), Inventor diasporas and the internationalization of technology. World Bank Economic Review, (in press), pp. 1–28. doi:10.1093/ wber/lhw013.

Miller, P. W. (1999). Immigration Policy and Immigrant Quality: The Australian Points System. The American Economic Review, 89(2), 192–197. http://www.jstor.org/stable/117105.

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan. (2022). https://www.mofa.go.jp/j_info/visit/visa/long/visa16.html

Moretti, E. (2021). The Effect of High-Tech Clusters on the Productivity of Top Inventors. American Economic Review, 111 (10): 3328-75. DOI: 10.1257/aer.20191277. Mosbah, A., Ali, M. A. M., Hizam Aljubari, I., Talib, Z. M and Rehman Sherief, S. (2018). Migrants in the High-Tech and Engineering Sectors: An Emerging Research Area. 2018 IEEE Conference on Systems, Process and Control (ICSPC), pp. 234-237, doi: 10.1109/SPC.2018.8704139.

Moscato, Donald R. and Moscato, Eric D. (2005) "A Comprehensive Analysis of the H-IB and L-1 Visa Programs in the U.S. From An IT Perspective," Communications of the IIMA: Vol. 5: Iss. 2, Article 8. DOI: https://doi.org/10.58729/1941-6687.1265.

Murphy, C. C. (2018). The spatial impact of migration. The Journal of Public Space, 3(3), 159-170, DOI 10.32891/jps.v3i3.1139.

My Visa Jobs. (2022). United States Working Visa & Green Card Reports. Retrieved from https://www.myvisajobs.com/Reports/.

Nathan, M. (2014). The wider economic impacts of high-skilled migrants: a survey of the literature for receiving countries. IZA J Migration 3, 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-9039-3-4.

New Zealand Immigration. (2022). Points Indicator for Skilled Migrant Expression of Interest. Retrieved from https://www.immigration.govt.nz/new-zealandvisas/apply-for-a-visa/tools-and-information/tools/points-indicator-smc-28aug.

Norman Matloff. (2013). "Are foreign students the 'best and brightest?" Briefing Paper 356, Economic Policy Institute, February 28, 2013.

Open Avenues (2024). Opening avenues for global talent to move America forward. Retrieved from https://www.openavenuesfoundation.org/. Accessed 6 Feb. 2024.

Orefice, G. (2010). On the effects of immigration on host countries. University of Milan, Italy. Graduate school in economics, politics and social sciences. Department of economics, business and statistics.

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. (2019), Recruiting Immigrant Workers: Korea 2019, Recruiting Immigrant Workers, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264307872-en. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. (2012). The jobs potential of a shift towards a low-carbon economy. OECD, Division for Employment Analysis and Policy. https://www.oecd.org/els/emp/50503551.pdf.

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. (2019). Chapter 4. Talent, innovation and investment through migration in Korea in Recruting Immigrant Workers: Korea 2019. Available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/9789264307872-9-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/9789264307872-9-en.

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. (2023). What is the best country for global talents in the OECD? Migration Policy Debates, No. 29, OECD, Paris.

Ortega, F., and Peri, G. (2014). Openness and Income: The Roles of Trade and Immigration. Journal of International Economics 92 (2): 231–51.

Osorio, J.C. and Orejuela, J. P. (2008). Analytic hierarchic process and multicriteria decision making. Application example. Scientia et Technical Year XIV, No 39. ISSN 0122-1701.13.

Ozden, C., Kerr, S., Kerr, W., and Parsons, C. (2017). Global talent flows: Causes and consequences of high-skilled migration. Work Bank. Retrieved from https://blogs.worldbank.org/developmenttalk/global-talent-flows-causes-andconsequences-high-skilled-migration.

Papademetriou, D. G. and Sumption, M. (2013), Attracting and Selecting from the global talent pool –policy challenges. Migration Policy Institute, Washington DC.

Papademetriou, D. G., Benton, M., and Hooper, K. (2019). Equipping Immigrant Selection Systems for a Changing World of Work (Transatlantic Council Statement), Migration Policy Institute, July 2019.

Papademetriou, D. G., Meissner, D., Rosenblum, M. R., and Sumption, M. (2009). Harnessing the Advantages of Immigration for a 21st-Century Economy: A Standing Commission on Labor Markets, Economic Competitiveness, and Migration, Migration Policy Institute, May 2009. Papademetriou, D., and Madeleine, S. (2011). The Role of Immigration in Fostering Competitiveness in the United States. Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute.

Parey M., Ruhose J., Waldinger F. and Netz N. (2017). The selection of highskilled emigrants. Review of Economics and Statistics, vol. 99(5), pp. 776–92.

Passel, J. and D'Vera C. (2019). U.S. unauthorized immigrants are more proficient in English, more educated than a decade ago. Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2019/05/23/u-s-undocumented-immigrants-are-more-proficient-in-english-more-educated-than-a-decade-ago/.

Paul Kailiponi. (2010). Analyzing evacuation decisions using multi-attribute utility theory (MAUT), Procedia Engineering, Volume 3, 2010, Pages 163-174, ISSN 1877-7058, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2010.07.016.

Paul M. Romer (1990). Endogenous Technological Change. The Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 98, No. 5, Part 2: The Problem of Development: A Conference of the Institute for the Study of Free Enterprise Systems. (Oct., 1990), pp. S71-S102. Stable URL: http://links.jstor.org/sici?sici=0022-

3808%28199010%2998%3A5%3CS71%3AETC%3E2.0.CO%3B2-8.

Perez, Sofia A. (2015). Immigration Policy. Editor(s): James D. Wright, International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences (Second Edition), Elsevier, Pages 662-668, ISBN 9780080970875, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-097086-8.75022-7.

Petros Kostagiolas. (2012). 4 - Measuring libraries' intellectual capital, Editor(s): Petros Kostagiolas, In Chandos Information Professional Series, Managing Intellectual Capital in Libraries, Chandos Publishing, 2012, Pages 87-127, ISBN 9781843346784.

Pew Research Center. (2015). Modern Immigration Wave Brings 59 Million to U.S., Driving Population Growth and Change Through 2065: Views of Immigration's Impact on U.S. Society Mixed. Washington, D.C.: September. 2015.

Phan, K. (2013). Innovation Measurement: A Decision Framework to Determine Innovativeness of a Company. Dissertations and Theses. Paper 1017. Phan, K., & Kocaoglu, D.F. (2014). Innovation measurement framework to determine innovativeness of a company: Case of semiconductor industry. Proceedings of PICMET '14 Conference: Portland International Center for Management of Engineering and Technology; Infrastructure and Service Integration, 747-757.

Plöger, J. and Kubiak, S. (2018). Becoming 'the Internationals'—how Place Shapes the Sense of Belonging and Group Formation of High-Skilled Migrants. Journal of International Migration and Integration. 20. 10.1007/s12134-018-0608-7.

Policy Manual USCIS (2022). Chapter 4 - O-1 Beneficiaries. Retrieved from https://www.uscis.gov/policy-manual/volume-2-part-m-chapter-4#footnote-16. Access on 01/26/2022.

Poster, Winifred R. "Introduction: Digitizing Borders, Cities, and Landscapes." Information & Culture 57.2 (2022): 111-122.

Qualtrics software. (2023). Version: XM 2023 of Qualtrics. Copyright ©. Qualtrics, Provo, UT, USA. https://www.qualtrics.com

R. Ramanathan, Multicriteria Analysis of Energy, Editor(s): Cutler J. Cleveland, Encyclopedia of Energy, Elsevier, 2004, Pages 77-88, ISBN 9780121764807, https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-176480-X/00240-0.

Rachel, Peric. (2023). Yes, welcoming is hard, but not impossible: a response to the crisis narrative of the migrant situation in the U.S. Welcoming America. Retrieved from https://welcomingamerica.org/news/yes-welcoming-is-hard-but-not-impossible-a-response-to-the-crisis-narrative-of-the-migrant-situation-in-the-u-s/. Accessed 5 Feb. 2024.

Rahim, R., et al. 2018. TOPSIS Method Application for Decision Support System in Internal Control for Selecting Best Employees. J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 1028 012052.

Rao, R.V. (2004). Evaluation of metal stamping layouts using an analytic hierarchy process method. J Mater Process Technol 2004, 152.

Rho, D. and Sanders, S. (2021). Immigrant Earnings Assimilation in the United States: A Panel Analysis. Journal of Labor Economics, 39:1, 37-78.

Rinne, U. (2012). The Evaluation of Immigration Policies, Discussion Paper No. 6369. The Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA), Germany.

Roach, M. and Skrentny, J. (2019). Why foreign STEM PhDs are unlikely to work for US technology startups. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 116. 201820079. 10.1073/pnas.1820079116.

Ruiz, N. G., and Budiman, A. (2018). Number of Foreign College Students Staying and Working in U.S. After Graduation Surges. Pew Research Center, May, 2018. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2018/05/10/number-of-foreigncollege-students-staying-and-working-in-u-s-after-graduation-surges. Access: February 24th 2022.

Ruiz, N.G. (2014). The Geography of Foreign Students in U.S. Higher Education: Origins and Destinations. Brookings, Series: Immigration Facts Series. Retrieved from: https://www.brookings.edu/interactives/the-geography-of-foreign-students-in-u-s-highereducation-origins-and-destinations. Access: February 24th, 2022.

Ruiz, N.G. (2017). Key facts about the U.S. H-1B visa program. Pew Research Center. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/04/27/key-factsabout-the-u-s-h-1b-visa-program. Access: February 24th, 2022.

Ruyssen, Ilse & Standaert, Samuel & Rayp, Glenn. (2017). Measuring and Explaining Cross-Country Immigration Policies. World Development. 95. 141-. 10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.02.026.

Saaty, T.L. (1980) The Analytic Hierarchy Process: Planning, Priority Setting, Resource Allocation, McGraw-Hill International, New York; 1-287.

Sahay, A. (2006). Brain Drain or Gain: Migration of Knowledge Workers From India to the United States. Doctor of Philosophy (PhD), Dissertation, International Studies, Old Dominion University, DOI: 10.25777/2rb1-ws63.

https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/gpis_etds/91.

Salkind, N. J. (2010). Encyclopedia of research design (Vols. 1-0). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc. doi: 10.4135/9781412961288.

Sari Pekkala Kerr and William R. Kerr, Immigration Policy Levers for U.S. Innovation and Startups, NBER Working Paper 27040, April 2020. Schaeffer, R. (1998). Globalization and Its Discontents: Essays on the New Mobility of People and Money. By Saskia Sassen. New Press. 253 pp, Social Forces, Volume 77, Issue 3, March 1999, Pages 1197–1198, https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/77.3.1197.

Schumacher GE. Multiattribute evaluation in formulary decision making as applied to calcium-channel blockers. Am J Hosp Pharm. 1991 Feb;48(2):301-8. PMID: 2003506.

Shaygan, A., and Daim, T. (2019). Technology Management Maturity Assessment Model: An Exploratory Multi-Criteria Approach for Healthcare Organizations, 2019 Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET), pp. 1-9, doi: 10.23919/PICMET.2019.8893755.

Sheikh, N. J, (2013). Assessment of Solar Photovoltaic Technologies Using Multiple Perspectives and Hierarchical Decision Modeling. Dissertations and Theses. Paper 978.

Simon, M., Schwartz, C., Hudson, D., and Johnson, S.D. (2018). A data-driven computational model on the effects of immigration policies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 115(34):E7914-E7923. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1800373115.

Simpson, N. (2022). Demographic and economic determinants of migration. IZA World of Labor 2022: 373 doi: 10.15185/izawol.373.v2

Sridharan, M. (2022). Gap Analysis: What is it and how to conduct one? Think Insights. Retrieved from https://thinkinsights.net/consulting/gap-analysis.

Srivastava, B. (2018). International cooperation to manage high-skill migration: The care of India-U.S. relations. American Economic Association Conference.

Stephen Gelb, Aarti Krishnan. (2018). Technology, migration and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. ODI. Retrieved from https://odi.org/en/publications/technology-migration-and-the-2030-agenda-for-

sustainable-development/

Stiftung, B. (2019). Migration Policy Debates. OECD. How do OECD countries compare in their attractiveness for talented migrants? N°19 May 2019. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/els/mig/migration-policy-debates-19.pdf

Stuart Anderson. (20110. Waiting and More Waiting: America's Family and Employment-Based Immigration System, National Foundation for American Policy, October 4, 2011.

Syed, J. (2008). Employment prospects for skilled migrants: A relational perspective. Human Resource Management Review, 18(1), 28–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HRMR.2007.12.001.

Tani, M. (2014). Using a point system for selecting immigrants. IZA World of Labor 2014: 24 doi: 10.15185/izawol.24.

Thabane, L., Mbuagbaw, L., Zhang, S. et al. A tutorial on sensitivity analyses in clinical trials: the what, why, when and how. BMC Med Res Methodol 13, 92 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-13-92.

Thakkar, J.J. (2021). Analytic Network Process (ANP). In: Multi-Criteria Decision Making. Studies in Systems, Decision and Control, vol 336. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-33-4745-8 4

The Federal Government Germany. (2022). Information on the Skilled Immigration Act. Retrieved from https://www.make-it-in-germany.com/en/visaresidence/skilled-immigration-act.

The National Science Foundation, (2018). NSF Proposal Evaluation Criteria: http://www.nsf.gov/bfa/dias/policy/merit_review/

The White House. (2021). Fact Sheet: President Biden Sends Immigration Bill to Congress as Part of His Commitment to Modernize our Immigration System. Retrieved from https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/01/20/fact-sheet-president-biden-sends-immigration-bill-to-congress-as-part-of-his-commitment-to-modernize-our-immigration-system/. Accessed 5 Feb. 2024.

The White House. (2022). Fact Sheet: CHIPS and Science Act Will Lower Costs, Create Jobs, Strengthen Supply Chains, and Counter China. Retrieved from https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/08/09/fact-sheetchips-and-science-act-will-lower-costs-create-jobs-strengthen-supply-chains-andcounter-china/. Accessed 5 Feb. 2024. The White House. (2023). Fact Sheet: President Biden Issues Executive Order on Safe, Secure, and Trustworthy Artificial Intelligence. Retrieved from https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2023/10/30/fact-sheet-president-biden-issues-executive-order-on-safe-secure-and-trustworthy-artificial-intelligence/. Accessed 5 Feb. 2024.

Thomas, D. S. (1938). Research Memorandum on Migration Differentials (New York: Social Science Research Council, Bulletin 43).

Tippel, C., Plöger, J. and Becker, A. (2017). I don't care about the city': the role of connections in job-related mobility decisions of skilled professionals. Regional Studies, Regional Science, 4:1, 94-108, DOI: 10.1080/21681376.2017.1315611.

Todaro, M. P. (1969). A Model of Labor Migration and Urban Unemployment in Less Developed Countries. The American Economic Review, 59(1), 138–148. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1811100.

Toom, K. (2018). Chapter 10 - Indicators, Editor(s): Jan Andersen, Kristel Toom, Susi Poli, Pamela F. Miller, Research Management, Academic Press, Pages 213-230, ISBN 9780128050590.

Tran, LT, Knight, CG, O'neill, RV and Smith, ER. Integrated environmental assessment of the mid-Atlantic region with analytical network process. Environ Monit Assess 2004, 94(1–3): 263–77.

Tranfield, D., Denyer, D., & Smart, P. (2003). Towards a Methodology for Developing Evidence-Informed Management Knowledge by Means of Systematic Review. British Journal of Management, 4(3):207-222. DOI: 10.1111/1467-8551.00375. Tuğrul Daim, Marina Dabić, Nuri Başoğlu, João Ricardo Lavoie, Brian J. Galli. (2019). R&D Management in the Knowledge Era: Challenges of Emerging Technologies Innovation, Technology, and Knowledge Management. Publisher: Springer International Publishing.

Turner, P.S. (2022), High-Skilled Immigration and the Labor Market: Evidence from the H-1B Visa Program. J. Pol. Anal. Manage., 41: 92-130 https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.22347. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2023). Occupational Outlook Handbook. https://www.bls.gov/ooh/computer-and-information-technology/information-securityanalysts.htm.

U.S. Department of Homeland Security. (2020). Review of CBP's Major Cybersecurity Incident during a 2019 Biometric Pilot. Retrieved from https://www.oig.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/assets/2020-09/OIG-20-71-Sep20.pdf.

U.S. Department of Homeland Security. (2023). Executive Order on Improving the Nation's Cybersecurity. Retrieved from https://www.cisa.gov/topics/cybersecurity-best-practices/executive-order-improving-nations-cybersecurity.

U.S. DEPARTMENT of STATE — BUREAU of CONSULAR AFFAIRS. (2024). What is a U.S. Visa? Retrieved from https://travel.state.gov/content/travel/en/usvisas/visa-information-resources/frequently-asked-questions/what-is-us-visa.html. Accessed on 01/31/2024.

U.S. Government Accountability Office. (2007). USCIS Transformation. Retrieved from https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-07-1013r.pdf.

United Nations. (2013), International migration policies: Government views and priorities, Statistical Papers. United Nations (Ser. A), Population and Vital Statistics Report, UN, New York, https://doi.org/10.18356/4eb7dd8a-en.

US Department of Homeland Security. (2019). Annual report 2019. Retrieved from https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/cisomb/cisomb_2019-annual-report-to-congress.pdf.

USCIS. (2019). USCIS Accelerates Transition to Digital Immigration Processing. Retrived from https://www.uscis.gov/archive/uscis-accelerates-transition-to-digitalimmigration-processing.

USCIS. (2020). Green Card for Employment-Based Immigrants. Retrieved from https://www.uscis.gov/green-card/green-card-eligibility/green-card-for-employment-based-immigrants. Access on 1/24/2021.

USCIS. (2021). Retrieved from https://www.uscis.gov/working-in-the-unitedstates/temporary-nonimmigrant-workers. Access on 11/01/2021. USCIS. (2022 a). H-1B Specialty Occupations, DOD Cooperative Research and Development Project Workers, and Fashion Models. Retrieved from https://www.uscis.gov/working-in-the-united-states/h-1b-specialty-occupations.

USCIS. (2022 b). Nonimmigrant Pathways for STEM Employment in the United States. Retrieved from https://www.uscis.gov/working-in-the-united-states/stem-employment-pathways/nonimmigrant-pathways-for-stem-employment-in-the-united-states. Access on 02/08/2023.

USCIS. (2022 c). USCIS Announces New Actions to Reduce Backlogs, Expand Premium Processing, and Provide Relief to Work Permit Holders. Retrieved from https://www.uscis.gov/newsroom/news-releases/uscis-announces-new-actions-to-reducebacklogs-expand-premium-processing-and-provide-relief-to-work.

USCIS. (2023a). STRATEGIC PLAN FYs 2023-2026. Retrieved from https://www.uscis.gov/sites/default/files/document/reports/StrategicPlanFY23.pdf

USCIS. (2023b). Updates Policy Guidance for International Students. Retrieved from https://www.uscis.gov/newsroom/alerts/uscis-updates-policy-guidance-for-international-students. Accessed 6 Feb. 2024.

USCIS. (2024). USCIS Issues Final Rule to Adjust Certain Immigration and Naturalization Fees. Retrieved from https://www.uscis.gov/newsroom/newsreleases/uscis-issues-final-rule-to-adjust-certain-immigration-and-naturalization-fees. Accessed 6 Feb. 2024.

Van Eck N. J., Waltman L. (2010) ' Software Survey: VOSviewer, a Computer Program for Bibliometric Mapping', Scientometrics , 84/2: 523–38 Wadycki, W. J. (1975). Stouffer's Model of Migration: A Comparison of Interstate and Metropolitan Flows." Demography 12, no. 1: 121–28. https://doi.org/10.2307/2060737.

Walsh, P.W. (2021). The UK's 2021 points-based immigration system. Migration Observatory policy primer, COMPAS, University of Oxford.

Weinar A., Klekowski von Koppenfels. (2020a). The State and the Highly Skilled Immigrant, Highly-Skilled Migration: Between Settlement and Mobility. IMISCOE Research Series.Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-42204-2_3.

Weinar, A., Klekowski von Koppenfels. (2020b). Highly Skilled Migration:
Concept and Definitions. In: Highly-Skilled Migration: Between Settlement and Mobility
IMISCOE Research Series. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-422042 2. World Development Sustainability, Volume 1, 100003, ISSN 2772-655X.

Welcoming America. (2024). Certified Welcoming program. Retrieved from https://welcomingamerica.org/initiatives/certified-welcoming/. Accessed 6 Feb. 2024.

Whetton S., and Cebulla, A. (2017). The Potential Benefits of Reforming Migration Policies to Address South Australia's Needs. Adelaide, Australia: South Australian Centre for Economic Studies.

White, M. J., and Inku, S. (2008). The demography of China and India: Effects on Migration to High-Income Countries through 2030. Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute.

William Alan Reinsch, Thibault Denamiel. (2023). Immigration Policy's Role in Bolstering the U.S. Technology Edge. Center for Strategic and International Studies. Retrieved from https://www.csis.org/analysis/immigration-policys-role-bolstering-ustechnology-edge.

WIPO (2021). World Intellectual Property Indicators 2021. Geneva: World Intellectual Property Organization.

https://www.wipo.int/global_innovation_index/en/2021.

https://www.wipo.int/publications/en/series/index.jsp?id=129.

World Bank. (2018). Moving for Prosperity. World Bank Publications - Books, The World Bank Group, number 29806. Policy Research Report. World Bank, Washington, DC. Available at

https://www.worldbank.org/en/research/publication/moving-for-prosperity.

World Population Review. (2024). Immigration by Country 2024. https://worldpopulationreview.com/country-rankings/immigration-by-country.

Wright, R. and Ellis, M. (2019). Where science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) graduates move: Human capital, employment patterns, and interstate migration in the United States. Popul Space Place, 25:e2224. https://doi.org/10.1002/psp.2224. Xu, P., Garand, J. C., & Zhu, L. (2016). Imported Inequality? Immigration and Income Inequality in the American States. State Politics & Policy Quarterly, 16(2), 147– 171. https://doi.org/10.1177/1532440015603814.

Xu, Rui. (2016). High- skilled Migration and Global Innovation. SIEPR Discussion Paper no. 16-016, Stanford Institute for Economic Policy Research, Stanford University. https://siepr.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/publications/16-016.pdf.

Xu, S. (2017). Skilled Labor Supply and Corporate Investment: Evidence from the H-1B Visa Program. Microeconomics: Intertemporal Firm Choice & Growth.

Yale-Loehr, S. W., and Eason, M. (2020). Recruiting for the Future: A Realistic Road to a Points-Tested Visa Program in the United States. Cornell Law Faculty Publications. 1733. https://scholarship.law.cornell.edu/facpub/1733.

Yale-Loehr, S., Johnson, R. K., Cardinal Brown, T., and Kamasak, C. (2023). Immigration Reform: A Path Forward. Retrieved from https://www.lawschool.cornell.edu/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/Cornell-immigration-

white-paper-10-5-23.pdf. Accessed 5 Feb. 2024.

Yeaple, S. R. (2018). Chapter Title: The Innovation Activities of Multinational Enterprises and the Demand for Skilled-Worker, Nonimmigrant Visas. pp. 41 – 69. http://www.nber.org/chapters/c13844. DOI: 10.1257/mac.2.2.31.

Yogesh K. Dwivedi, Anuj Sharma, Nripendra P. Rana, Mihalis Giannakis, Pooja Goel, Vincent Dutot. (2023). Evolution of artificial intelligence research in Technological Forecasting and Social Change: Research topics, trends, and future directions, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, Volume 192, 122579, ISSN 0040-1625, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2023.122579.

Zare S, Shirvan HE, Hemmatjo R, Faridan M, Hajghani M, Dehaghi BF. Using the Analytic Network Process Method for Prioritizing and Weighing Shift Work Disorders Among the Personnel of Hospitals of Kerman University of Medical Sciences. J Circadian Rhythms. 2018 Oct 4;16:10. doi: 10.5334/jcr.163.

Zients, J. (2014). Taking Action to Attract High-Skilled Immigrants, Graduates, and Entrepreneurs. The White House Archives.

https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2014/11/25/taking-action-attract-high-skilled-immigrants-graduates-and-entrepreneurs.

Zoe Lofgren. (2021). Let Immigrants Kickstart Employment or LIKE Act (H.R. 4681) from the 117th Congress.

Zoom Video Communications Inc. (2023). Zoom® software: Version 5.15.10.

Appendix A. Invitation to Participate as an Expert in Doctoral Dissertation

Dear Expert

My name is Angel Contreras Cruz, a Ph.D. candidate in the Department of Engineering and Technology Management at Portland State University, researching the "*Evaluation of Immigration Policies for Technology Professionals in the United States*." The research objective is to propose a hierarchical decision model to evaluate immigration policies for technology professionals to boost economic growth and innovation. The model has five criteria ((Technological, Regulatory Landscape, Economic, Guidelines (Political Interpretation and Proposals after the validation), and Social)) plus twenty-one sub-criteria, and five alternatives.

Please accept this invitation to collaborate on the research mentioned above. Your background and expertise will bring excellent outcomes to this study. Upon accepting this invitation to participate as an expert, the researcher will share online form links to provide your judgment for this study.

The expected time commitment to participate in this study is estimated below:

- 1. Validation of *Model's Criteria*: Qualtrics® survey software 10 minutes
- 2. Validation of *Model's Sub-Criteria*: Qualtrics® survey software 10 minutes
- 4. Quantification of *Model's Criteria:* HDM software 15 minutes
- 5. Quantification of *Model's Sub-Criteria*: HDM software from 15 to 25 minutes

Looking forward to hearing from you! Angel Contreras Cruz Ph.D. Candidate Department of Engineering and Technology Management | Portland State University E: <u>acontre2@pdx.edu | </u>C: +1(971) 277 – 8101

Appendix B. Invitation Letter to Validate the Model Criteria

Dear Expert:

Thanks for accepting the request to serve as a subject matter expert to evaluate the research model titled "*Evaluation of Immigration Policies for Technology Professionals in the United States.*" The research objective is to propose a hierarchical decision model to evaluate immigration policies for technology professionals to boost economic growth and innovation using a Hierarchical Decision Modeling (HDM) methodology. The model has five criteria ((Technological, Regulatory Landscape, Economic, Guidelines (Political Interpretation and Proposals after the validation), and Social)). The model will evaluate the status quo of the immigration policies available for technology professional immigrants in the United States.

The first step is to validate the criteria that impact technology professional immigrants in the United States. After conducting an extensive literature review, the five Criteria were identified.

> Please click on the following link to access the form: https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_6SGKAttKqkhliLQ

After clicking on the link, kindly follow the instructions and provide your evaluation. Please fill out the form no later than (one week). The following steps will be sent to you later.

Please feel free to ask any questions or concerns by email or by phone.

Thanks in advance, Looking forward to hearing from you! Angel Contreras Cruz Ph.D. Candidate Department of Engineering and Technology Management | Portland State University E: <u>acontre2@pdx.edu | C</u>: +1(971) 277 – 8101

Objective and Criteria Levels:

The research objective is to "Develop an immigration policy framework that can be used for policymakers to create or upgrade U.S. immigration policies to attract, select, and retain technology professional immigrants by using a Hierarchical Decision Modeling (HDM)." The model has five criteria: Technological, Regulatory Landscape, Economic, Guidelines (Political Interpretation and Proposals after the validation), and Social. The model will evaluate the current immigration policies available for technology professional immigrants in the United States.



Description of the Criteria:

- The Technological criteria encompass the management, processing, and authorization of applications of technology professional immigrants by upgrading technological capabilities that the U.S. Government is responsible for managing through the United States Citizenship and Immigration Services agency. By upgrading these capabilities, the U.S. Government will be able to improve the process of the applications of technology to professional immigrants ((Deming Policy, 2015; Hunt and Gauthier-Loiselle, 2010; Parey et al., 2017; USCIS, 2019; USCIS, 2022).
- The Regulatory Landscape criteria set the ground for attracting, selecting, and retaining technology professional immigrants in the United States. It also ensures that technology-skilled immigrants have the same rights as U.S. citizens but also the opportunity to extend their stay or obtain permanent residence (Deming

Policy, 2015; Hunt and Gauthier-Loiselle, 2010; Parey et al., 2017; USCIS, 2019; USCIS, 2022).

- The Economic criteria incorporate micro and macroeconomic aspects to benefit the U. S economy through the contributions of technology professional immigrants. The suggested economic benefits for the U.S. economy are fees, taxes, and the financial value of the innovations made by technology professional immigrants (Deming Policy, 2015; USCIS, 2019; USCIS, 2012; Ferrucci, 2020; Kandel, 2020; Yale-Loehr and Eason, 2020; Czaika and Parsons, 2016; Simon et al., 2018; Melo et al, 2014; Ruyssen et al., 2017; Schotel, 2012; Duncan and Waldorf, 2010).
- The Political Interpretation and Proposal criteria define priority proposals to eliminate/reduce current immigration issues for technology professionals. It helps to identify the best profiles of technology professional immigrants who are willing to relocate to the United States with a lesser number of barriers (USCIS, 2019; USCIS, 2022; Yale-Loehr and Eason, 2020; Czaika and Parsons, 2016; Simon et al., 2018; Melo et al., 2014; Ruyssen et al., 2017; Schotel, 2012; Duncan and Waldorf, 2010).
- Finally, the Social criteria help build community support for technology professionals with their relocation process to the United States. It ensures that technology professional immigrants have access to settlement policies to ease the adaptation to a new culture and increase the likelihood of positive contributions to the U.S. economy (Ferruci et al., 2020; Kandel, 2020; Yale-Loehr and Eason, 2020; Czaika and Parsons, 2016; Simon et al., 2018; USCIS 2019; Melo et al., 2014; Ruyssen et al., 2017; Schotel, 2012; Duncan and Waldorf, 2010)

Appendix C. Invitation Letter to Validate the Model Sub-Criteria

Dear Expert:

Thanks for participating in the first step of validating the Model Criteria. The second step is to validate the Model Sub-Criteria that contribute to the goal of the research "Evaluation of Immigration Policies for Technology Professionals in the United States." Twenty-one sub-criteria were identified from the literature review under five criteria. Kindly click on the following link to access the form:

Technological Sub - Criteria

https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_eQZUItPZLZiMh7g Regulatory Landscape Sub - Criteria https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_4IMvwRTL4dRwp2S Economic Sub - Criteria https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_b8zw5JPnnsF99cO Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub - Criteria https://portlandstate.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_6o0ZY5UZLpXZDjE Social Sub - Criteria

After clicking on the link, kindly follow the instructions and provide your evaluation. Please fill out the form no later than (one week). The following steps will be sent to you later. Please feel free to ask any questions or concerns by email or by phone.

Thanks in advance,

Looking forward to hearing from you! Angel Contreras Cruz Ph.D. Candidate Department of Engineering and Technology Management | Portland State University E: <u>acontre2@pdx.edu | </u>C: +1(971) 277 – 8101

Explanation of the Model's Sub-Criteria

Preliminary Model:

The research objective is "Developing an immigration policy framework that can be used for policymakers to create or upgrade U.S. immigration policies to attract, select, and retain technology professional immigrants by using a Hierarchical Decision Modeling (HDM)."



Initial Hierarchical Decision Model Based on Literature Review

Criteria	Sub-criteria	Definitions for Model	References
			(USCIS, 2019; USCIS;
	Improving	Ensure compliance of	2022; CRS, 2018;
	Technological	applications with	Reinsch and Denamiel,
	Capabilities	government regulations.	2023; Gelb and Krishnan,
			2018; Zielinski, 2020)
			(U.S. Government
Technological			Accountability Office.
	Digital Transformation	A applarate the application	(2007; Hunt and
	of Application	Accelerate the application	Gauthier-Loiselle, 2010;
	Drocossos	transformation stratagies	US Department of
	FIOCESSES	transformation strategies.	Homeland Security, 2019;
			USCIS, 2019; USCIS,
			2022)

	Increase Security Features for Applicants	Improve the security features of online applications, physical applications, and checkpoint entrees.	(USCIS, 2019; U.S. Department of Homeland Security, 2020; Department of Homeland Security, 2023; Buresh, 2021; Poster, 2022)
	Labor Conditions	Design of policies to ensure the labor conditions of technology professional immigrants match those of native workers.	(Perez, 2015; Macaluso, 2022; Romer, 1990; Czaika and De Haas, 2013)
	Fluctuation of Caps/Limits	Economic growth and labor market conditions will determine the cap of LPR cards/visas available each fiscal year for technology professional immigrants.	(Borjas et al., 2019; Kerr and Kerr, 2020; Kandel et al., 2022)
Regulatory Landscape	Adapt Industry Necessities	Agile bureaucracy will update regulatory instruments to align the objectives of industry necessities.	(Aydemir, 2020; Borjas, 2000; Yeaple, 2018: Kandel et al., 2022)
	Ease Lawful Permanente Resident Status (LPR)	Ease of the partway to LPR of technology professional individuals, STEM professionals, Ph.Ds. Graduated from U.S. universities who have lived/worked at least five years in the U.S.	(Anderson, 2011; Kandel et al., 2022)
	Raising and Balance Immigration Levels	Immigration of technology professionals will increment annually and redistribute the per-country ceiling (7% per country).	(Born, 2019; Kandel et al., 2022)
	Fee Applications	Visa fees and costs for education and employment authorizations.	(Kandel et al., 2022; Simpson, 2022; Moynihan et al., 2022)
Economic	Competitive Wages	The differential income between the home country and the host country.	(Moynihan et al., 2022; Anderson, 2021; Papademetriou et al., 2009)
	Value of Contributions	Define the value of contributions of technology professional immigration	(Kandel et al., 2022; Blau and Mackie, 2017; Hanson and Slaughter,

		towards innovation, U.S.	2016; Burchardi et al.,
		economic growth, and the	2020)
		labor market.	
		Define the level of	
		participation of technology	
	Actively Engagement	professional immigration to	(Hiebert, 2019; CRS,
	Actively Engagement	measure the value of	2021)
		economic/knowledge	
		contribution.	
		Yearly adjustment of	
	Adjust Immigration	technology professional	(Hawthorne, 2014;
	Targets Based on	immigration targets to meet	Kandel et al., 2022;
	Economic Demands	the country's economic	Lofgren, 2021)
		demands.	
		Make the eligibility criteria	(Kandel et al., 2022;
	Increase Immigration	of technology professional	Anderson, 2021; Mation,
	Selectivity	immigrants more selective	2013, rapademetriou et
		for LPR cards/ visas.	al., 2019)
		There will be a combination	
	Hybrid System for Dual	of a point-based system and	[38, Kandel et al., 2022;
	Selection and	current U.S. employment-	Holtz-Eakin and Varas,
	Verification	based system to improve the	2019; Gest, 2020)
Guidelines		scores of labor demand.	
		Improve agencies' resources	
	Backlog Reduction	to reduce waiting time	(Kandel 2020; Kandel et
		because of administrative	al., 2022)
		processing.	
		Ensure the distribution of	(USCIS, 2022; Kandel
	Carda / Visas	LPR cards and employment-	2020, Kandel et al., 2022;
	Carus / visas		Bier, 2020)
		1	(Weinar and von
		Improve the ability of	Koppenfels, 2020;
	High Quality Education	institutions to offer	Connor and Ruiz, 2019;
	High-Quanty Education	specialized education to	Int. Labor Office, 2010;
		high-skilled immigrants.	Desjardins, 2019; Rho
			and Sanders, 2021
Social		Developing and continual	Papademetriou and
	High-Quality Training	improvement of skills	Sumption, 2013; Kerr et
		offered to high-skilled	alt., 2014; Zients, 2014;
		immigrants.	(Dame 2015
	Inonana Immigratica	Public support of the native	(Perez, 2015; Connor and Duiz, 2010;
		population toward high-	Weing and Klekowski
	Acceptance	skilled immigration.	weilia aliu Niekowski von Konnenfels 2020 a)
			von Koppenneis., 2020 a)

Appendix D. Invitation letter to Quantify the Model's Criteria

Dear Expert

Thanks for participating in the first two steps of the study. The third step is quantifying the Model Criteria using the HDM (Hierarchical Decision Model) software Version Beta 2.0 as the research instrument. The criteria quantification data will be collected using a pairwise comparison approach. The Engineering and Technology Management Department at Portland State University (PSU) developed the HDM software.

Kindly click the following link to access and follow the instructions to complete the task. Please fill it out before **(one week)**.

http://research1.etm.pdx.edu/hdm2/expert.aspx?id=b848040d550ed545/715b30b2e1afcbf2!A01

Please feel free to ask any questions or concerns by email or by phone.

Thanks in advance,

Looking forward to hearing from you!

Angel Contreras Cruz Ph.D. Candidate <u>Department of Engineering and Technology Management</u> Portland State University E: <u>acontre2@pdx.edu |</u> C: +1(971) 277 - 8101

Appendix E. Invitation letter to Quantify the Model's Sub-Criteria

Dear Expert

Thanks for participating in the first three steps of the study. The fourth and final step is quantifying the Model Sub-Criteria and Alternatives using the HDM (Hierarchical Decision Model) software Version Beta 2.0 as the research instrument. The sub-criteria quantification data will be collected using a pairwise comparison approach. The Engineering and Technology Management Department at Portland State University (PSU) developed the HDM software.

Kindly click the following link to access and follow the instructions to complete the task. Please fill it out before **(one week)**.

Technological
http://research1.etm.pdx.edu/hdm2/expert.aspx?id=b848040d550ed545/715b30b2e1afcbf2!B01C01C02C03C04
Regulatory Landscape
$\underline{http://research1.etm.pdx.edu/hdm2/expert.aspx?id=b848040d550ed545/715b30b2e1afcbf2!B02C04C05C06C07C08}$
<u>Economic</u>
$\underline{http://research1.etm.pdx.edu/hdm2/expert.aspx?id=b848040d550ed545/715b30b2e1afcbf2!B03C09C10C11C12C13}$
Political Interpretation and Proposals
http://research1.etm.pdx.edu/hdm2/expert.aspx?id=b848040d550ed545/715b30b2e1afcbf2!B04C14C15C16C17
<u>Social</u>
http://research1.etm.pdx.edu/hdm2/expert.aspx?id=b848040d550ed545/715b30b2e1afcbf2!B05C18C19C20C21edatabbbc21bbc21bbc21bbc21bbc21bbc21bbc21bbc

Please feel free to ask any questions or concerns by email or by phone.

Thanks in advance. Looking forward to hearing from you!

Angel Contreras Cruz

Ph.D. Candidate | Department of Engineering and Technology Management

Portland State University

E: <u>acontre2@pdx.edu |</u> C: +1(971) 277 - 8101

Appendix F. Model Validation and Quantification Assessment Tools

Appendix F1: Validation Tool for Criteria and Sub-Criteria Level

Restart Survey Place Bookmark	Tools 🗸 🔒	
Welcome to the	ne survey for <u>Criteria Validation</u> as pa	art of my research model.
Thank you for agreeing to take part in policies for technology profession 3 - 5 minutes to complete. I really app answers you provide will be kent in s	n this important survey validating the criter als in the United States. Considering ho preciate your time. Please, letting me know trict confidentiality. Please provide your no	ia for the model which evaluates immigration w valuable your time is; this survey should take w your name. I assure your name and all the me and click "Next —" to benin
	and connucling. Produce provide your he	
First Name		
Lood Marrie		
	0%	
		NEXT
	uniustina afti C. innoincetina antinina facilitatum andra	
e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e e click "No" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute consider there are other criteria, please add them in the space i have any comments, please add them in the space provided. identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profet to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technolog provided. Imigration policies for technology professionals.	ssionals. y professionals.
e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e click "No" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute consider there are other criteria, please add them in the space have any comments, please add them in the space provided. identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profe to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technolog provided. Immigration policies for technology professionals.	y professionals.
e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e click "No" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute consider there are other criteria, please add them in the space i have any comments, please add them in the space provided. identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in logical	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profe to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technolog provided. Immigration policies for technology professionals.	ssionals. y professionals.
e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e click "No" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute consider there are other criteria, please add them in the space j have any comments, please add them in the space provided. identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in ogical ory Landscape	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profe to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technology provided. Yes	ssionals. y professionals.
e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e click "No" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute consider there are other criteria, piease add them in the space, have any comments, piease add them in the space provided. identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in logical tory Landscape nical	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profession of U.S. immigration policies for technology provided.	ssionals. y professionals.
e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute consider there are other criteria, please add them in the space have any comments, please add them in the space provided. identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in logical tory Landscape ese (Political Interpretation and Proposals)	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profes to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technolog provided. migration policies for technology professionals. Yes O O O O O O O O O O O O O	ssionals. y professionals.
e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e click "No" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute consider there are other criteria please add them in the space; have any comments, please add them in the space provided. identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in ulogical tory Landscape mical nes (Political Interpretation and Proposals)	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profes to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technology provided. Yes Yes Se note below:	ssionals. y professionals.
e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e click "No" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute consider there are other criteria please add them in the space have any comments, please add them in the space provided. identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in logical tory Landscape mical ness (Political Interpretation and Proposals)	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profes to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technology provided.	ssionals. y professionals.
e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e e click "No" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute consider there are other criteria please add them in the space have any comments, please add them in the space provided. identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in logical tory Landscape mical ness (Political Interpretation and Proposals)	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profes to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technolog provided.	ssionals. y professionals.
e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e e click "No" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute consider there are other criteria please add them in the space have any comments, please add them in the space provided. identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in logical tory Landscape mical ness (Political Interpretation and Proposals)	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profes to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technolog provided.	ssionals. y professionals.
e click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e e click "Ne" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute consider there are other criteria please add them in the space have any comments, please add them in the space provided. identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in integring the criteria that contribute to the evaluation of U.S. in integring the criteria that contribute to the evaluation of U.S. in integring the criteria that contribute to the evaluation of U.S. in integring the criteria that contribute to the evaluation of U.S. in integring the criteria that contribute to the evaluation of U.S. in integring the criteria that contribute to the evaluation of U.S. in integring the criteria that contribute to the evaluation of U.S. in integring the criteria that contribute to the evaluation of U.S. in hink there are additional criteria that need to be considered plea hink there are additional comments please note below:	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profes to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technolog provided. migration policies for technology professionals. Yes Second Second Sec	ssionals. y professionals.
se click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e se click "No" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute u consider there are other criteria, please add them in the space in have any comments, please add them in the space provided. e identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in nological latory Landscape omical lines (Political Interpretation and Proposals) if think there are additional criteria that need to be considered pleas think there are additional comments please note below:	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profes to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technology provided.	ssionals. y professionals.
see click "Yes" if you think the specific criteria contributes to the e see click "No" if you think the specific criteria does not contribute u consider there are other criteria, please add them in the space u have any comments, please add them in the space provided. see identify the criteria that contribute to to the evaluation of U.S. in nological latory Landscape omical lines (Political Interpretation and Proposals) ul think there are additional criteria that need to be considered please think there are additional comments please note below:	valuation of U.S. immigration policies for technology profest to the evaluation of U.S. immigration policies for technolog provided.	ssionals. y professionals.



Appendix F2: Quantification Tool for Criteria Level



Appendix F3: Quantification Tool for Technological Sub-Criteria


Appendix F4: Quantification Tool for Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria



Appendix F5: Quantification Tool for Economic Sub-Criteria



Appendix F6: Quantification Tool for Political Interpretation & Proposals Sub-Criteria



Appendix F7: Quantification Tool for Social Sub-Criteria



Appendix F8: Quantification Tool for Assessing Alternatives

Appendix G: Model Validation Results



Appendix G1: Validation of Criteria Level

According to the experts, all five criteria were appropriate for assessing U.S. immigration policies. The five criteria exceeded the minimum threshold of 66.6 % to be included in the model. The approval percentage of the five criteria is as follows: Technological - 92.9 %, Regulatory Landscape - 96.4 %, Economic - 85.7 %, Political Interpretation & Proposals - 82.1 %, Social - 89.3 %. Additionally, the researcher carefully reviewed the expert feedback, and action items were developed from it.

Feedback from experts	Action Item from the feedback
Education.	No action item – Education is already one of the
	Social Sub-Criteria.
Political: mobilization of support for technology	No action item – this feedback falls into the
professionals among important stakeholder groups	category of one of the alternatives - Permanent
who regard their presence as beneficial, productive,	Residence card – EB-2 NIW.
in the national interest.	

Urgency of the positions and scarcity of the	No action item – this feedback falls into the
positions worldwide (and in the US).	research objective.
Additional criteria for Social: In my opinion, this	Action item - a new sub-criteria was added to the
should not be limited to IT professionals but their	social group called "Increase Immigration
spouses too. Many spouses of skilled immigrant	Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion."
workers leave their career behind to accompany	
their family here in the United States. They have to	
wait for their work authorization for a long time.	
Until they receive work authorization, they cannot	
work in the US. After receiving the document, the	
journey to financial independence and full filling	
career is not at all easy. They face many obstacles	
and have a hard time standing out in the job market	
due to career gap, lack of US experience and US	
education. I am passionate about being the voice of	
dependent spouses and build an inclusive	
community for them where they feel supported and	
have job search resources.	
National Security	Action item – This concept is added to the
	Technological Sub-Criteria "Increase National
	Security Features for Applicants"
Possible spillover effects on native workers. For	No action item – this research argues the opposite
example, some researchers and many politicians	
believe that more immigrants with scientific	
training/credentials lowers the economic reward for	
native students to obtain training or credentials.	
Not sure what this would fall under, but possibly the	Action item – This concept is added to the
amount of work or jobs available to such	Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria "Raising and
immigrants? Economical?	Balance Immigration Levels"
Goals, intentions, motivations of applicants for	No action item – The feedback falls into the
immigrant status.	category of the Social Sub-Criteria "Increase
	Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and
	Inclusion."

Perhaps "cultural issues" at a meso-level or	No action item – The feedback is out of scope of
"migrant personality" at a micro level. But both	this research
could increase the scope.	
Exceptional education, skills, or talents are	No action item – this feedback falls into the
evaluated as part of the criteria H-1B visas. H-2B	category of one of the alternatives – H1-B visas.
visas apply to people who do certain types of work	
that is in high demand, but U.S. citizens are not	
meeting.	
There is also a Political Landscape that is different	Action item – the Guidelines Criteria changed its
from the Regulatory Landscape. The political	name to Political Interpretation and Proposals.
landscape determines which laws get made, while	
the regulatory landscape involves the rules that are	
made to interpret the laws	
As we continue reviewing the framework, I will be	No action action – Thanks.
able to provide any additional comments, at this	
point it looks good.	
Love this topic!	No action action – Thanks.
I'm confused by the Guidelines how does this	Action item – the Guidelines Criteria changed its
differ from Regulatory? Are you referring to	name to Political Interpretation and Proposals.
government policies?	
Guidelines and Regulatory Landscape are closely	Action item - the Guidelines Criteria changed its
related. If I am understanding correctly,	name to Political Interpretation and Proposals.
Regulatory Landscape is focused on describing the	
current structure, barriers, and available solutions.	
Guidelines is focused on proposals that would	
change these for the future.	



Appendix G2: Validation of Technological Sub-Criteria

According to the experts, all three Technological sub-criteria were appropriate for the research. The three criteria exceeded the minimum threshold of 66.6 % to be included in the model. Additionally, the researcher carefully reviewed the expert feedback, and action items were developed from it.

Feedback from experts	Action Item from the feedback
Immigration CRM capacity for companies to	No action item – This feedback falls out of the
manage applicants' and employees' immigration	scope of this research since the proposed model is
status through to LPR.	for policymakers not companies.
Security features could include streamlining the	No action item – This feedback falls into the
application with blockchain identity and education	category of the "Digital Transformation of
tokens.	Application Process' Sub-Criteria.
Improving certifications and equivalencies of	No action item – This feedback falls into the
technological studies.	category of the Social - Criteria.
Increase opportunities for technological and	No action item – This feedback is out of the scope
scientific collaborations.	of this research.

Labor Market Requirement should be added as a	No action item – This feedback falls into the
criteria as it accurately reflects what skills are	category of the Regulatory Landscape - Criteria.
required to boost growth	
A method for ranking the subjects capabilities	No action item – This feedback falls into the
	category of the Political Interpretation and
	Proposal Criteria.
Security features typically means E-VERIFY,	No action item – This feedback falls into the
which isn't a big issue for technology professionals,	category of the "Increase Security Features for
but is a non-negligible investment for companies, as	Applicants" Sub-Criteria.
an example.	
A sine qua non part of this process should be	No action item – This feedback will be discussed
defining the skills that are higher priority such that	in more detail in the Conclusion section.
the tools also consider that in parallel with the	
subjects capabilities.	



Appendix G3: Validation of Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria

According to the experts, all five Regulatory Landscape sub-criteria were appropriate for the research. The three criteria exceeded the minimum threshold of 66.6 % to be included in the model. Additionally, the researcher carefully reviewed the expert feedback, and action items were developed from it.

Feedback from experts	Action Item from the feedback
I would add relevant temporary WORK VISAS to	No action item – This feedback falls into the
your framework. Example: H-1B for industry is	Alternatives category.
awful. L-1 is an alternative.	
Demographic growth.	No action item – This feedback will be discussed
	in the future research section.
On the permanent side, some things can be changed	No action item – This feedback will be discussed
by altering how immigrant visas are counted (not a	in more detail in the Conclusion section.
tech-exclusive fix, but a fix). Need to clarify how	
labor market/industry stuff would be calculated and	
how often for items $2/3$.	

Increase assimilation services, such as housing	No action item – This feedback falls into the
options.	Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and
	Inclusion sub-criteria.
Needs for certain technologies, national security	No action item – This feedback falls into the
economic interests.	Increase National Security Features
	for Applicants sub-criteria.
Did you consider the visa process itself?	No action item – This feedback falls into the
	Alternatives - category.
I am not clear on what Adapt industry necessities	No action item – See definition section.
means, or - "ease" LPR status?	
Your focus is LPR. What about the temporary	No action item – This feedback will be discussed
WORK VISAS often need to transition from F-1	in more detail in the Conclusion section.
STEM OPT prior to LPR?	
An awful lot of this would need to be changed by	No action item.
actual statute, not just regulation.	
None.	No action item.
What comes to mind for me in addition to all of this	No action item – This feedback is out of the scope
is the DV lottery option, or the implications of those	of this research.
who cannot obtain these visas / expiring (marrying	
for citizenship, E1 & E2 visas, etc.).	





According to the experts, all five Economic sub-criteria were appropriate for the research. The three criteria exceeded the minimum threshold of 66.6 % to be included in the model. Additionally, the researcher carefully reviewed the expert feedback, and action items were developed from it.

Feedback from experts	Action Item from the feedback
Developmental opportunity = promotion, more	No action item – This feedback falls into the
responsibility, higher wages, long-term perspective	Competitive Wages sub-criteria.
Societal engagement - Engagement of immigrants in	No action item – This feedback falls into the
furtherance of positive societal goals for the US. Eg.	Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity
volunteering, activism etc.	and Inclusion sub-criteria.
Many H1B visas are used by giant subcontracting	No action item – This feedback will be
firms. How should we think about the benefits of the	discussed in more detail in the Conclusion
workers supplied by these firms?	section.
Who determines "(1) when and (2) which" technology	No action item – This feedback will be
workers are needed (biomedical? Particle physics?	discussed in more detail in the Future Work
Green Tech?)	section.
Not all immigrant contributions are necessarily	No action item – This feedback will be
economic in nature. The ability to take immigrant	discussed in more detail in the Future Work
contribution to the arts, culture, age demographics	section.
should also be considered.	



Appendix G5: Validation of Political Interpretation & Proposals Sub-Criteria

According to the experts, all four Political Interpretation & Proposals sub-criteria were appropriate for the research. The three criteria exceeded the minimum threshold of 66.6 % to be included in the model. Additionally, the researcher carefully reviewed the expert feedback, and action items were developed from it.

Feedback from experts	Action Item from the feedback
Persistence = the probability that technology	No action item – This feedback will be discussed
professionals will stay in US working in their field.	in more detail in the Future Work section.
AI development.	No action item – This feedback falls into the
	Improving Technological Capabilities sub-criteria.
Not sure I understand this well enough to suggest.	No action item.
None.	No action item.
Whether immigration limits should be based on	No action item – This feedback falls into the
country of original and skill level; for example,	Upgrade type of selection system sub-criteria.
there could be a pay-to-play system, points system,	
or lottery.	

Be clear on whether decisions are being made based	No action item – This feedback will be discussed
on short or long term interest of country, employer,	in more detail in the Conclusion section.
or immigrant.	
It is unclear to me what the level immigration	No action item – See definition section.
selectivity criteria is, so I have left that blank	
I think we need to consider employer size in	No action item – This feedback will be discussed
distribution - appears with respect to H-1B cap	in more detail in the Conclusion section.
some large employers are filing so many lottery	
entries that their disadvantaging smaller tech	
employers (startups/mid-size), not to mention all	
non-tech. Reserving/redistributing visas to tech	
doesn't solve the current intra-tec industry problem.	
None	No action item.
I have very mixed feelings regarding a point system	This feedback falls into the Upgrade type of
as we see with places like Canada and the UK. I like	selection system sub-criteria.
the idea but it may not work for a country like the	
U.S.	
I am concerned that there is confusion between	The Guidelines sub-criteria changed its name to
"Guidelines" and Policies, and the "Regulatory	Political Interpretation & Proposals criteria.
Landscape. The Guidelines sub-criteria #'s 1,3 and	
4 are in fact regulatory.	



Appendix G6: Validation of Social Sub-Criteria

According to the experts, all four Social sub-criteria were appropriate for the research. The three criteria exceeded the minimum threshold of 66.6 % to be included in the model. Additionally, the researcher carefully reviewed the expert feedback, and action items were developed from it.

Feedback from experts	Action Item from the feedback
I would add training on Immigration Policies and	No action item – This feedback will be discussed
increasing awareness on those as well. Many	in more detail in the Future Work section.
immigrant students just do not know what pathways	
to work permits and permanent residency exists and	
how feasible they are to achieve based on their	
career choices and place of birth. If regulatory	
policies don't change, then students need to start	
building their profiles and careers early on to	
become eligible for more competitive work visa and	
residency programs.	

There are a whole host of other dimensions of	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created
immigrant inclusion and welcoming that would be	"Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and
helpful additions - our Welcoming Standard is one	Inclusion."
reference point, including elements like access to	
legal services, naturalization support; language	
access policy; and more broadly, a welcoming	
infrastructure in communities.	
https://welcomingamerica.org/wp-	
content/uploads/2023/04/Certified-Welcoming-	
guide-2023.pdf	
Increase the number of technology professionals	No action item – This feedback will be discussed
from under-represented countries.	in more detail in the Future Work section.
My assumption is high quality training means	No action item – see definitions.
providing them tools and resources to excel in their	
career as an immigrant.	
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be developed such that it brings and retains a pool of	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be developed such that it brings and retains a pool of professionals from different regions and countries	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion."
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be developed such that it brings and retains a pool of professionals from different regions and countries independent of their race, gender, religion, sexual	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion."
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be developed such that it brings and retains a pool of professionals from different regions and countries independent of their race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, age, etc.	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion."
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be developed such that it brings and retains a pool of professionals from different regions and countries independent of their race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, age, etc. Training and education of technology professionals	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion."
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be developed such that it brings and retains a pool of professionals from different regions and countries independent of their race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, age, etc. Training and education of technology professionals is crucial. If the US were to raise the minimum	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion." No action item – This feedback falls into the Competitive Wages sub-criteria.
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be developed such that it brings and retains a pool of professionals from different regions and countries independent of their race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, age, etc. Training and education of technology professionals is crucial. If the US were to raise the minimum salary, it would force firms that use H1B visas to	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion." No action item – This feedback falls into the Competitive Wages sub-criteria.
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be developed such that it brings and retains a pool of professionals from different regions and countries independent of their race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, age, etc. Training and education of technology professionals is crucial. If the US were to raise the minimum salary, it would force firms that use H1B visas to target immigrants with higher quality credentials.	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion." No action item – This feedback falls into the Competitive Wages sub-criteria.
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be developed such that it brings and retains a pool of professionals from different regions and countries independent of their race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, age, etc. Training and education of technology professionals is crucial. If the US were to raise the minimum salary, it would force firms that use H1B visas to target immigrants with higher quality credentials. Should that minimum be raised?	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion." No action item – This feedback falls into the Competitive Wages sub-criteria.
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be developed such that it brings and retains a pool of professionals from different regions and countries independent of their race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, age, etc. Training and education of technology professionals is crucial. If the US were to raise the minimum salary, it would force firms that use H1B visas to target immigrants with higher quality credentials. Should that minimum be raised? More diversity among technology professionals	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion." No action item – This feedback falls into the Competitive Wages sub-criteria. As a result, a new sub-criteria was created
career as an immigrant. Diversity and Inclusion - the policies should be developed such that it brings and retains a pool of professionals from different regions and countries independent of their race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, age, etc. Training and education of technology professionals is crucial. If the US were to raise the minimum salary, it would force firms that use H1B visas to target immigrants with higher quality credentials. Should that minimum be raised? More diversity among technology professionals would strengthen outcomes, especially as	As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and Inclusion." No action item – This feedback falls into the Competitive Wages sub-criteria. As a result, a new sub-criteria was created "Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity and

Appendix H: Pairwise Comparison Results

Expert	A:B	A:C	A:D	A:E	B:C	B:D	B:E	C:D	C:E	D:E
Expert 1	70	50	75	50	40	65	40	60	50	40
Expert 3	50	60	50	60	50	50	50	60	40	40
Expert 6	75	50	50	75	25	50	50	75	75	50
Expert 7	20	50	30	30	60	60	60	70	55	50
Expert 9	50	25	20	20	50	50	50	60	40	40
Expert 10	20	60	20	40	90	60	50	40	20	40
Expert 11	45	45	50	40	45	50	48	58	50	42
Expert 13	67	50	80	67	50	67	50	67	67	33
Expert 16	15	50	50	15	50	60	15	50	15	15
Expert 18	10	50	10	50	95	50	95	35	50	95
Expert 20	80	75	80	50	20	50	50	75	80	60
Expert 21	30	30	40	50	80	60	80	30	60	80
Expert 22	40	40	30	25	50	30	40	60	50	50
Expert 23	25	50	25	25	50	25	50	25	25	75
Expert 24	40	40	50	40	60	60	60	50	50	60
Expert 26	50	50	40	50	40	50	25	50	50	25
Expert 27	80	50	80	80	20	50	50	50	50	50
Expert 28	60	60	60	60	40	50	50	60	50	60
Expert 29	85	65	85	75	25	75	45	85	75	50
Expert 31	50	50	50	40	60	50	40	45	50	50
Expert 35	50	50	75	75	50	75	75	75	75	50
Expert 50	20	20	50	20	70	75	60	60	40	20
Expert 56	40	40	40	45	50	50	45	60	45	40

Appendix H1: Criteria Level Pairwise Comparisons

A: Technological

- B: Regulatory Landscape
- C: Economic
- D: Political Interpretation & Proposals
- E: Social

Expert	A:B	A:C	A:D
Expert 1	45	50	55
Expert 3	60	60	60
Expert 4	25	50	60
Expert 5	40	30	80
Expert 6	50	35	35
Expert 7	65	40	20
Expert 8	25	50	75
Expert 9	25	75	75
Expert 11	50	60	60
Expert 12	14	84	89
Expert 14	40	75	90
Expert 15	50	45	40
Expert 34	80	60	40

Appendix H2: Technological Sub-Criteria Pairwise Comparisons

- A: Improving Technological Capabilities
- B: Digital Transformation of Application Processes
- C: Increase National Security Features for Applicants

Expert	A:B	A:C	A:D	A:E	B:C	B:D	B:E	C:D	C:E	D:E
Expert 17	20	50	20	20	85	65	65	20	20	65
Expert 18	40	60	50	20	60	60	40	50	40	25
Expert 19	25	50	25	40	60	60	90	50	60	90
Expert 21	40	65	65	50	65	65	50	60	35	35
Expert 22	50	60	25	60	60	50	60	30	35	50
Expert 23	65	50	1	40	25	1	50	30	50	70
Expert 24	84	50	50	72	30	50	65	30	31	84
Expert 25	40	45	60	40	70	75	60	70	25	40
Expert 26	50	75	40	40	60	30	40	25	40	50
Expert 29	70	50	36	33	32	33	33	66	66	65
Expert 40	20	75	30	50	80	60	70	70	40	50

Appendix H3: Regulatory Landscape Sub-Criteria Pairwise Comparisons

- A: Labor Conditions
- B: Fluctuation of Caps/Limits
- C: Adapt Industry Necessities
- D: Ease Lawful Permanent Residence Status
- E: Raising and Balance Immigration Levels

Expert	A:B	A:C	A:D	A:E	B:C	B:D	B:E	C:D	C:E	D:E
Expert 1	16	20	16	14	45	47	45	50	50	50
Expert 7	50	35	35	35	35	35	35	50	50	50
Expert 27	35	61	57	39	67	66	30	60	68	37
Expert 29	32	41	44	47	58	63	67	66	71	62
Expert 31	50	50	52	50	50	50	50	50	49	44
Expert 32	10	10	10	10	50	50	30	50	40	50
Expert 34	60	80	80	80	60	75	80	50	60	60
Expert 35	75	80	80	50	80	80	80	80	80	80
Expert 36	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	90	10	10
Expert 37	20	50	20	20	80	70	50	65	70	65

Appendix H4: Economic Sub-Criteria Pairwise Comparisons

A: Fee Applications

B: Competitive wages and benefits

C: Value of contributions

D: Actively engagement

E: Adjust immigration targets based on economic demands

Expert	A:B	A:C	A:D	B:C	B:D	C:D
Expert 21	25	26	70	50	70	65
Expert 24	50	65	80	30	81	72
Expert 31	49	48	47	45	50	50
Expert 40	75	20	30	10	25	80
Expert 42	66	66	34	50	34	34
Expert 44	30	50	40	80	79	50
Expert 45	35	49	89	20	75	80
Expert 46	70	61	71	36	65	74
Expert 47	80	79	28	83	15	21
Expert 48	80	70	90	50	50	40
Expert 49	75	50	50	50	50	50
Expert 53	82	82	82	28	28	67

Appendix H5: Political Interpretation and Proposals Sub-Criteria Pairwise Comparisons

A: Making immigration selectivity more egalitarian

B: Hybrid system for dual selection and verification

C: Backlog reduction

D: Redistribution and recapture of LPR cards / visas

Expert	A:B	A:C	A:D	B:C	B:D	C:D
Expert 15	55	50	50	45	45	45
Expert 22	50	60	65	50	70	50
Expert 50	50	25	30	25	30	60
Expert 51	30	10	1	50	50	28
Expert 53	40	30	25	50	50	50
Expert 54	65	9	44	64	65	39
Expert 55	20	5	10	50	85	50
Expert 56	33	40	40	45	40	50
Expert 57	70	19	30	40	70	70
Expert 58	80	75	60	50	80	50
Expert 59	30	40	40	60	50	50
Expert 60	90	6	18	28	16	70

Appendix H6: Social Sub-Criteria Pairwise Comparisons

A: High-Quality Education

B: High-Quality Training and Salary

C: Increase Immigration Acceptance

D: Increase Immigration Welcoming, Diversity, and Inclusion

Appendix I. Process to Create the Hierarchical Decision Model

The model creation process using the HDM Software, Version: Beta 2.0, is described below. The HDM model in this research has four levels: level one corresponds to the research's objective, level two checks the five criteria identified in the literature review, and level three corresponds to the set of twenty-one sub-criteria also placed in the literature. Level four corresponds to the HDM alternatives.

Step 1. Sing up in the HDM software (<u>http://research1.etm.pdx.edu/</u>).

First Name	John		
Last Name	Smith		
Email: use	r@example.com		
Password:	8-10 characters		
Password:	Type password again		
Sign Up			
Sign Up		 	

Step 2. Click on "Create a New HDM Model."



Step 3. There are two ways to create the HDM model: (1) using an Excel file and (2) entering data manually. Either way works well. The number of levels and nodes the model will include must be selected. The model has four levels: five nodes in the second, twenty-one in the third, and five in the fourth. Each node represents one criterion in the second level, one sub-criteria in the third, and one alternative in the fourth. Once all levels are labeled, click "Generate the Model" to continue with model creation.

HDM (Hierarchical Decision Model)
There are 2 ways to create the HDM model: Using Excel file or Manually.
Click here to download the Excel template Click here to download the sample model
Please upload only xls format (NOT xlsxl): Choose File No file chosen Upload
Fill out the form below to create the HDM model manually: Title of the Model: Policy Development Tool to boost
Level-1 title: Mission Description (optional):
How many levels does the HDM have (2 to 10)? 4 •
How many nodes are there in the Second Level: 5 -
How many nodes are there in the Third Level: 19 -
How many nodes are there in the Fourth Level: 4
Generate the Model

Step 4. Level 2 is titled as "Criteria."

Step 5. Then, Level 3 is labeled as "Sub-criteria."

Step 6. The HDM software automatically links the Mission (Level 1) with the Criteria (Level 2) upon model generation. Then, the next step is to manually link the Criteria (Level 2) with the Sub-criteria (Level 3). Lastly, link the Sub-criteria (Level 3) with the Alternatives (Level 4).

Step 7. The HDM software highlights the notes that need to be linked in blue. The list of notes is displayed next to a check box. The researcher must link the notes and repeat this task until the whole model is linked.

Step 8. After linking the nodes, all turn blue, meaning the model is ready to share with experts.



Step 9. The HDM software can break down the criteria and sub-criteria since each expert has a specific area of knowledge. The researcher will send individual links to experts to share their judgment.

The quantification phase can be completed between ten to twelve weeks, depending on the experts' willingness. Along with a letter of invitation, the experts will receive an HDM link to give their judgment for each pair of nodes. The pairwise comparisons determine the contribution of the criteria, sub-criteria, and alternatives to the HDM mission.



Step 10. After collecting and cleaning the data, the researcher must organize the results according to the quantification provided by experts. The mean values determine the order of the criteria, sub-criteria, and alternatives concerning the mission. The inconsistency and disagreement values are acceptable if they are below the maximum acceptable threshold of 0.1.